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We are providing the following summary of the risk factors contained in this Annual Report. We encourage you to carefully review the full risk factors immediately following
this summary as well as the other information contained in this Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes. The occurrence of any of
the following risks, as well as any risks or uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently do not believe to be material, could materially and adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition, which may adversely affect the trading price of our Class A common stock. Summary of Risk Factors This summary
should be read in conjunction with the remainder of this “ Risk Factors ” section and should not be relied upon as an exhaustive summary of the material risks facing our
business. The occurrence of any of these risks could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and / or growth prospects or cause our actual results to differ
materially from those contained in forward- looking statements we have made in this Annual Report and those we may make from time to time. You should consider all of the
risk factors described in our public filings when evaluating our business. The following is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in the Company
speculative or risky: ¢ failure to further develop and-, maintain , and promete our brand; « changes in the retail landscape or the loss of key retail customers; * product
safety and quality concerns, including those relating to our plant- based sweetening system, which could negatively affect our business by exposing us to lawsuits,
product recalls or regulatory enforcement actions, increasing our operating costs and reducing demand for our product offerings; ¢ change in consumer preferences,
perception and spending habits, particularly due to impacts of inflation, in the commereial beverage industry and on zero sugar, ndtumlly SWi LLtLHLd produets and fculure to
develop or enrich our product offerings or gain market acceptance of our products, including new offerings; * p

y mmpetm\ ¢ industry eategories;+-ourhistory of fosses-and-potentiat

T ﬂuctuatlon in our net sales dnd earnings as a result of price

mtmduw new products or successmlly improve exmm; products; * inaccurate or mlsleadmg marketing clmms A hethel or not substantlared O loss of any registered
trademark or other intellectual property or actual or alleged of infring t of intellectual property rights;  our history of losses and potential inability to
achieve or maintain profitability; * failure to attract, hire, train or retain qualified personnel, manage our future growth effectively or maintain our company culture;
 the impact of adverse global macroeconomic conditions, including relatively high interest rates, recession fears and inflationary pressures, and geopolitical events or
conflicts ;  climate change, adverse weather conditions, natural disasters and other natural conditions; « difficulties and challenges associated with expansion into new markets;
« inability to obtain raw materials on a timely basis or in sufficient quantities to produce our products or meet the demand for our products due to reliance on a limited number of
third- party suppliers and trade tensions between the U. S. and China; * substantial disruption within our supply chain or distribution channels, including disruption at our
contract independent-third—party-manufaeturing-manufacturers , warehouse and distribution facilities +=eoneentration-in-, failure by our transportation providers to
facilitate on- time deliveries, eur—- or our own failure to accurately forecast eustomer-base-and-loss-efanylarge-eustomer—; * extensive governmental regulation and
enforcement if we are not in compliance with applicable requirements ;  changes in laws and regulations relating to beverage contamers and packaging as well as
marketing and labeling ; < dependence on distributions from Zevia LLC to pay any taxes and other expenses s-+-ehanges-inlaws-and+ f lm...s to-beverag iners
and-paekaging-; * impact from our status, duty and liability exposure as a public benefit corporation; * tes any-regt adema ~inteHeetual-property;an
inadequacy, failure, interruption or security breaches of our information technology systems and failure to Lomplv with data privacy and information seeunty law

regulations. » the impact of any future pandemics, epidemics, or other disease outbreaks on our business, results of operations and financial condition; Risks Relating to
Our Business, Our Industry and Macroeconomic Conditions If we fail to further develop aad-, maintain and premete our brand, our business could suffer. We believe our
continued success dcmnds on our ability to maintain and grow the value of the Zevia ® brand. Because our products are comprised of a handful of simple ingredients that are
readily available in the market and we do not depend on a particular flavor as we are continually reformulating and remodifying flavors, we are particularly dependent on
maintaining the success of our brand and reputation. Maintaining, promoting and positioning our brand and reputation will depend on, among other factors, the success of our
plant- based product offerings, food safety, quality assurance, marketing and merchandising efforts and our ability to provide a consistent, high- quality customer experience.
Any negative publicity, regardless of its accuracy, could materially adversely affect our business. Brand value is based on perceptions of subjective qualities, and any incident
that erodes the loyalty of our customers, suppliers or manufacturers, including adverse publicity or a governmental investigation or litigation, could significantly reduce the
value of our brand and significantly damage our business. Furthermore, as existing ecommerce and media platforms continue to rapidly evolve and new platforms develop, we
must continue to maintain a presence on these platforms and establish presences on new or emerging platforms to maintain our brand. If we are unable to cost- effectively use
these pldtfouns as mdlketmg tools our dblllty to mdmtdm and dcqmre consumer: and our operdtlons could su‘rfel The commercmlWe—eexﬂd—b&ﬂd-versei-y—affeefed%y—ﬂ-ehﬁﬁge

speﬁd-rng—h&brts— Therefore, O
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marketing and advertising campaigns and enhance our brand r ion a gst s. If our products fail to gain market acceptance —H-, cannot keep pace with
nutritional, scientific, eur—- or preduets-fail-te-gain-market-aeeeptanee-regulatory developments or changing consumer preferences . arc restricted by regulatory
requirements or have quality issues, we may not be able to fully recover costs and expenses incurred in our operations, and our business, financial condition or results of
operations could be materially and adversely affected. In addition, in many of our...... incur significant losses in the future. Changes in the retail landscape or the loss of key retail
customers that cannot be replaced in a timely manner could adversely affect our results of operations and financial performance. The consumer - packaged goods industry is
being affected by the trend toward consolidation in, and blurring of, the lines between retail channels. Larger retailers have sought lower prices from us, demanded increased
marketing or promotional expenditures, and have and may continue to use their distribution networks to introduce and develop private label brands, any of which could
negatively affect our profitability. The consolidation of retail customers alse-may reduce the number of branded products they offer in order to accommodate private label
products and inereases— increase the risk that a significant adverse impact on their business could have a corresponding material adverse impact on our business. We sell a
substantial portion of our products to specific customers. In 2622-2023 , our largest customer represented +5-13 % of our net sales and our second largest customer
represented 10 % of our net sales, and our largest ten customers represented 73 % of our net sales. No other customers represented more than 10 % of our net sales in
2023. In 2622-2023 , the e- commerce channel represented approximately 11 % of our net sales. The loss of any large customer, the reduction of purchasing levels or the
cancellation of any business from a large customer for an extended length of time could negatively impact our sales and profitability. Furthermore;-as-retailers-eonsolidate;-We
expect that most of our sales will be made through a small number of customers for they— the foreseeable future. For these customers, we do not have short- term or
long- term commitments in our contracts that ensure future sales of our products. If we lose one or more of our significant customers and cannot replace the customer
in a timely manner or at all, our business, results of operation and financial condition may reduee-the-number-ofbranded-produets-be materlally adversely affected
Similarly, if we do not maintain our relationship with existing customers or develop relationships with new cust {-hey- the

label-preduets-growth of our business may be adversely affected and our business may be harmed ¢ . Consequently,
our financial results may fluctuate significantly from period to period based on the actions of one or more slgmfleant retailers. A retailer may 1ake actions that affect us for
reasons that we cannot always anticipate or control, such as their financial condition, changes in their business strategy or operations, a reduction in the number of brands they
carry, a reduction or shift of shelf space, the introduction of competing products or the perceived quality of our products . There can be no assurance that retailers will
provide sufficient, or any, shelf space, nor that online retailers will provide online access to, or adequate product visibility on, their platform . Despite operating in
different channels, our retailers sometimes develop their own beverages that compete for the same consumers. Because of actual or perceived conflicts resulting from this
competition, retailers may take actions that negatively affect us. For example, we have had retailers develop brands that compete with our brand and as a result, saw a
shlft in our shelf space in store to prlvate label and competltlve products. In addition, our success depends in part on our db]llty to mdmtam good relationships \\'nh l<ey retdll

affect our operatm&, results We also may not be able to promou our plUdLl(.ts effutl\ elv Jey—through our
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confidence,consumer income,consumer perception of the safety and quality of our product\ and \}]lft% in the perceived v: dlue tm our pmducts relame to altelndtl\ es. Medm
coverage regarding the safety or quality of,or diet or health issues relating to,our products or the raw materials,ingredients (particularly stevia or other plant- based sweeteners) or
processes involved in their manufacturing may damage consumer confidence in our products.A general decline in the consumption of our products could occur at any time as a



result of change in consumer preference,perception,confidence and spending habits,including an unwillingness or inability to purchase our products due to financial hardship or
increased price sensitivity,which may be exacerbated by the effects of inflation and global public health concerns such as epidemies-and-the COVID- 19 pandenties— pandemic
.The success of our products depends on a number of factors,including continued market acceptance of stevia,our ability to accurately anticipate changes in market demand and
consumer preferences,our ability to differentiate the quality of our products from those of our competitors,the effectiveness of our marketing and advertising campaigns for our
products,consumer purchasing power,and macro- economic factors. We may not be successful in developing products that respond to changing trends in consumer preferences in
a timely manner or at all.If we do not accurately anticipate the future demand for a particular product or the time it will take to obtain new inventory,our inventory levels may be
inadequate and our results of operations may be negatively impacted. If we fail to meet our shipping schedules,we could d ge our relationships with distributors and /
or retailers,increase our distribution costs and / or cause sales opportunities to be delayed or lost. [n order to be able to deliver our products on a timely basis,we need
to maintain adequate inventory levels of the desired products.If the inventory of our products held by our distributors and / or retailers is too high,they will not place
orders for ﬁdd-rt-ren—addltlonal products m—whlch could unfavorably impact our future sales and adversely affect our 0peratmg results.We also lf we fdll to address
changes in alteg y consumer eenfidenee-and b d-may
eeﬁsamefs—te—eheeseet-her—pfeét% product and eeu-l-d—neg&t-wel-y—affeet—shoppmg preferences, our— or bu
fully anticipate and prepare for future changes in such preferences,our share of
sales,revenue growth and overall financial results could be negatively affected .If we are unable to compete in our intensely competitive eategertes-industry ,our business
may not grow or succeed. We operate in the highly competitive commerecial Hquid-refreshment-beverage industry that continues to evolve in response to changing consumer
preferences.Some of our competitors,such as The Coca- Cola Company,Keurig Dr.Pepper,PepsiCo,Inc.,National Beverage Corp.,Monster Energy,and Red Bull,are multinational
corporations with significantly greater financial resources than us.These competitors can use their resources and scale to rapidly respond to competitive pressures and changes in
consumer preferences by introducing new products,changing their route to market,reducing prices or increasing promotional activities.We also compete with a range of emerging
brands,including a number of smaller brands and a variety of smaller,regional and private label manufacturers.Smaller companies may be more innovative,better able to bring
new products to market and better able to quickly exploit and serve niche markets. If we are unable to effectively pete in the cial beverage industry,we may not
be able to maintain or improve the market position of our brand. Our sales may be negatively affected by numerous factors,including our inability to maintain or increase
prices,our inability to effectively promote our products,our inability to move out of niche locations in- store to broader appeal category locations due to competitor and retailer
actions,our inability to increase or sustain our volume of shelf space in- store or obtain optimal presence on store shelves to display our products,ineffective advertising and
marketing campaigns,new entrants into the market,the decision of wholesalers,retailers or consumers to purchase competitors’ products instead of ours,and increased marketing
costs and in- store placement and slotting fees due to our competitors’ willingness to spend aggressively.Competitive pressures may also cause us to reduce prices we charge
customers or may restrict our ability to increase such prices.In order to remain competitive,we may also need to increase our marketing and advertising spend,which could have
an impact on our operating results. Our net sales and earnings may fluctuate as a result of price concessions,promotional activities and chargebacks. Ve are often
required havea—htsfefre%bsses—md—vve—may—be—tmb{elo achteve-grant retailers price concessions that negatively impact our margins and our pr ofitability —We-have
e*peﬁeﬂeed—net—lesses—m order each-yearsinee-ourineeption-We-ineurred-n tlws s-of $-47-6-milhonin2022-and-$-87- 7 millionin2021-We-antieipate-that-our-operatin

eXP! huding-equity—based-eompensation;withinerease-over-time-as-we-eontinte-to pete with tnvest—m—gfewmg—ourbusmess—mereasmg—larger competitors with
significantly greater financial resources.If we are not able to lower our cost structure adequately in response to such competitive customer pricing,and if we are not
able to attract The loss of any registered trademark or other intellectual property or actual or alleged claims of infringement or violation of intellectual property rights could hurt
our business.We utilize intellectual property in our business.Our trademarks are valuable assets that reinforce our brand and consumers’ favorable perception of our products.We
have invested a significant amount of money in establishing and promoting our trademarked brands.Our continued success depends,to a significant degree,upon our ability to
protect and preserve our intellectual property.We rely on confidentiality agreements and trademark law to protect our intellectual property rights.Our confidentiality agreements
with our empleyees-crew members and certain of our consultants,contract employees,suppliers and independent contractors,including some of our eentraet-manufacturers who
use our formulations to manufacture our products,generally require that all information made known to them be kept strictly confidential. Further,some of our formulations have
been developed by or with our suppliers and eentraet-manufacturers.As a result,we may not be able to prevent others from independently developing and using similar
formulations.We cannot assure you that the steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property rights are adequate,that our intellectual property rights can be successfully
defended and asserted in the future or that third parties will not infringe upon or misappropriate any such rights.In addition,our trademark rights and related registrations may be
challenged in the future and could be canceled or narrowed.Failure to protect our trademark rights could prevent us in the future from challenging third parties who use names
and logos similar to our trademdrks whlch may in turn cause consumer L.onfusmn or negatively affect consumers’ perception of our brand and products. Failure-to-proteet-eur

: —Moreover,intellectual property disputes,proceedings,misappropriation or infringement
L]aums may result in a swmtlcam d!stracl]on for managcmem diversion of resources,and significant expense,which may not be recoverable regardless of whether we are
successful.Such proceedings may be protracted with no certainty of success,and an adverse outcome could subject us to liabilities,force us to cease use of certain trademarks or
other intellectual property or force us to enter into licenses with others. Any one of these occurrences may have an adverse effect on our business,financial condition and
results of operations. , hire, train er-and retain qualified personnel, manage our future growth effectively or maintain our company culture, our business could be materially
adversely affected. Our growth and success depends in part upon our ability to attract, hire, train and retain a sufficient number of highly qualified and skilled employees who
understand and appreciate our culture and can represent our brand effectively and establish credibility with our business partners , retailers and consumers. Any of our
employees may terminate his or her employment with us at any time. If we are unable to attract, hire and retain employees capable of meeting our business needs and
expectations, our business and brand image may be impaired. The failure to meet our stattmg needs or any material i increase in unp]dnned turnover rates of our employees may
adv ersely affect our business, results of opemtlon and tmdnc al LUlldltlUll : v
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kcy conmbutors to our success to date and promote a sense ol greater purpose and 1ulilllmem in our employccs The commued work on our cu]ture is necessary for our Lommucd
success as we build our employer brand. If we fail to maintain our company culture or tocus on our employer brand whlle developmg our current employees and mtegratmg
new employees our business and competmve posmon could be mdtelmlly hdrmed h a

economy may advi ersely affect our business, 1esults of operations and ﬁndnmal condition. /\dverse and uncertdm economic conditions, including the 1mpacts of inflation, may
impact distributor, retailer and consumer demand for our products. In addition, our ability to manage normal commercial relationships with our suppliers, contract
manufacturers, distributors, retailers and creditors may suffer. Consumers may shift purchases to lower- priced or other perceived value offerings during economic downturns
and periods of high inflation. In addition, consumers may choose to purchase private label products rather than branded products because they are generally less expensive.
Distributors and retailers may become more conservative in response to these conditions and seek to reduce their inventories. Our results of operations depend upon, among
other things, our ability to maintain and increase sales volume with our existing distributors, retailer customers, our ability to attract new consumers, the financial condition of
our consumers and our ability to provide products that appeal to consumers at the right price. This past year, inflationary pressures raised overall supply chain costs and
manufacturing and labor costs, which impacted our margins. Prolonged unfavorable economic conditions may have an adverse effect on our sales and profitability. Our net
sales and earnings may fluctuate......, results of operations or liquidity. Climate change may negatively affect our business and operations. We believe greenhouse gases in the
atmosphere have and will continue to have an adverse impact on global temperatures, weather patterns and the frequency and severity of extreme weather and natural disasters.
As climate change has a negative effect on agricultural productivity, we may be subject to decreased availability or less favorable pricing for certain commodities that are
necessary for our products, such as stevia extract. As a result of climate change, we are and may continue to be subjected to decreased availability of water, deteriorated quality
of water or less favorable pricing for water, which could adversely impact our third—party-contract manufacturers’ operations, as well as the agricultural businesses of our
suppliers, which rely on the availability and quality of water. As demand for water continues to increase, water becomes scarcer, and the quality of available water deteriorates,
we may incur increased manufacturing costs or face capacity constraints that could adversely affect our profitability or net sales. Adverse weather conditions, fires, natural
disasters, crop disease, pests and other natural conditions can impose significant costs and losses on our business. Agricultural products, including the stevia rebaudiana plant, are
vulnerable to adverse weather conditions, including severe rains, drought and temperature extremes, floods and windstorms, which are common but difficult to predict.
Agricultural products also are vulnerable to crop disease and to pests, which may vary in severity and effect, depending on the stage of production at the time of infection or
infestation, the type of treatment applied and climate conditions. Unfavorable growing conditions caused by these factors can reduce both crop size and crop quality and, in
extreme cases, entire harvests may be lost. Additionally, adverse weather or natural disasters, including fires, earthquakes, winter storms, floods, droughts, or volcanic events,




could impact manufacturing and business facilities, which could result in significant costs and meaningfully reduce our capacity to fulfill orders and maintain normal business
operations. These factors may result in lower sales volume and increased costs of raw materials and manufacturing. Incremental costs, including transportation, may also be
incurred if we need to find alternate short- term supplies of products from alternative areas. These factors can increase costs, decrease revenues and lead to additional charges to
earnings, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Similarly, an earthquake, fire, tsunami, tornado or other natural
disaster could seriously disrupt our entire business. Our corporate offices and research and development functions are located in Los Angeles, California. The impact of an
earthquake, fire or tsunami, or both, or other natural disasters in the Los Angeles area on our facilities and overall operations is difficult to predict, but such a natural disaster
could seriously disrupt our entire business. Our insurance may not adequately cover our losses and expenses in the event of such a natural disaster. As a result, natural disasters,
such as an earthquake, fire or tsunami in the Los Angeles area or in areas where our contract manufacturers are located, could lead to substantial losses. We may face difficulties
as we expand our operations into countries in which we have no prior operating experience. We intend to expand our global footprint in order to enter into new markets,
including expanding into countries other than those in which we currently operate. It may be difficult for us to understand and accurately predict taste preferences and
purchasing habits of consumers in these new geographic markets as we have little experience with consumer preferences outside the United States and Canada. We will also face
increased competition with larger competitors who have stronger established brands in such markets. The political, legal and social systems of certain territories pose difficult
challenges related to establishing and maintaining control and ownership of our brand and intellectual property, as well as mitigating the risk of diverted sales to other territories
and / or sales diverted into the U. S. It is also costly to establish, develop and maintain international operations and develop and promote our brands in international markets and
we may face adverse tax consequences, tariffs, and barriers to trade. Our expansion may involve expanding into less developed countries, which may have less political, social
or economic stability and less developed infrastructure and legal systems. By expanding into other territories, we may be subject to additional product labeling and quality
requirements, which could require us to market our products differently or change the formula of certain products to meet local standards in order to commercialize.
As we expand our business into new mumm\ we may encounter 106[11‘1101\ legal, puwnml lLLh]th)UILd] dnd other dlli]eulllm lhm increase our prul\u and / or delay our
.lbll ty to become pmhtdb]e in

(omplmnu with rlppllmblt l\,“ll|<l\0l\ requirements 1Lm1|d|nﬂ the export of our products may create delays in llk mlmduumn of our products in international nnukus or,
some cases, prevent the export of our products to some countries altogether. The adoption and expansion of trade restrictions, the occurrence of a trade war, or other
governmental action related to tariffs or trade agreements or policies has the potential to adversely impact demand for our products and our costs and could have an adverse
effect on our business and brand. Risks Relating to Our Relationships with Third Parties Because we rely on a limited number of third- party suppliers to supply our contract
manufacturers , raw materials may not be able to be obtamed on a tlmely basns or in suﬂiclent quantltles for such contract manufacturers to produce our products

and we may not be able to then obta meet the-demand for our products. We rely on a

limited number of suppliers to supply us-our contract manufacturers with raw matumlx to make our products . Our financial performance depends in darge-part on our
contract manufacturer’ s ability to arrange for the purchase of raw materials in sufficient quantities at competitive prices. We are not assured of continued supply or pricing of
raw malumlx to our contract manufacturers \m of our \up pliers could discontinue or seek to alter their llel]OIlSh]p wit 1us—AH—e£0m contract manufacturersstewa

tmpaetﬁnﬁufbusmess—Weﬂtﬁeﬂﬂ—yﬁeufee«thﬁn.umm of the stevia extract u»ul in our pm(luus is currently sourced tmm one suppllu aﬂd—@nefegmfr A h](h we h.lu
selected because they meet our specific requirements for a particular blend of leaf compounds. As-General trade tensions between the U. S. and China, which began
escalating in 2018, could have a negative impact on result-ofthis-eeneentrationin-our business. Any supply-ehain;-any-disruption in the stevia extract supply, price, quality,
availability or timely delivery efsteviafrom-this-supphiercould adversely affect our business, performance, and results of operations. Additionally, the-eoneentrationof-our
supply-contract manufacturers’ sourcing of the majority of the stevia extract used in our products from one supplier increases the risk of significant supply disruptions
from local and regional events. For more information regarding contract terms, see the section of this Annual Report captioned “ Business — Our Supply Chain. ”” Events-that
adversely-affeetoursupplierof steviaextraet-Our business’ success depends on third party logistics. We currently work with contract manufacturers to store, ship, and
otherwise support etheﬁaw—m&teﬁa%seelﬂd—tmp&ﬂ—mu distribution of products to our customers and retail partners. Our ability (o ebtainraw-material-meet customer
and retail partner expectations, manage inventory i, complete sales, and achieve objectives for operating efficiencies and growth depends on the proper operation of
the-these quantities-that-we-desire-contract manufacturers’ distribution facilities, the development or expansion of additional distribution capabilities, and the timely
performance of services by third parties . Sueh—eveﬁts—mehide«pfeblem&Problems with our supphiers-contract manufacturers ’ businesses—- business , finances, labor
leldll()ll\ dbllll\ to ﬂﬁp@ﬁﬂ)btaln raw mdlumls costs ploduulun m\umnu and reputation, as well as natural disasters, fires , or other catastrophic occurrences —We-have-inrthe
a ns-could adversely affect the success of have-a-material-negative-impaet-en-our business
epefatteﬂ& We seek alternative sources oI stevia extract and ollm plant based ingredients to use in our products, but we may not be successful in diversifying the raw materials
¢ use in our products. If we need to replace an existing supplier, there can be no assurance that supplies of raw materials will be available when required on acceptable terms,
or that a new supplier would allocate sufficient capacity to #s-our contract manufacturers in order to produce sufficient products to meet our requirements, fill our orders in a
timely manner e, meet our strict quality standards , and ensure that we can supply enough products to meet consumer demand. Additionally, alternative sourcing could
increase our contract manufacturers' product costs to Zevia, which could decrease our profit margins . [ we are unable to manage our supply chain effectively and ensure
that our products are available to meet consumer demand, our operating costs could increase and our profit margins could decrease. Increase in the cost, disruption of supply
or shortage of stevia sweetener or other ingredients or raw materials, packaging materials, aluminum cans or other containers could harm our business. We use
various ingredients in our beverage products, including stevia sweetener and flavor ingredients relating to consumable products, aluminum cans and other packaging
materials. The prices for ingredients, other raw materials, packaging materials and aluminum cans fluctuate depending on market conditions. We have previously
experienced challenges in sourcing aluminum for our cans, and could in the future experience similar disruptions in supply of our finished beverage products.
Substantial increases in the prices of stevia sweetener, our other ingredients, other raw materials, and packaging materials, to the extent they cannot be recouped
through increases in the prices of finished beverage products, could increase operating costs for us and companies we do business with and reduce our profitability.
Increases in the prices of our finished beverage products resulting from a higher cost of ingredients, other raw materials, and packaging materials could affect
affordability in some markets and reduce sales. Disruption within our supply chain or distribution channels, including with respect to packaging, transportation, labor
and other inputs, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We rely on third- party warehousing and fulfillment
service providers to receive, store, repack, fulfill, and load our products for shipment in the U. S. and Canada. These third- party warehousing and fulfillment service
providers distribute our products to our distributors and retail- direct customers through transportation partners. Our business depends in large part on the orderly
operation of this distribution process, which in turn depends on timely availability of finished good products from our contract manufacturers, successful on- time
transfer and real- time tracking information of our products for outbound and inbound shipping, and effective operations at the warehouses and distribution
locations. Any increase in transportation costs (including increases in fuel costs), shipping costs or warehouse costs, port or supplier- side delays, reductions in the
transportation capacity of carriers, labor strikes or shortages in the transportation industry, disruptions to the national and international transportation
infrastructure, decreased warehouse availability and unexpected delivery interruptions or delays may increase the cost of, and adversely impact, our logistics and our
ability to provide quality and timely service to our distributors and retail- direct customers. We also may not adequately anticipate changing demands on our
distribution system, including the effect of any expansion or reduction we may need to implement, the number or the location of our warehouses / fulfillment locations
to meet increased complexity or changes in demand. Any of these factors could cause interruptions and delays in delivery of products or result in increased costs. For
example, during the second, third, and fourth quarters of 2023, in connection with certain initiatives to streamline our supply chain, we faced short- term supply chain
logistics challenges which hindered fulfillment and impacted net sales results for the quarter. In the fourth quarter of 2023, we implemented measures to address these
challenges and restored service levels. Events beyond our control could damage the facilities of our warehousing and fulfillment service providers, render them
inoperable, effect the flow of product to and from these locations, or impact our ability to manage our partners, making it difficult or impossible for us to process
customer or consumer orders for an extended period of time. We could also incur significantly higher costs and longer lead times associated with distributing
inventory during the time it takes for our third- party providers to reopen, replace or bring the capacity back to normal levels for their warehouses / fulfillment
locations and logistics capabilities after a disruption. An increase in costs, a sustained interruption in the supply, or a shortage of some of the ingredients or other raw
materials used in our products, supplier quality and reliability issues, trade disruptions, and changes in supply chain could in the future negatively impact our net
sales, gross margins, selling expenses, and results of operations. The inability to fulfill, or any delays in processing, customer or consumer orders from the
warehousing / fulfillment locations of our providers or any quality issues could result in the loss of consumers, retail partners or distributors, or the issuances of
penalties and chargebacks, and may also adversely affect our reputation. Our success with our retail customers and distribution partners depends on their timely
receipt of products for sale, and any repeated, intermittent or long- term disruption in, or failures of, the operations of the warehouses / fulfillment locations of our
partners could result in their lower sales and profitability, which in turn could result in a loss of their loyalty to our products, including loss of shelf space for our
products. The insurance we maintain for business interruption may not cover all of these risks, or be sufficient to cover all of our potential losses, and may not
continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all, and any insurance proceeds may not be paid to us in a timely manner. Additionally, we may need to
continue to update and expand our systems to manage these warehouse / fulfillment locations and related systems to support our business growth and increasing
complexity. Substantial disruption at our independent contract third—party-manufacturing and distribution facilities could occur. We do not directly manufacture our
products, but instead usc established contract third—party-manufacturing companies to produce our products. Some of these eontract manufacturers are also our direct




competitors, or alse-manufacture and distribute products for our competitors. As independent companies, these eontract manufacturers and distributors make their own business
decisions. They have the right to determine whether, and to what extent, they produce and-disteibate-our products, and our competitors’ products , and to what extent they
produce and distribute their own products. They may devote more resources to other products, prioritize their own products, or take other actions detrimental to our products
or brand. These contract manufacturers and distributors may not be able to fulfill our future demand, could charge rates that make using their services inefficient or
cost prohibitive to us or may simply not be able or willing to provide their services to us on a timely basis or at all. [n additien-the event of any disruption or delay,
whether caused by a rift in our relationship or the inability of our contract manufacturers to manufacture our products as required , we would need to secure the
services of alternative companies. We may be unable to onboard alternative contract manufacturers at cially r ble rates and / or within a reasonably
short time period and any such transition could be costly. If any of these events were to occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be
adversely affected. We may enter into * take or pay’ arrangements to improve assurance of supply for both co- pack volume and aluminum cans. In most cases, they-these
contract manufacturers and distributors are able to terminate their manufacturing and distribution arrangements with us without cause. We may need to increase support for
our brands in their territories to protect our route to market and may not be able to pass price increases through to them. Their financial condition could also be adversely affected
by conditions beyond their control, and their business could suffer as a result. Deteriorating economic conditions could negatively impact the financial viability of these third-
party-contract manufacturers and distributors . A-In addition, a disruption at our contract third—party-manufacturing and distribution facilities ., including fire, natural
disasters, weather, water scarcity, manufacturing probl di pidemics and pandemics, strikes, transportanon or supply mterruptlon, contractual dlspute,
government regulatlon, cybersecurlty attacks or terrorlsm, LL)Uld have a mater 1dl dd\ erse etfcut on our busmess :
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governmentregulation; \,,bemwm.t, ttaeks-or-terrorisnt \/Iomm er, if dmnml increases more 1h"m we 101cu1>1 we will need to acquire additional capacity. Alternative
facilities with sufficient capacity or capabilities may not be available, may cost substantially more 1h1n cxmtmw tacmnw or may mkc a significant amount of time to start
pmductlon each of which could negdtlvelv affect our business and financial peltmmance speetfie-eustome t
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facllltate éel-wer—dellvery of our productx on tlme or at 1]] could rcsuh in loxt sales. We currcnt]y rely upon a thnd party transportation broker to procure prov 1dcrs for-to
ship our produet-products shipments-. If we fail to meet our shipping schedules, we could damage our relationships with distributors and / or retailers, increase our

distribution costs and / or cause sales opportunities to be delayed or lost, including losing shelf space in stores . Our utilization of delivery-broker services for the
shipments— shipment of our products is subject to risks that are beyond our control, including availability of trucking capacity and increases in fuel prices, which would
increase our shipping costs, and employee strikes or work stoppages and inclement weather, which may impact the ability of previders-our transportation broker to previde
procure delivery services that adequately meet our shlppm(y nccds Any lallurc to deliver producls 10 our customers ina 11melv and ’1CCllI’ilL manner mq) dammc our reputation
and brand and may cause us to lose customers. r-pa 2

Fallurc by mdepcndcm contract t-h-x-rd—-pa-rty—manuiaclurcrs and st\ppher—suppllers 10 LOIT'I])IV with L,lhl(,al business practices could harm our bmnd reputation and busmcss
Although we have implemented policies and procedures to promote compliance with applicable laws and regulations, including requiring our contract third—party-manufacturers
and suppliers to agree to our Supplier Code of Conduct, we cannot guarantee their compliance with ethical business practices and applicable laws and regulations. If our
contract third—party-manufacturers and suppliers do not comply with applicable laws, regulations, employment practices, human rights standards, quality standards,
environmental standards, and other applicable standards and practices, our brand reputation could be harmed and we could be exposed to investigations, product recalls, product
liability claims, regulatory enforcement, litigation, monetary liability, and additional costs that could negatively impact our results of operations. If our contract third—party
manufacturers and suppliers do not comply with our set standards and specifications, we may also be forced to seck alternative partners which could disrupt our operations and
adversely affect our business. Our results of operations could be harmed if we are unable to accurately forecast demand for our products , revenue and costs, including
maintaining adequate inventory levels . Revenue and results of operations are difficult to accurately forecast as they are subject to a number of uncertainties, including the
volume, timing, and type of orders we receive across our various channels, as well as our ability to plan for and model future growth. Forecasts may be particularly challenging
as we expand into new markets and geographies and develop and market new products. We depend on our forecasts of demand for various products to make purchase decisions
and to manage our inventory. We need to maintain adequate levels of certain products in order to be able to deliver our beverages on time. If the inventory of our
products held by our distributors and / or retailers is too high, they would not place orders for additional products, and if the inventory of our products held by our
distributors and / or retailers is too low, we could lose shelf space, either of which could unfavorably impact our future sales and adversely affect our operating results.
We cannot be sure the same growth rates and trends are meaningful predictors of future growth. If our assumptions prove to be wrong, for reasons such as a change in demand
for our products, increasing competition, our inability to streamline and optimize manufacturing capacity for specific products, our inability to effectively and timely resolve
any supply chain logistics challenges, rapid changes in product cycles and pricing, or a decrease in the growth of our overall market, our operating and financial results could
differ materially from our expectations, and our business could suffer. Risks Relating to Governmental Regulation We and our contract manufacturers and suppliers are subject
to extensive governmental regulation and may be subject to enforcement if we are not in compliance with applicable requirements. We and our contract manufacturers and
suppliers are subject to a broad range of federal, state, provineial and local laws and regulations that govern, among other issues, the testing, design, development, formulation,
manufacturing, storage, product safety, labeling, distribution, marketing, sales, advertising and post- market reporting of foods. These include laws administered by the FDA, the
FTC, the USDA, Health Canada (including the Food and Drugs Act in Canada), and other federal, state, provineial and local regulatory authorities. Because we market products
that are regulated as food, we and the companies that pack our products are subject to the requirements of the FDCA and regulations promulgated thereunder by the FDA. The
statute and regulations govern, among other things, the production, composition, ingredients, packaging, labeling, storage, transportation, and safety of beverages. The FDA
requires that facilities that produce food products comply with a range of requirements, including hazard analysis and preventative controls regulations, cGMPs requirements,
and supplier verification requirements. Production facilities are subject to periodic inspection by federal, state, provineial and local authorities. If we cannot successfully
contract with manufacturers for our products and if they cannot conform to our specifications and the strict regulatory requirements of the FDA and applicable state , provincial
and local laws, they may be subject to adverse inspeetieral~—- inspection findings or enforcement actions, which could materially impact our ability to market our products, could
result in their inability to continue to paek-fer-us-manufacture our products , or could result in a recall of our products that have already been distributed. Our products are
subject to the FDA’ s comprehensive regulatory authority under the FDCA, as well as by other regulatory authorities which regulate the manufacturing, preparation, quality
control, import, export, packaging, labeling, storing, transportation, marketing, advertising, promotion, distribution, safety, and / or adverse event reporting of foods. Among
other things, manufacturers of conventional foods must meet applicable cGMPs and certain requirements that govern the constituents, packaging, labeling and holding of foods.
Failure by us, our eontraet manufacturers, or eae-suppliers to comply with these regulations could result in, by way of example, significant fines, criminal and civil liability,
product seizures, recalls, withdrawals, or other enforcement action. Any of these actions would have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects. Our products and their manufacturing, labeling, marketing and sale are also subject to various aspects of the Federal Trade Commission Act, the
Robinson- Patman Act, the Food Safety Modernization Act, the Lanham Act, Canada’ s Food and Drugs Act and Regulations, state consumer protection laws and state warning
and labeling laws, such as Proposition 65 in California. Various states, provinces and other authorities require deposits, eco- taxes or fees on certain products or packaging.
Similar legislation or regulations may be proposed in the future at local, state and federal levels, both in the U. S. and elsewhere. In addition, various jurisdictions may seek to
adopt significant additional product labeling or warning requirements or limitations on the marketing or sale of our products as a result of what they contain or allegations that
they cause adverse health effects. Additionally, we rely on independent third- party certification, including certifications of certain products or ingredients as “ organic ” and
Non- GMO ” to differentiate the quality of our products from those of our competitors. We must comply with the requirements of the independent third- party erganization
organizations or certification authorities in order to maintain these labels. The loss of any certifications could impact consumer’ s perception of our brand and products,
including the health and wellness attributes, safety, and quality of our products, and could harm our brand reputation and adversely affect our business and results of operations.




Failure by us, our eontract manufacturers, or our suppliers to comply with applicable laws and regulations or to obtain and maintain necessary permits, licenses, and registrations
relating to our operations could subject us to administrative and civil penalties, including significant fines, injunctions, product recalls or seizures, withdrawals, warning letters,
restrictions on the production or marketing of our products, or refusals to permit the import or export of products, civil liability, criminal liability or sanctions, or other
enforcement actions. Any of these actions would result in a material effect on our operating results and business and financial condition, including increased operating costs. For
more information regarding government regulations, sec the section of this Annual Report captioned “ Beseription-of-Business — Government Regulation. ” Our policies and
procedures are designed to comply with all applicable laws, accounting and reporting requirements, tax rules and other regulations and requirements, including those imposed by
the SEC, the Internal Revenue Service (“ IRS ), the U. S. Department of Health & Human Services, the FDA, the Food and Drugs Act in Canada, Health Canada, the FTC, the
USDA, the EPA, OSHA, the U. S. Department of Justice, state and local governments, and by comparable entities in foreign countries, as well as applicable trade, labor,
sanitation, safety, environmental, labeling, anti- bribery and corruption and merchandise laws. Changes in laws and regulations, or the adoption of new laws or regulations,
relating to beverage containers and packaging could increase our costs, reduce demand for our products, and otherwise adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition. Proposals relating to beverage container deposits, recycling, eco- tax and / or product stewardship have been introduced in various jurisdictions in the U. S.
and overseas, and we anticipate that similar legislation or regulations may be proposed in the future at local, state and federal levels, both in the U. S. and elsewhere. Consumers’
increased concerns and changing attitudes about solid waste streams and environmental responsibility and the related publicity could result in the adoption of such legislation or
regulations. If these types of requirements are adopted and implemented on a large scale in any of the major markets in which we operate, they could affect our costs or require
changes in our distribution model, which could reduce our net operating revenues and profitability. The regulatory environment in which we operate could change significantly
and adversely in the future. Any change in manufacturing, labeling, warning, quality, health, or packaging requirements for our products may lead to an increase in costs and
interruptions in production, either of which could adversely affect our operations and financial condition. New or revised government laws and regulations and changes in
enforcement priorities of regulators could inhibit sales of our products or result in additional compliance costs and, in the event of non- compliance, civil remedies, including
fines, enforcement actions, injunctions, withdrawals, recalls or seizures and confiscations, as well as potential criminal sanctions . A change in laws and regulations could also
increase our manufacturing costs , any-if for example our products become subject to new sales taxes. Any of whieh-these things may adversely affect our business,
results of operations and financial condition. Eitigatien-and-regulatery-Regulatory enforcement actions and litigation concerning marketing and labeling of our products could
adversely affect our business and reputation. The marketing and labeling of any food product in recent years has brought increased risk that consumers will bring class action
lawsuits and that the FTC and / or state attorneys general will bring legal action concerning the truth and accuracy of the marketing and labeling of the product, seek removal of a
product from the marketplace, and / or impose fines and penalties. Products that we sell carry claims as to their ingredients or health and wellness related attributes, including the
term ““ natural ” or other express or implied statements relating to the ingredients or health and wellness related attributes of our products. Although the FDA and the USDA each
has issued statements regarding the appropriate use of the word “ natural, ” there is no single, official U. S. government regulation defining the term * natural ” for use in the
food industry, which is true for many other label statements in the better- for- you and functionally- focused food industry. The lack of regulatory definition for “ natural ” and
other label statements has contributed to legal challenges against many consumer products companies, and plaintiffs have commenced legal actions against several food
companies that market “ natural ” products and / or product ingredients , asserting false, misleading and deceptive advertising and labeling claims, including claims related to
genetically modified ingredients. In limited circumstances, the FDA has taken regulatory action against products labeled “ natural ” that contain synthetic ingredients ,
chemicals, processing and / or components. As a result of such legal or regulatory challenges, consumers may avoid purchasing products from us or seek alternatives, even if
the basis for the claim is unfounded. In recent years, the FTC and state attorneys general have initiated numerous investigations of dietary and nutritional supplement companies
and products. Even when unmerited, class claims, action by the FTC or state attorneys general enforcement actions can be expensive to defend and adversely affect our
reputation with existing and potential customers and consumers and our corporate and brand image, which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations. The number of private consumer class actions relating to false or deceptive advertising against cosmetic, food, beverage and nutritional
supplement manufacturers has increased in recent years. In addition, the FDA has aggressively enforced its regulations with respect to different types of product claims that may
or may not be made for food products. These events could interrupt the marketing and sales of our products, severely damage our brand reputation and public image, increase our
legal expenses, result in product recalls or litigation, and impede our ability to deliver our products in sufficient quantities or quality, which could result in a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Any of these claims could fall under an exception in our insurance policy, exceed our coverage,
or not be covered at all by our insurance policies, causing us to incur the costs and suffer losses, which could adversely affect the business and results of operations. We are
subject to international regulations that could adversely affect our business and results of operations. We are subject to regulations internationally where we distribute and / or
will sell our products. Our products are subject to numerous food safety and other laws and regulations relating to the sourcing, manufacturing, storing, labeling, marketing,
advertising and distribution of these products. Currently, our only market outside the United States is Canada. If regulators determine that the labeling and / or composition of
any of our products is not in compliance with faw-laws or regulations in Canada or any other jurisdictions we may enter in the future, or if we or our contract manufacturers
otherwise fail to comply with applicable laws and regulations in Canada or any other jurisdictions we may enter in the future, we could be subject to civil remedies or penalties,
such as fines, injunctions, recalls or seizures, warning letters, restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the products, or refusals to permit the import or export of
products, as well as potential criminal sanctions. In addition, enforcement of existing laws and regulations, changes in legal requirements and / or evolving interpretations of
existing regulatory requirements may result in increased compliance costs and create other obligations, financial or otherwise, that could adversely affect our business, financial
condition or operating results. In addition, if we expand our international operations, we could be adversely affected by violations of the U. S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and
similar worldwide anti- bribery laws, which generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to non- U. S. officials or other third parties
for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. While our policies mandate compliance with these anti- bribery laws, our internal control policies and procedures may not
protect us from reckless or criminal acts committed by our employees or agents. Violations of these laws, or allegations of such violations, could disrupt our business, impact our
reputation, and result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. Risks Relating to Tax Matters The Company is dependent on
distributions from Zevia LLC to pay any taxes and other expenses, including payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. The Company is a holding company and, its only
business is to act as the managing member of Zevia LLC, and its only material assets are Class A units representing approximately 68-75 . 78 % of the membership interests of
Zevia LLC. The Company does not have any independent means of generating revenue. We anticipate that Zevia LLC will continue to be treated as a partnership for U. S.
federal income tax purposes and, as such, generally will not be subject to any entity- level U. S. federal income tax. Instead, taxable income will be allocated to the members of
Zevia LLC. Accordingly, the Company will be required to pay income taxes on its allocable share of any net taxable income of Zevia LLC. We intend to cause Zevia LLC to
make distributions to each of its members, including the Company, in an amount intended to enable each member to pay all applicable taxes on taxable income allocable to such
member and to allow the Company to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement (" TRA"). If the amount of tax distributions to be made exceeds the amount of funds
available for distribution, the Company shall receive the full amount of its tax distribution before the other members receive any distribution and the balance, if any, of funds
available for distribution shall be distributed to the other members pro rata in accordance with their assumed tax liabilities. To the extent that the Company needs funds, and
Zevia LLC is restricted from making such distributions under applicable laws or regulations, or is otherwise unable to provide such funds, it could materially and adversely affect
the Company’ s ability to pay taxes and other expenses, including payments under the TRA, and affect our liquidity and financial condition. In addition, although we do not
currently expect to pay dividends, such restrictions could affect our ability to any dividends, if declared. The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) might challenge the tax basis step-
ups and other tax benefits we receive in connection with the IPO and the related transactions and in connection with future acquisitions of Zevia LLC units. The Company
acquired Zevia LLC units held directly by other members of Zevia LLC in connection with the IPO and may in the future acquire such units in exchange for shares of our Class
A common stock or, at our election, cash. Those acquisitions and exchanges resulted or are expected to result in increases in the tax basis of the assets of Zevia LLC that
otherwise would not have been available. These increases in tax basis are expected to increase (for tax purposes) the Company’ s depreciation and amortization and, together
with other tax benefits, reduce the amount of tax that the Company would otherwise be required to pay, although it is possible that the IRS might challenge all or part of these
tax basis increases or other tax benefits, and a court might sustain such a challenge. the Company’ s ability to achieve benefits from any tax basis increases or other tax benefits
will depend upon a number of factors, as discussed below, including the timing and amount of our future income. We will not be reimbursed for any payments previously made
under the TRA if the basis increases or other tax benefits described above are successfully challenged by the IRS or another taxing authority. As a result, in certain
circumstances, payments could be made under the TRA in excess of our ultimate cash tax savings. The Company will be required to pay over to continuing members of Zevia
LLC and the Direct Zevia Stockholders most of the tax benefits the Company receives from tax basis step- ups (and certain other tax benefits) attributable to its acquisition of
units of Zevia LLC in connection with the TPO and in the future, and the amount of those payments are expected to be substantial. The Company entered into the TRA with
continuing members of Zevia LLC (not including the Company) and certain pre- IPO institutional investors (" the Direct Zevia Stockholders"). The TRA provides for payment
by the Company to continuing members of Zevia LLC (not including the Company) and the Direct Zevia Stockholders of 85 % of the amount of the net cash tax savings, if any,
that the Company realizes (or, under certain circumstances, is deemed to realize) as a result of (i) increases in tax basis (and utilization of certain other tax benefits) resulting
from the Company’ s acquisition of a continuing member’ s Zevia LLC units in connection with the IPO and in future exchanges, (ii) certain favorable tax attributes we acquired
from the blocker companies in the blocker mergers and (iii) payments the Company makes under the TRA (including tax benefits related to imputed interest). Generally,
payments under the TRA will be made to the continuing members of Zevia LLC (not including the Company) and to the Direct Zevia Stockholders pro rata based on their
relative percentage ownership of Zevia LLC immediately prior to the Reorganization. Such payments will reduce the cash provided by the tax savings generated from the
previously described transactions with the members of Zevia LLC and the Direct Zevia Stockholders that would otherwise have been available to the Company for other uses,
including reinvestment or dividends to the Company Class A stockholders. The Company will retain the benefit of the remaining 15 % of these net cash tax savings. The term of
the TRA commenced upon the completion of the IPO and will continue until all tax benefits that are subject to the TRA have been utilized or have expired, unless we exercise



our right to terminate a TRA (or it is terminated due to a change in control or our breach of a material obligation thereunder), in which case the Company will be required to
make the termination payment specified in that TRA. In addition, payments we make under the TRA will be increased by any interest accrued from the due date (without
extensions) of the corresponding tax return. Based on certain assumptions, including no material changes in the relevant tax law and that we earn sufficient taxable income to
realize the full tax benefit of the increased amortization of our assets and the net operating losses (and similar items), we expect that future payments to the continuing members
of Zevia LLC (not including the Company) in respect of the IPO will be approximately $ 55-56 . 8-2 million in the aggregate, although the actual future payments to the
continuing members of Zevia LLC will vary based on the factors discussed below, and estimating the amount and timing of payments that may be made under the TRA is by its
nature imprecise, as the calculation of amounts payable depends on a variety of factors and future events. We expect to receive distributions from Zevia LLC in order to make
any required payments under the TRA. To the extent such distributions or our cash resources are insufficient to meet our obligations under the TRA as a result of timing
discrepancies or otherwise, such payments may be deferred for up to six months and would accrue interest until paid. The actual increase in tax basis, as well as the amount and
timing of any payments under the TRA, will vary depending on a number of factors, including the price of our Class A common stock at the time of the exchange; the timing of
future exchanges; the extent to which exchanges are taxable; the amount and timing of the utilization of tax attributes; the amount, timing and character of the Company’ s
income; the U. S. federal, state and local tax rates then applicable; the amount of each exchanging unitholder’ s tax basis in its units at the time of the relevant exchange; the
depreciation and amortization periods that apply to the increases in tax basis; the timing and amount of any earlier payments that the Company may have made under the TRA
and the portion of the Company’ s payments under the TRA that constitute imputed interest or give rise to depreciable or amortizable tax basis. We expect that, as a result of the
increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of Zevia LLC attributable to the acquired or exchanged Zevia LLC interests, and certain other tax benefits, the
payments that the Company will be required to make to the holders of rights under the TRA will be substantial. There may be a material negative effect on our financial
condition and liquidity if, as described below, the payments under the TRA exceed the actual benefits the Company receives in respect of the tax attributes subject to the TRA
and / or distributions to the Company by Zevia LLC are not sufficient to permit the Company to make payments under the TRA. In certain circumstances, payments under the
TRA may be accelerated and / or significantly exceed the actual tax benefits, if any, that the Company actually realizes. The TRA provides that if (i) the Company exercises its
right to early termination of the TRA in whole (that is, with respect to all benefits due to all beneficiaries under the TRA) or in part (that is, with respect to some benefits due to
all beneficiaries under the TRA), (ii) the Company experiences certain changes in control, (iii) the TRA is rejected in certain bankruptcy proceedings, (iv) the Company fails
(subject to certain exceptions) to make a payment under the TRA within 180 days after the due date or (v) the Company materially breaches its obligations under the TRA, the
Company will be obligated to make an early termination payment to holders of rights under the TRA equal to the present value of all payments that would be required to be paid
by the Company under the TRA. The amount of such payments will be determined on the basis of certain assumptions in the TRA, including (i) the assumption that the
Company would have enough taxable income in the future to fully utilize the tax benefit resulting from the tax assets that are the subject of the TRA, (ii) the assumption that any
item of loss deduction or credit generated by a basis adjustment or imputed interest arising in a taxable year preceding the taxable year that includes an early termination will be
used by the Company ratably from such taxable year through the earlier of (x) the scheduled expiration of such tax item or (y) 15 years; (iii) the assumption that any non-
amortizable assets are deemed to be disposed of in a fully taxable transaction on the fifteenth anniversary of the earlier of the basis adjustment and the early termination date; (iv)
the assumption that U. S. federal, state and local tax rates will be the same as in effect on the early termination date, unless scheduled to change; and (v) the assumption that any
units of Zevia LLC (other than those held by the Company) outstanding on the termination date are deemed to be exchanged for an amount equal to the market value of the
corresponding number of shares of Class A common stock on the termination date. Any early termination payment may be made significantly in advance of the actual
realization, if any, of the future tax benefits to which the termination payment relates. The amount of the early termination payment is determined by discounting the present
value of all payments that would be required to be paid by the Company under the TRA at a rate equal to the lesser of (a) 6. 5 % and (b) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate,
as reported by the Wall Street Journal plus 400 basis points. Moreover, as a result of an elective early termination, a change in control or the Company’ s material breach of its
obligations under the TRA, the Company could be required to make payments under the TRA that exceed its actual cash savings under that TRA. Thus, the Company’ s
obligations under the TRA could have a substantial negative effect on its financial condition and liquidity and could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing certain
mergers, asset sales, or other forms of business combinations or changes of control. We cannot assure you that we will be able to finance any early termination payment. It is
also possible that the actual benefits ultimately realized by us may be significantly less than were projected in the computation of the early termination payment. We will not be
reimbursed if the actual benefits ultimately realized by us are less than were projected in the computation of the early termination payment. Payments under the TRA will be
based on the tax reporting positions that we will determine and the IRS or another tax authority may challenge all or part of the tax basis increases, as well as other related tax
positions we take, and a court could sustain such a challenge. If any tax benefits that have given rise to payments under the TRA are subsequently disallowed, the Company
would be entitled to reduce future amounts otherwise payable to a holder of rights under the TRA to the extent the holder has received excess payments. However, the required
final and binding determination that a holder of rights under the TRA has received excess payments may not be made for a number of years following commencement of any
challenge, and the Company will not be permitted to reduce its payments under the TRA until there has been a final and binding determination, by which time sufficient
subsequent payments under such TRA may not be available to offset prior payments for disallowed benefits. the Company will not be reimbursed for any payments previously
made under either of the TRA if the basis increases described above are successfully challenged by the IRS or another taxing authority. As a result, in certain circumstances,
payments could be made under the TRA that are significantly in excess of the benefit that the Company actually realizes in respect of the increases in tax basis (and utilization of
certain other tax benefits) and the Company may not be able to recoup those payments, which could adversely affect the Company’ s financial condition and liquidity. In certain
circumstances, Zevia LLC will be required to make distributions to us and the existing members of Zevia LLC, and the distributions that Zevia LLC will be required to make
may be substantial. Zevia LLC is expected to continue to be treated as a partnership for U. S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, is not subject to U. S. federal income tax.
Instead, taxable income will be allocated to members, including the Company. Pursuant to the Zevia LLC Operating Agreement, Zevia LLC will make tax distributions to its
members, including the Company, which generally will be made pro rata based on the ownership of Zevia LLC units, calculated using an assumed tax rate, to help each of the
members to pay taxes on that member’ s allocable share of Zevia LLC’ s net taxable income. Under applicable tax rules, Zevia LLC is required to allocate net taxable income
disproportionately to its members in certain circumstances. Because tax distributions will be determined based on the member who is allocated the largest amount of taxable
income on a per unit basis and on an assumed tax rate that is the highest possible rate applicable to any member, but will be made pro rata based on ownership of Zevia LLC
units, Zevia LLC will be required to make tax distributions that, in the aggregate, will likely exceed the aggregate amount of taxes payable by its members with respect to the
allocation of Zevia LLC income. Funds used by Zevia LLC to satisfy its tax distribution obligations will not be available for reinvestment in our business. Moreover, the tax
distributions Zevia LLC will be required to make may be substantial, and may significantly exceed (as a percentage of Zevia LLC” s income) the overall effective tax rate
applicable to a similarly situated corporate taxpayer. In addition, because these payments will be calculated with reference to an assumed tax rate, and because of the
disproportionate allocation of net taxable income, these payments likely will significantly exceed the actual tax liability for many of the existing members of Zevia LLC. As a
result of potential differences in the amount of net taxable income allocable to us and to the existing members of Zevia LLC, as well as the use of an assumed tax rate in
calculating Zevia LLC” s distribution obligations, we may receive distributions significantly in excess of our tax liabilities and obligations to make payments under the TRA. We
may choose to manage these excess distributions through a number of different approaches, including through the payment of dividends to our Class A common stockholders or
by applying them to other corporate purposes. Pursuant to regulations issued under Section 162 (m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code ), the
Company may not be permitted to deduct its distributive share of compensation expense to the extent that the compensation was paid by Zevia LLC to certain of the Company’ s
covered employees, potentially resulting in additional U. S. federal income tax liability for the Company and reducing cash available for distribution to the Company’ s
stockholders and / or for the payment of other expenses and obligations of the Company. Section 162 (m) of the Code disallows the deduction by any publicly held corporation
of applicable employee compensation paid with respect to any covered employee to the extent that such compensation for the taxable year exceeds $ 1, 000, 000. A “ covered
employee ” means any employee of the taxpayer if the employee (a) is the principal executive officer (“ PEO ) or principal financial officer (“ PFO ) of the taxpayer at any
time during the taxable year, or was an individual acting in such a capacity, (b) was among the three highest compensated executive officers for the taxable year (other than the
PEO or PFO or an individual acting in such a capacity), or (c) was a covered employee of the taxpayer (or any predecessor) for any preceding taxable year beginning after
December 31, 2016. Pursuant to final regulations released for publication in the Federal Register by the IRS and the United States Department of the Treasury on December 30,
2020 (the 162 (m) Regulations), the Company will not be permitted to claim a deduction for the distributive share of compensation expense of Zevia LLC allocated to it to the
extent that such distributive share, plus the amount of any compensation paid directly by the Company, exceeds $ 1, 000, 000 with respect to a covered employee, even if Zevia
LLC, rather than the Company, pays the compensation. The 162 (m) Regulations were effective upon publication of final regulations in the Federal Register but apply to any
deduction for compensation that is otherwise allowable for a taxable year ended on or after December 20, 2019. However, the 162 (m) Regulations do not apply to compensation
paid pursuant to a written binding contract in effect on December 20, 2019 that is not materially modified after that date. Accordingly, to the extent that the Company is
disallowed a deduction for its distributive share of compensation expense under Section 162 (m) of the Code, it may result in additional U. S. federal income tax liability for the
Company and / or reduce cash available for distribution to the Company’ s stockholders or for the payment of other expenses and obligations of the Company. Future changes to
tax laws or our effective tax rate could materially and adversely affect our company and reduce net returns to our stockholders. Our treatment is subject to the enactment of, or
changes in, tax laws, regulations and treaties, or the interpretation thereof, tax policy initiatives and reforms under consideration and the practices of tax authorities in various
jurisdictions. Such changes may include (but are not limited to) the taxation of operating income, investment income, dividends received or (in the specific context of
withholding tax) dividends paid, or the taxation of partnerships and other passthrough entities. In addition, the Group of Twenty, the OECD, the U. S. Congress and Treasury
Department and other government agencies in jurisdictions where we and our affiliates do business have focused on issues related to the taxation of multinational corporations,
including, but not limited to, transfer pricing, country- by- country reporting and base erosion. As a result, the tax laws in the United States and in jurisdictions which we do
business could change on a prospective or retroactive basis, and any such changes could have an adverse effect on our worldwide tax liabilities, business, financial condition and



results of operations. We are unable to predict what tax reform may be proposed or enacted in the future or what effect such changes would have on our business, but such
changes, to the extent they are brought into tax legislation, regulations, policies or practices, could affect our financial position and overall or effective tax rates in the future in
countries where we have operations, reduce post- tax returns to our stockholders, and increase the complexity, burden and cost of tax compliance. Our businesses are subject to
income taxation in the United States. Tax rates at the federal, state and local levels may be subject to significant change. If our effective tax rate increases, our operating results
and cash flow could be adversely affected. Our effective income tax rate can vary significantly between periods due to a number of complex factors including, but not limited to,
projected levels of taxable income in each jurisdiction, tax audits conducted and settled by various tax authorities, and adjustments to income taxes upon finalization of income
tax returns. We may be required to pay additional taxes because of the U. S. federal partnership audit rules and potentially also state and local tax rules. Under the U. S. federal
partnership audit rules, subject to certain exceptions, audit adjustments to items of income, gain, loss, deduction, or credit of an entity (and any holder’ s share thereof) are
determined, and taxes, interest, and penalties attributable thereto, are assessed and collected, at the entity level. Zevia LLC (or any of its applicable subsidiaries or other entities
in which Zevia LLC directly or indirectly invests that are treated as partnerships for U. S. federal income tax purposes) may be required to pay additional taxes, interest and
penalties as a result of an audit adjustment, and Zevia PBC, as a member of Zevia LLC (or such other entities), could be required to indirectly bear the economic burden of those
taxes, interest, and penalties even though we may not otherwise have been required to pay additional corporate- level taxes as a result of the related audit adjustment. Audit
adjustments for state or local tax purposes could similarly result in Zevia LLC (or any of its applicable subsidiaries or other entities in which Zevia LLC directly or indirectly
invests) being required to pay or indirectly bear the economic burden of state or local taxes and associated interest, and penalties. Under certain circumstances, Zevia LLC or an
entity in which Zevia LLC directly or indirectly invests may be eligible to make an election to cause members of Zevia LLC (or such other entity) to take into account the
amount of any understatement, including any interest and penalties, in accordance with such member’ s share in Zevia LLC in the year under audit. We will decide whether or
not to cause Zevia LLC to make this election; however, there are circumstances in which the election may not be available and, in the case of an entity in which Zevia LLC
directly or indirectly invests, such decision may be outside of our control. If Zevia LLC or an entity in which Zevia LLC directly or indirectly invests does not make this election,
the then- current members of Zevia LLC (including Zevia PBC) could economically bear the burden of the understatement. If Zevia LLC were to become a publicly traded
partnership taxable as a corporation for U. S. federal income tax purposes, Zevia PBC and Zevia LLC might be subject to potentially significant tax inefficiencies, and Zevia
PBC would not be able to recover payments previously made by it under the TRA, even if the corresponding tax benefits were subsequently determined to have been
unavailable due to such status. We intend to operate such that Zevia LLC does not become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U. S. federal income tax
purposes. A “ publicly traded partnership ” is an entity that otherwise would be treated as a partnership for U. S. federal income tax purposes, the interests of which are traded on
an established securities market or readily tradable on a secondary market or the substantial equivalent thereof. Under certain circumstances, exchanges of Zevia LLC units
pursuant to the Zevia LLC Operating Agreement or other transfers of Zevia LLC units could cause Zevia LLC to be treated like a publicly traded partnership. From time to time
the U. S. Congress has considered legislation to change the tax treatment of partnerships and there can be no assurance that any such legislation will not be enacted or if enacted
will not be adverse to us. If Zevia LLC were to become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U. S. federal income tax purposes, significant tax inefficiencies
might result for Zevia PBC and Zevia LLC, including as a result of Zevia PBC’ s inability to file a consolidated U. S. federal income tax return with Zevia LLC. In addition,
Zevia PBC may not be able to realize tax benefits covered under the TRA and would not be able to recover any payments previously made by it under the TRA, even if the
corresponding tax benefits (including any claimed increase in the tax basis of Zevia LLC’ s assets) were subsequently determined to have been unavailable. Risks Relating to
Ownership of Our Common Stock The market price of our Class A common stock has been and may continue to be volatile or may decline regardless of our operating
performance, and you could lose all or part of your investment. The market price of our common stock has been volatile. The market price of our Class A common stock has
been and may continue to fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, some of which are beyond our control and may not be related to our operating performance,
including: * announcements of new products, commercial relationships, acquisitions or other events by us or our competitors; ¢ price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock
market from time to time; * significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of food and beverage companies in general and of companies in the commercial
beverage industry in particular; * addition or loss of significant customers or other developments with respect to significant customers; * fluctuations in the trading volume of our
shares or the size of our public float; * actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations in our operating results; * whether our operating results meet the expectations of securities
analysts or investors; * actual or anticipated changes in the expectations of investors or securities analysts; * litigation involving us, our industry, or both; * regulatory
developments in the U. S., foreign countries, or both applicable to our products; ¢ general economic conditions and trends; * major catastrophic events; * sales of large blocks of
our Class A common stock; * departures of key employees; or * an adverse impact on the company from any of the other risks cited in this report. In addition, if the stock market
for beverage companies, or the stock market generally, experiences a loss of investor confidence, the trading price of our Class A common stock could decline for reasons
unrelated to our business, operating results or financial condition. Stock prices of many beverage companies have fluctuated in a manner unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of those companies. The trading price of our Class A common stock might also decline in reaction to events that affect other companies in our industry
even if these events do not directly affect us. At the time of the IPO, we determined the initial public offering price for our common stock through negotiations with the
underwriters, and the negotiated price may not be indicative of the market price of our common stock currently. For example, the market value of our common stock has
decreased substantially from the initial public offering price. As a result of these and other factors, you may be unable to resell your shares of our common stock at or above the
price you paid. In the past, stockholders have filed securities class action litigation following periods of market volatility. If we were to become involved in securities litigation,
it could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources and the attention of management from our business, and adversely affect our business. As a public benefit corporation, our
duty to balance a variety of interests may result in actions that do not maximize stockholder value. We have elected to be classified as a public benefit corporation under the
Delaware General Corporation Law (" DGCL"). As a public benefit corporation, our board of directors has a duty to balance (i) the pecuniary interest of our stockholders, (ii) the
best interests of those materially affected by our conduct and (iii) specific public benefits identified in our charter documents. While we believe our public benefit designation
and obligation will benefit our stockholders, in balancing these interests our board of directors may take actions that do not maximize stockholder value. Any benefits to
stockholders resulting from our public benefit purposes may not materialize within the timeframe we expect or at all, and our status as a public benefit corporation may
negatively impact stockholders. For example: * we may choose to revise our policies in ways that we believe will be beneficial to our stakeholders, including our employees,
customers and local communities, even though the changes may be costly; « we may take actions, such as building state- of- the- art facilities with technology and quality control
mechanisms that exceed the requirements of USDA and the FDA, even though these actions may be more costly than other alternatives; « we may be influenced to pursue
programs and services to demonstrate our commitment to the communities to which we serve and bringing ethically produced products to customers even though there is no
immediate return to our stockholders; or ¢ in responding to a possible proposal to acquire the company, our board of directors may be influenced by the interests of our
stakeholders, including our employees, customers and local communities, whose interests may be different from the interests of our stockholders. As a public benefit
corporation,we may become subject to increased derivative litigation concerning our duty to balance stockholder and public benefit interests,the occurrence of which may have
an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.We have elected to be a public benefit corporation under the DGCL.Stockholders of a Delaware public
benefit corporation (if they,individually or collectively,own at least 2 % of its outstanding capital stock or the lesser of such percentage or shares of at least $ 2 million in market
value) are entitled to file a derivative lawsuit claiming that its directors failed to balance stockholder and public benefit interests. This potential liability does not exist for
traditional corporations.Therefore,we may be subject to the possibility of increased derivative litigation,which could cause us to incur additional expenses and liabilities and
would require the attention of management and,as a result,may adversely impact management’ s ability to effectively execute our strategy.Any such derivative litigation may be
costly and have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations. Our status as a public benefit corporation and a Certified B Corporation may not result in
the benefits that we anticipate. We have elected to be classified as a public benefit corporation under the DGCL. As a public benefit corporation, we are required to balance the
pecuniary interests of the stockholders, the best interests of those materially affected by the corporation” s conduct and the specific public benefit or public benefits identified in
our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. In addition, there is no assurance that the expected positive impact from being a public benefit corporation will be realized
as we may be unable or slow to realize the benefits we expect from actions taken to benefit our stakeholders, including our employees, customers and local communities, which
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline. Accordingly, being a public benefit
corporation and complying with our related obligations could negatively impact our ability to provide the highest possible return to our stockholders. As a public benefit
corporation, we are required to disclose to stockholders a report at least biennially on our overall public benefit performance and on our assessment of our success in achieving
our specific public benefit purpose. If we are not timely or are unable to provide this report, or if the report is not viewed favorably by parties doing business with us or
regulators or others reviewing our credentials, our reputation and status as a public benefit corporation may be harmed. While not required by the DGCL or the terms of our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation, we have elected to have our social and environmental performance, accountability and transparency assessed against the
proprietary criteria established by an independent non- profit organization. As a result of this assessment, we have been designated as a *“ Certified B Corporation, ”” which refers
to companies that are certified as meeting certain levels of social and environmental performance, accountability and transparency. The standards for Certified B Corporation
certification are set by an independent organization and may change over time. Currently, Certified B corporations are required to recertify as a Certified B Corporation once
every three years. Our reputation could be harmed if we lose our status as a Certified B Corporation, whether by our choice or by our failure to continue to meet the certification
requirements, if that failure or change were to create a perception that we are more focused on financial performance and are no longer as committed to the values shared by
Certified B Corporations. Likewise, our reputation could be harmed if our publicly reported Certified B Corporation score declines. As a public benefit corporation, we......
financial condition and results of operations. We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, as a result, stockholders' ability to achieve a return on their
investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our Class A common stock. We do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We anticipate that we
will retain all of our future earnings for use in the development of our business and for general corporate purposes. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the
discretion of our board of directors. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their Class A common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to



realize any future gains on their investments. Our charter documents and the DGCL could discourage takeover attempts and other corporate governance changes. Our amended
and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws currently in effect contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in control of our company.
These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to elect directors that are not nominated by the current members of our board of directors or take other corporate
actions, including effecting changes in our management. These provisions include the following previstens-that- « our board of directors is classified into three classes of
dlrectors with staggered three- year terms. Commencing with the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2027, directors of each class the term of which shall then expire
shall be elected to hold office for a one- year term; « directors are only able to be removed from office with the affirmative vote of at least 66 2 / 3 % of the voting power of all
shares of our common stock then outstanding and, until the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2027, only for cause; ¢ authorize the issuance of *“ blank check
preferred stock that our board of directors could use to implement a stockholder rights plan;  prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires stockholder actions
to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders; ¢ establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be
acted upon by stockholders at annual stockholder meetings; ¢ provide the board of directors with sole authorization to establish the number of directors and fill director
vacancies; * certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation may only be amended esdy-with the approval of at least 66 2 / 3 % of the voting power of
all shares of our common stock then outstanding; ¢ the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter, or repeal our amended and restated bylaws and that our
stockholders may amend our bylaws only with the approval of at least 66 2 / 3 % of the voting power of all shares of our common stock then outstanding; and * special meetings
of the stockholders may only be called by the stockholders upon the written request of one or more stockholders of record that own, or who are acting on behalf of persons who
own, shares representing 25 % or more of the voting power of the then outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote on the matter or matters to be brought before the
proposed special meeting. In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL. These provisions may prohibit large stockholders, in particular
those owning 15 % or more of our outstanding voting stock, from merging or combining with us for a period of time. In addition, our credit facility includes, and other debt
instruments we may enter into in the future may include, provisions entitling the lenders to demand immediate repayment of all borrowings upon the occurrence of certain
change of control events relating to our company, which also could discourage, delay or prevent a business combination transaction. Also, as a public benefit corporation under
the DGCL , our board of directors is required by-the-DGEE-to manage or direct our business and affairs in a manner that balances the pecuniary interests of our stockholders, the
best interests of those materially affected by our conduct, and the specific public benefits identified in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. Additionally,
pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, a vote of at least 66 2 / 3 % of our outstanding shares of voting stock is required for matters directly or
indirectly amending or removing our public benefit purpose. We believe that our public benefit corporation status will make it more difficult for another party to obtain control
of us without maintaining our public benefit corporation status and purpose. Any of the foregoing provisions could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the
future for shares of our common stock, and they could deter potential acquirers of our company, thereby reducing the likelihood that you would receive a premium for your
shares of our common stock in an acquisition. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation includes an exclusive forum clause, which could limit our stockholders’
ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for any complaint asserting any internal corporate claims, including claims in the right of the Company that are based upon a
violation of a duty by a current or former director, officer, employee or stockholder in such capacity, or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction upon the Court of Chancery.
In addition, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any
complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. We note, however, that there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce this provision and that
investors cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for
state and federal courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. This forum selection provision
will not apply to claims brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act. This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder” s ability to bring a claim in
other judicial forums for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees
in jurisdictions other than Delaware, or federal courts, in the case of claims arising under the Securities Act. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision
contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action
in other jurisdictions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise
acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock is deemed to have notice of and consented to the foregoing provisions. The exclusive forum clause may limit our
stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us. General Risk Factors The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert
our management’ s attention and affect our ability to attract and retain qualified board members. As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the
Exchange Act, and the listing requirements of the New York Stock Exchange, and other applicable securities rules and regulations, and will be required to comply with the
applicable requirements of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act and the Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. Compliance with these rules and regulations have
increased and will likely continue to increase our legal and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time- consuming or costly and increase demand on
our systems and resources. Among other things, the Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and operating results
and maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting. Increasing governmental and societal attention to ESG matters has
resulted and could continue to result in new laws and requirements, including expanded disclosure requirements that are expected to continue to expand the nature, scope and
complexity on which we are required to report. Significant resources and management oversight will be required to maintain and, if required, improve our disclosure controls
and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting to meet this standard. As a result, management’ s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which
could harm our business and operating results. We may need to hire more employees in the future to comply with these requirements, which will increase our costs and expenses.
These rules and regulations have resulted and are expected to continue to result in our incurring legal and financial compliance costs and have made and are expected to continue
to make some activities more time- consuming and costly. For example, these rules and regulations have made and may continue to make it more expensive for us to obtain
director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar
coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified members of our board of directors, particularly to serve on our audit committee and
compensation committee, and qualified executive officers. Our management team has limited experience managing a public company. Most members of our management team
have had limited erne-experience prierte-ourHPO-managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors, and complying with the increasingly
complex laws, rules and regulations that govern public companies. There are significant obligations we are subject to relating to reporting, procedures and internal controls, and
our management team may not successfully or efficiently manage our public company obligations. These obligations and added scrutiny require significant attention from our
management and could divert their attention away from the day- to- day management of our business, which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial
condition. Reduced reporting and disclosure requirements applicable to us as an emerging growth company (" EGC") could make our Class A common stock less attractive to
investors. We are an EGC and, for as long as we continue to be an EGC, we may choose to continue to take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements
applicable to other public companies. Consequently, we are not required to have our independent registered public accounting firm audit our internal control over financial
reporting under Section 404 (b) of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, and we are subject to reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and
proxy statements and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and on the frequency of such votes as well as
stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. In addition, the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the" JOBS Act") provides that an EGC
can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards. We have elected to take advantage of the extended transition
period. As a result, our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with new or revised accounting pronouncements as of the dates such
pronouncements are effective for public companies. We will remain an EGC until the earliest of: (i) the end of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the IPO, (ii) the
first fiscal year after our annual gross revenue is $ 1. 235 billion or more, (iii) the date on which we have, during the previous three- year period, issued more than $ 1 billion in
nonconvertible debt securities or (iv) the end of any fiscal year in which the market value of our Class A common stock held by non- affiliates exceeded $ 700 million as of the
end of the second quarter of that fiscal year. We cannot predict whether investors will find our Class A common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on these exemptions. If
some investors find our Class A common stock less attractive as a result of any choices to reduce future disclosure, there may be a less active trading market for our Class A
common stock, and the price of our Class A common stock may be more volatile. We have a limited operating history at our current scale, which may make it difficult to
evaluate our business and future prospects. We began commercial operations in 2011 and went public on July 21, 2021. As a result of our relatively short operating history at our
current scale, we have limited financial data that can be used to evaluate our business and future prospects. Any evaluation of our business and prospects must be considered in
light of our limited operating history, which may not be indicative of future performance. Because of our limited operating history, we face increased risks, uncertainties,
expenses, and difficulties, including the risks and uncertainties discussed in this section. If we fail to maintain or implement effective internal controls, we may not be able to
report financial results accurately or on a timely basis, or to detect fraud, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and the per share price of our Class A
common stock. The Sarbanes- Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures, and internal control over financial
reporting. We are continuing to refine our disclosure controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that
we file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms. We have expended significant resources in order
to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. As a public company, we are required to
document and test our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act so that our management can cemfy as to the effectlveness of
our internal control over financial reporting. Section 404 (a) of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, or Section 404 (a), requires that begin P
Beeember31-2022,-management assess and report annually on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial repomng and 1dent1fy any materlal weaknesses in our
internal control over financial reporting. Although Section 404 (b) of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act (“ Section 404 (b) ”) would require our independent registered public accounting




firm to issue an annual report that addresses the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, we have opted to rely on the exemptions provided in the JOBS Act,
and consequently will not be required to comply with the SEC rules that implement Section 404 (b) until such time as we are no longer an EGC. At such time, our independent
registered public accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our internal control over financial reporting is
documented, designed or operating. In order to comply with these rules, we expect to incur additional expenses and devote increased management effort. To maintain and
improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, we have committed, and will need to continue to commit, significant resources, hire additional staff and
provide additional management oversight. Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business.
Weaknesses in our disclosure controls or our internal control over financial reporting may be discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or
any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a
restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could also adversely affect the
results of management reports and independent registered public accounting firm audits of our internal control over financial reporting that we will eventually be required to
include in our periodic reports that will be filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures, and internal control over financial reporting could also cause
investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the market price of our Class A common stock. In
addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Any failure to maintain effective
disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting could have a material and adverse effect on our business and operating results, and cause a decline in the market
price of our Class A common stock. If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research reports
about our business, our share price and trading volume could decline. The trading market for our Class A common stock will-partially deperd-depends on the research and
reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us should
downgrade our shares or change their opinion of our business prospects, our share price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our company or
fails to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to decline. The loss of any
registered trademark or...... financial condition and results of operations. We rely on information technology systems and any inadequacy, failure, interruption , outage, or
seeurity-breaehes-integration issue of those systems may harm our ability to effectively operate our business. We are dependent on various information technology systems,
including, but not limited to, networks, applications and outsourced services in connection with the operation of our business. No operational applications are physically hosted
on our premises, although we do manage internal file servers. Most of our applications are operated in the cloud, either as Software as a Service (SaaS) platforms or hosted
services. Key third- party, cloud- based systems include NetSuite, an enterprise resource planning system used for executing purchase orders and other key operational and
accounting transactions; Microsoft OneBrive-Office 365 for document storing, sharing and collaboration; as well as other platforms , including Paylocity, to manage activities
including, but not limited to, payroll and personnel data. Supply plans are driven by our demand plan, both of which are updated monthly and as needed, using Smoothie, also a
SaaS application. A failure of our information technology systems to perform as we anticipate could disrupt our business and result in transaction errors, processing
inefficiencies and loss of sales, causing our business to suffer. In addition, our information technology systems may be vulnerable to damage or interruption from circumstances
beyond our control, including fire, natural disasters, systems failures, and / or viruses and-seeurity-breaehes-. Any such damage or interruption could have a material adverse
effect on our business. If we or any of our customers, suppliers, or vendors incur a security breach, data protection breach, or cyberattack, this could disrupt our
internal operations and negatively impact our revenue and cash flows, result in increased expenses, damage our reputation, and adversely affect our stock price. We
use computers in substantially all aspects of our business operations. We also use mobile devices, social networking, email, and other online activities to connect with our
employees, suppliers, contract manufacturers, distributors, customers and consumers. Such uses give rise to cybersecurity risks, including security breaches, espionage, system
disruption, theft and inadvertent release of information. Our business involves the storage and transmission of numerous classes of sensitive and / or confidential information,
including customers’ and suppliers” information, private information about employees and financial and strategic information about us and our business partners. Further, as we
pursue new initiatives that improve our operations and cost structure, we will also be expanding and improving our information technologies, resulting in a larger technological
presence and corresponding exposure to cybersecurity risk. If we fail to assess and identify cybersecurity risks associated with new initiatives, we may become increasingly
vulnerable to such risks . Such risks may involve r ware or other malicious software programs that exploit information security vulnerabilities . Additionally, we
have been subject to security breaches and cyber incidents in the past and our preventative measures and incident response efforts may not be entirely effective at preventing
future breaches. While we maintain cybersecurity insurance policies, our cybersecurity insurance carrier may challenge the coverage and leave us with payment out of pocket for
all costs associated with any such breach. In addition, the increase in certain of our employees working remotely has resulted in increased demand on our information technology
infrastructure, which can be subject to failure, disruption or unavailability, and increased vulnerability to cyberattacks and other cyber incidents. The theft, destruction, loss,
misappropriation, or release of sensitive and / or confidential information, or interference with our information technology systems or the technology systems of third parties on
which we rely, could result in business disruption, negative publicity, brand damage, violation of privacy laws, loss of customers, potential liability, remediation costs and
competitive disadvantage all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. We could also be required to spend
significant financial and other resources to remedy the damage caused by one of these events or to repair or replace networks and information systems. Our actual or perceived
failure to comply with privacy, data protection and information security laws, regulations and obligations could harm our business. We are subject to numerous federal, state,
local and international laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection, information security and the storing, sharing, use, processing, transfer, disclosure and protection
of personal information and other content and data, which we refer to collectively as privacy laws, the scope of which is changing, subject to differing interpretations and may be
inconsistent among US states, countries, or conflict with other laws, regulations or other obligations. We are also subject to the terms of our privacy policies and obligations to
our consumers, customers and other third parties related to privacy, data protection and information security. We strive to comply with applicable privacy laws; however, the
regulatory framework for privacy and data protection worldwide is, and is likely to remain for the foreseeable future, varied, and it is possible that these or other actual
obligations may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another. California also recently enacted legislation affording consumers
expanded privacy protections: the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, or CCPA, went into effect as of January 1, 2020 and was subject to enforcement starting July 1,
2020. Additionally, the California Attorney General issued CCPA regulations that add additional requirements on businesses. The potential effects of this legislation and the
related CCPA regulations may require us to incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply. For example, the CCPA gives California residents (including employees,
with the enactment of the California Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (“ CPRA ”)) expanded rights to transparency, access, correction, portability, and deletion of their personal
information, opt out of certain personal information selling and sharing and detailed information about how their personal information is collected and used. The CCPA also
provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for data breaches that may increase data breach litigation. The CPRA significantly modifies the
CCPA, potentially resulting in further uncertainty and requiring us to incur additional costs and expenses in efforts to comply. The enactment of the CCPA and CPRA is
prompting similar legislative developments in other states in the United States, which could create the potential for a patchwork of overlapping but different state laws, and is
inspiring federal legislation. For example, we are also subject to the privacy laws discussed under the section of this Annual Report captioned “ Business —
Government Regulation ” and various other state laws where we sell our products. Further, some countries also are considering or have passed legislation requiring local
storage and processing of data, or similar requirements, which could increase the cost and complexity of operating our products and services and other aspects of our business.
With laws and regulations such as the CCPA / CPRA imposing new and relatively burdensome obligations, and with substantial uncertainty over the interpretation and
application of these and other laws and regulations, there is a risk that the requirements of these or other laws and regulations, or of contractual or other obligations relating to
privacy, data protection or information security, are interpreted or applied in a manner that is, or is alleged to be, inconsistent with our management and processing practices, our
policies or procedures, or the features of our products and services. As a result, adverse developments with respect to these laws and regulations could have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. We rely on a variety of marketing techniques and practices, including email and social media marketing,
online targeted advertising, cookie- based processing, and postal mail to sell our products and services and to attract new consumers, and we, and our vendors, are subject to
various current and future data protection laws and data protection obligations that govern marketing and advertising practices. Governmental authorities continue to evaluate the
privacy implications inherent in the use of third- party “ cookies ” and other methods of online tracking for behavioral advertising and other purposes, such as by regulating the
level of consumer notice and consent required before a company can employ cookies or other electronic tracking tools or the use of data gathered with such tools. We may face
challenges in addressing their requirements and making any necessary changes to our policies and practices, and we may find it necessary or appropriate to assume additional
burdens with respect to data handling, to restrict our data processing or otherwise to modify our data handling practices and to incur significant costs and expenses in these
efforts. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with our privacy policies, our privacy, data protection or information security- related obligations to customers or other
third parties or any of our other legal obligations relating to privacy, data protection or information security may result in governmental investigations or enforcement actions,
litigation, claims or public statements against us by consumer advocacy groups or others, and could result in significant liability or cause our customers to lose trust in us, which
could have an adverse effect on our reputation and business. Furthermore, the costs of compliance with, and other burdens imposed by, the laws, regulations and policies that are
applicable to the businesses of our customers may limit the adoption and use of, and reduce the overall demand for, our products and services. Additionally, if third parties we
work with, such as vendors or developers, violate applicable laws or regulations or our contracts and policies, such violations may also put our customers’, suppliers or other
third parties’ content and personal information at risk and could in turn have an adverse effect on our business. Any significant change to applicable privacy laws or relevant
industry practices could increase our costs and require us to modify our platform, applications and features, possibly in a material manner, which we may be unable to complete
and may limit our ability to store and process customer data or develop new applications and features. There is no assurance that our current or any new security controls over
personal data, the training of employees and vendors on data privacy and data security, and the policies, procedures and practices we implemented or may implement in the
future will prevent the improper disclosure of personal data. Improper disclosure of personal data in violation of applicable personal data protection laws could harm our




reputation, cause loss of consumer confidence, subject us to government enforcement actions, or result in private litigation against us, any of which could result in loss of
revenue, increased costs, liability for monetary damages, fines and / or criminal prosecution, and could negatively affect our business and operating results . Any future
pandemi idemics, or other di outbreaks could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Any future
pandemics or epidemics may have an adverse impact on the global society, economies, ﬁnancml markets and consumer and business spending. In addition to the
impact on our distributors, contract manufacturers and their suppliers, any future pand s, epidemics, or other d outbreaks and related public health
measures could impact consumer preferences and demand for our products, government regulatlons and restrictions, transportation and route to market, and
availability of raw materials and thus may have a material impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition and such impact remains uncertain
and unpredictable . Risks Related to Our Indebtedness and Liquidity We may not be able to secure additional financing on favorable terms, or at all, to meet our future capital
needs, which may in turn impair our growth. We intend to continue to grow our business, which may require additional capital to develop new products or enhance our platform,
expand distribution, improve our operating infrastructure or finance working capital requirements. Accordingly, we may need to engage in additional equity or debt financings to
secure additional capital. If we raise additional funds through future issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution,
and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our Class A common stock. Any debt financing that we
secure in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for
us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities. If we are unable to secure additional funding on favorable terms, or at all, when we require it, our ability to
continue to grow our business to react to market conditions could be impaired and our business may be harmed. Covenants in our credit facility could adversely impact our
operations Our asset- based credit facility contains a liquidity covenant that requires-required us to maintain liquidity of $ 7 . 0 million at all times until December 31, 2023.
Thereafter, we must satisfy a financial covenant requiring a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1. 00 to 1. 00 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter following the
occurrence of certain events of default that are continuing or any day on which availability under the credit facility is less than the greater of $ 3 . 0 million and 17. 5 % of the
borrowing base, and must again satisfy such financial covenant as of the last day of each fiscal quarter thereafter until such time as there are no events of default and availability
has been above such threshold for 30 consecutive days. The agreement governing our credit facility also contains, among other things, customary representations, warranties and
default provisions and customary restrictions on making investments, incurring indebtedness, prepaying junior debt, granting liens and making stockholder distributions. The
terms of our credit facility may restrict our current and future operations and could adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs or to execute
business strategies in the means or manner desired. In addition, complying with these covenants may make it more difficult for us to successfully execute our business strategy,
invest in our growth strategy and compete against companies who are not subject to such restrictions. We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow or sales to meet the
financial covenant or pay the principal or interest owed under our credit facility. If we are unable to comply with our payment requirements, our lender may accelerate our
obligations under our credit facility and foreclose upon the collateral, or we may be forced to sell assets, restructure our indebtedness or seek additional equity capital, which
would dilute our stockholders’ interests. If we fail to comply with our covenants under our credit facility, it could result in an event of default under the agreement and our lender
could, among other things, make the entire debt immediately due and payable. If this occurs, we might not be able to repay our debt or borrow sufficient funds to refinance it.
Even if new financing is available, it may not be on terms that are favorable to us. Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments None. Item 1C. Cybersecurity We recognize the
critical importance of maintaining the safety and security of our systems and data and have a holistic process for assessing, identifying, and managing material risks
from cybersecurity threats. This process is supported by both management and our Board of Directors. To prevent, detect, mitigate, and remediate information
security threats, including a cybersecurity incident and / or threat, we maintain a cyber risk manag t process ged by our Senior Vice President, Operations
(“ SVP, Operations ) who reports to our CEO. The SVP, Operations works with the Vice President, Deputy General Counsel (“ Legal ) on cybersecurity strategy,
policy, training, standards, architecture, and pr ‘We have invested, and expect to continue to invest, in resources for the protection and safeguarding of our
information technology systems, including, but not limited to, networks, applications, and outsourced technology services in connection with the operation of our
business. These resources are designed to detect and respond to cyber incidents that may result in unauthorized access to, ransomware, damages, or destruction of,
our information and sy Risk Manag t and Strategy Cybersecurity risk is a direct responsibility of g t and the Company’ s information technology
(“IT ”) team. Working cross- functionally with Legal, our SVP, Operations oversees the IT team that regularly monitors and assesses cybersecurity risks, implements
measures designed to mitigate such risks and their associated effects on the Company and personal data collected, stored, and processed in our systems, and manages
our information security training and cybersecurity awareness program. We consider cybersecurity, along with other significant risks that we face, within our overall
enterprise risk g t fr k. Our approach to cybersecurity risk management includes the following: « Multi- Layered Defense and Monitoring — We
work to protect our computing environments from cybersecurity threats through multi- layered defi and ing efforts to identify cybersecurity threats, and
to help prevent future attacks. We utilize data analytics systems to detect anomalies and identify cyber threats. From time to time, we engage third- party consultants
or other advisors to assist in assessing, identifying, and / or managing cybersecurity threats. We also periodically use our internal audit partner to conduct additional
reviews and assessments. * Insider Threats — We maintain organizational controls such as limited access, and access removal for terminated employees, designed to
minimize insider threats, and address potential risks from within our Company. Our measures and controls are informed by industry practices, and designed to be
consistent with applicable law, including privacy and other considerations. * Third Party Risk Assessments — We conduct privacy and information security risk
assessments before sharing or allowing the hosting of sensitive data in computing envir t d by third parties. * Training and Awareness — We provide
awareness training to our employees to help identify, avoid and mitigate cybersecurity threats. Our employees with network access are required to participate
annually in training, including phishing simulations and other awareness training. We also periodically host tabletop exercises with management and other employees
to practice rapid cyber incident response. * Supplier Engagement — Our standard terms and conditions contain contractual provisions requiring that our third- party
suppliers disclose to us the technical and organizational measures they maintain, the standards and certifications by which they are evaluated for information and
cyber security, and their cybersecurity insurance protection level. We seek to mitigate risk by evaluating the foregoing against any potential cyber- related risks
depending on the nature of the services being provided. Governance Our Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing our enterprise risk management activities in
general, and each of our Board committees assists the Board in the role of risk oversight. The Nominating and Enterprise Risk Management (“ NERM ) Committee
of the Board of Directors specifically assists the Board in its oversight of risks related to cybersecurity. In accordance with its charter, the NERM Committee receives
regular reports at each of its quarterly meetings from management, including the SVP, Operations. Such reporting includes updates on the Company’ s cybersecurity
program, information security matters, the evolving cybersecurity threat environment, applicable privacy law compliance, and the Company’ s mitigation plans and
evolving mitigation strategy. The Chair of the NERM Committee regularly reports to the Board of Directors on cybersecurity risks and other related matters. In
addition, both the NERM Committee and the Audit Committee, in a joint meeting, receive an update on the Company’ s risk management process and the risk trends
related to cybersecurity at least annually. Management reports to the NERM Committee and / or the Board of Directors in between meetings as appropriate regarding
any significant cyber events. To date we have not identified any cybersecurity threat or incident that has materially affected the Company or our fi ial position,
results of operations and / or cash flows, but we face certain ongoing cybersecurity risk threats that, if realized, are reasonably likely to materially affect us. We
continue to invest in the cybersecurity and resiliency of our networks and enhance our internal controls and processes, which are designed to help protect our systems
and infrastructure, and the information they contain. For more information regarding the risks we face from cybersecurity threats, please see Part I, Item 1A. « Risk
Factors ” included in this Annual Report. Item 2. Properties Our corporate headquarters offices are located in Encino, California and consists of approximately 20, 185
squdxc feet of leased pfepeﬁyspace pursuant to a lcasg that expires on December v] 2026. W cpﬁmaﬂl—}ﬂltllln third- party distribution networks. Puring202+-we-purchaseda
h ANSY P P $ ton—We believe that our current facilities are suitable and adequate to meet
our uuanl mul\% We continue to udlualu oppmlumllu fefexpaﬂsm&lo support our future plans for growth and cost reduction. We Hradditien;we-believe that
additional or alternative space to support future use and expansion will be available on reasonable commercial terms. Item 3. Legal Proceedings We are not subject to any
material legal proceedings. Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures. Not applicable. PART II Item 5. Market for Registrant” s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities Market Information for Class A Common Stock Our Class A common stock has been listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
ZVIA ” since July 22, 2021. Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for our Class A common stock. Our Class B common stock is neither listed nor traded.
Holders of Record As of Mareh+February 29 , 2023-2024 , there were +8-18 holders of record of our Class A common stock. The actual number of stockholders is greater than
this number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees. As of Mareh+
February 29 , 2623-2024 , there were 5442 holders of record of our Class B common stock. Dividend Policy We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital
stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and future earnings and we have no present intention to pay cash dividends on our common stock. We may enter into
credit agreements or other borrowing arrangements in the future that w ill restrict our ability to declare or pay cash dividends or make distributions on our capital stock. Any
determination to pay dividends to holders of our common stock will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon many factors, including our financial
condition, results of operations, projections, liquidity, earnings, legal requirements, restrictions in our existing and any future debt agreements and other factors that our board of
directors deems relevant. Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities Hse-ef Preeeeds-and-Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities Item 6. [ Reserved ] Item 7. MANAGEMENT’ S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS. The following discussion contains forward- looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial
statements and the related notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report enFerm—+0-¥&-. Our actual results may differ materially from those
discussed in the forward- looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth in Part I, Item 1A. “ Risk Factors ” and other sections of this Annual Report
enrFerar10-I-. The financial data discussed below reflects the historical results of operations and financial position of the Company. References in this Annual Report to




Zevia, ” the “ Company, ” “ we, ” “ us, ” and *“ our ” refer (1) prior to the consummation of the Reorganization Transactions, to Zevia LLC, and (2) after the consummation of
the Reorganization Transactions, to Zevia PBC and its consolidated subsidiaries unless the context indicates otherwise. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the
results that may be expected for any period in the future. Overview We are a high—growth beverage company that develops, markets, sells, and distributes great tasting, zero
sugar beverages made with simple, plant- based ingredients. We are a Delaware public benefit corporation and have been designated as a “ Certified B Corporation, ” and are
focused on addressing the global health challenges resulting from excess sugar consumption by offering a broad portfolio of zero sugar, zero calorie, naturally sweetened
beverages. All Zevia ® beverages are Non- GMO Project verified, gluten- free, Kosher, vegan and zero sodium and include a variety of flavors across Soda, Energy Drinks,
Organic Tea, Mixers;-and ¥idzKids drinks. Our products are distributed and sold principally across the U. S. and Canada through a diverse network of major retailers in the
food, drug, warehouse club, mass, natural and e- commerce channels and in grocery and natural product stores and specialty outlets. We believe that consumers increasingly
select beverage products based on taste, ingredients and fit with today’ s consumer preferences, which has benefited the Zevia ® brand and resulted in over ene-1. 9 billion cans
of Zevia sold to date. Key Events During 1PO-and-Reorganization-Transaetions-OnJuly26;2621-2023 During 2023 . we eompleted-implemented certain initiatives
designed to transform our operations HPO-ef Class-A—eommen-steek;-in order to help support our continued growth, enhance our customer service, and drive
efficiencies. Durlng the second third, and fourth quarters, in connectlon w1th those lmtlatlves, we faced short- term supply chain loglstlcs challenges which hlndered
fulfillment W A v

S results e%@per&ﬂons—Asand selling and marketlng expenses in these quarters,
specifically freight and warehousmg costs as a result ol increased lnventory production levels, leading to higher storage and production costs. We implemented
measures that addressed these challenges and restored service levels to previous levels, including changes in the supply chain organization and leadership, pausing
certain actions of our supply chain transition, and further automation of inventory reporting and processing for greater visibility. We also introduced a number-of
faetors-brand refresh during the year . bringing a new logo and brand identity, in order to improve on- shelf visibility and continue to support our histerieatrestlts
growth. This initiative included the optimization of eperations-the brand portfolio and the discontinuation of selected SKUs as we continue to drive focus on our
h1ghest potentlal products. Durlng the fourth quarter of 2023 we made a strategic change in how our products arc manufactured neteomparable-fromperiod-to-period
ay be-comparable-te f a o ons e-pe s-. Set-Beginning in the first quarter of 2024, our contract manufacturers are responsible
feﬁl% for the procurement wva%mW)t raw materlals to produce our products, which are the-then sold to us key—tbe%efs—mpaemg—theeempafabihty—of

ed-as fini

should allow us to leverage the purchasmg power kSHsshalHest—effeefweﬂﬁ»t soeh—eh&ﬂgefrf—eontrol—ofour contract manufacturers ﬁﬁﬂﬂ&efveﬂt—ofﬂﬁand further

trelyattributa Us-aird + : awards-, as \ull as enable us w1thefher—» the ﬂex1b1hty outstaﬂdxﬂg—l%SUs—:ssued—pﬁoHo scale th HPo
business . As-We also onboarded a new global transportation t pany in the first quarter of Peeember31;2022-2024 ;-to support the optimization of the
procurement of freight and iated freight g t activities to improve our cost management. We believe both of the-these changes remaining-tunamertized-fair

value—ef—the«l%SU—awafd&\\ ill befeeogmze&better optlmlze our supply cham in order to help support future growth and drive i mcreasmg returns as we scale eqtﬂty-

Allu,lm" Om Per lUlmdn\,L Mauouonomm l—n\ nonmwl In addltlon to Theglebal—eeoﬂomy—mehidmgrlhc emergenee-of

o y g-supply chain challenges discussed above, a number of external factors,
mcludmg the global economy, global health emergencles, mﬂatlonary pressures, relatlvely high interest rates, volatility in the financial markets, recession fears,
financial institution instability, any potential shutdown of the U. S. government, global hostilities, including the military conflicts in Ukraine and Israel and the
surrounding areas, and political tensions between the U. S. and China have impacted and may continue to impact transportation, labor shertages-, have-led-to-broad-
based-inflation-in-input-eosts;ogisties;manufaeturing-and faber-commodity costs. During the year ended December 31, 292%2023 \\c contlnued toexpeﬁenee& experlence
supplyehamfeﬂstramt&shghtly hlgher operatlng costs, including logistics, manufacturing and labor costs, which a-sig a

ar—These ve-created-headwindsfo preduets-that-we cxpect to continue into 2023-2024 . These mﬂa&oﬁwpms\uus have dIld are L\PLCIL(l to continue to
unpau our margins dnd operating l:‘\lllt\ We, alon" with our competitors, have increased pricing on a number of products in response to widespread inflation. These pricing
increases may result in future reductions in volume. The following summarizes the components of our results of operations for the 's ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
and-2021-, respectively. Components of Our Results of Operations Net Sales We generate net sales from the sales of our products, including Soda, Energy Drinks, Organic Tea,
Mixers;-and KidzKids drinks, to our customers, which include grocery distributors, national retailers, natural products retailers, warchouse club retailers and retailers with c-
commerce channels, in the U. S. and Canada. We offer our customers sales incentives that are designed to support the distribution of our products to consumers. These
incentives include discounts, trade promotions, price allowances and product placement fees. The amounts for these incentives are deducted from gross sales to arrive at our net
sales. The following factors and trends in our business have driven net sales grewth-over the past two years and are expected to continue to be key drivers of our net sales growth
for the foreseeable future: « leveraging our platform and mission to grow brand awareness, increase velocity and expand our consumer base; ¢ continuing to grow our strong
relationships across our retailer network and retain and expand distribution amongst new and existing channels, both in- store and online; and * continuous innovation efforts,
enhancement of existing products, and introduction of additional flavors within existing categories, as well as entering into new categories. We expect both new distribution and
increased organic sales from existing outlets and pricing strategies to contribute to our future growth ; geing-ferward;-however , sales levels in any given period may continue
to be impacted by seasonality and-, increased level of competition, customers efforts to manage inventory , and our ability to fulfill customer demands . We sell our products
in the U. S. and Canada, direct to retailers and also through distributors. We do not have short- or long- term sales commitments with our customers. Cost of Goods Sold Cost of
goods sold consists of all costs to acquire and manufacture our products, including the cost of ingredients, raw materials, packaging, in- bound freight and logistics and third-
party production fees. Our cost of goods sold is subject to price fluctuations in the marketplace, particularly in the price of aluminum and other raw materials, as well as in the
cost of production, packaging, in- bound freight and logistics. Our results of operations depend on our contract manufacturers ability to arrange for the purchase of raw
nmtemls and the pmduntmn of our uoductx in sufficient qu.umnes at u)mpetm\e pmex We hd\e long- term contracts w 1th LCII.I]I] sup 7l1e|s of stevia and certamalummufﬁ

pmt\ fnﬂﬂufaefurefs—We—have&eﬂg-eterm—eeﬂtrﬂetsﬁ contract with—eeﬁmmmnulaumus governing quahty control regulatory comphance, pricing and olhu tums but Ihuo
contracts generally do not guarantee any minimum preduetion-velumes-en-the-purchase commitments to our third- part-party contract efthe-manufacturers . Beginning the
first quarter of 2024, our third- party contract manufacturers procure packaging and ingredient materials to manufacture our products according to our submitted

rolling forecasts, with the initial three months of each forecast generally constituting our purchase commitment . We cxpect our cost of goods sold to increase in absolute
dollars as our volume increases. We elected to classify shipping and lmn(llm“ costs for sdldhle pmduet oumde of cost of ﬂoods sold in sellma dlltl mdll(etlll“ expenses m our
consolidated statements of operations and (,t)lﬂpl(,l]\.nsl\t, Io\\ A g
handling costs as a component of cost of goods sold -
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An . Gross Profit Gross profit consists of our net sales less costs of
()ods sold. Our gross proht and gross margin are dffected by the mix ()fdlsmbun(m chdnnels of our net sales in each period, as well as the level of discounts and promotions
offered during the period. Gross profit may be favorably impacted by leveraging our asset- light business model and through increased distribution direct to retailers, the
increased scale of our business and our continued focus on cost and efficiency improvements rpartielarty-inoursapply-ehain. Operating Expenses Selling and Marketing
Expenses Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of warchousing and distribution costs and advertising and marketing expenses. Warchousing and distribution costs
include storage, transfer, repacking and handling fees and out- bound freight and delivery charges. Advertising and marketing expenses consist of variable costs associated with
production and media buying of marketing programs and trade events , as well as sampling and in- store demonstration costs . Sclling and marketing expenses also includes
the incremental costs of obtaining contracts, such as sales commissions. Our selling and marketing expenses are expected to muedse in absolute dolldrs in the long- term . both
as a result of the increased warehousing and distribution costs resulting from increased net sales 5w v
improvements-inour-supply-ehain-and as a result of increased focus on marketing programs / spend , whlch we expect to be partlally offset by our contmued focus on cost
improvements in our supply chain. Our selling expenses are expected to decrease in the short- term compared to the prior year as a result of the historical supply chain
logistics challenges encountered during 2023 — refer to the Key Events During 2023 section above for additional information . General and Administrative Expenses
General and Administrative inistrative expenses include all salary and other personnel expenses (other than equity- based compensation expense) for our employees,
including employees related to management, marketing, sales, product development, quality control, accounting, information technology and other functions. Our general and
administrative expenses are expected to grow in absolute dollars but decline as a percentage of net sales over time. Equity- Based Compensation Expense Equity- based
compensation expense consists of the recorded expense of equity- based compensation for our employees and , if any, for certain consultants and service providers who are non-
employees. We record equity- based compensation expense for employee grants using grant date fair value for RSUs or a Black- Scholes valuation model to calculate the fair

value of stock options by date granted. Equity- based compensation cost for RSU awards is measured based on the closing fair market value of the Zevia LLC Class B unit or the
Zevia PBC Class A common stock, as dppllcdblc on the date of grant. Ourever—t-lme—we-e*peet-ethqult\ bdscd compcnsatlon expense is expected to remain relatlvely
consistent in absolute dollars hut decllne S 0

----- 0 conee a . Depreciation and Amortization Depreciation is primarily related mbu-rld-mg—and—rel-&ted—imprevemeﬁts;

Lomputex equipment, quality control and marketing equipment, and leasehold improvements. Intangible assets subject to amortization consist of customer relationships and
software applications. Non- amortizable intangible assets consist of trademarks, which represent the Company’ s exclusive ownership of the Zevia ® brand used in connection
with the manufacturing, marketing, and distribution of its beverages. We also own several other trademarks in both the U. S. and in foreign countries. Depreciation and
amortization expense is expected to increase in- line with ongoing capital expenditures as our business grows. Other income {expense}-, net Other income fexpense)-, net consists
primarily of interest income (expense), and foreign currency (loss) gains. The following table sets forth selected items in our consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss for the periods presented: Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except per share amounts) Net sales $ 166, 424 $ 163, 181 $438;3+72-Cost of goods sold
91, 666 93, 160 74;-23+-Gross profit 74, 758 70, 021 63;-94+-Operating expenses: Selling and marketing 62, 312 52, 869 45;430-General and administrative 31, 495 36, 793 2%
53+6-Equity- based compensation 8, 279 26, 880 F4724-Depreciation and amortization 1, 615 1, 347 Total operating expenses 103, 701 117, 889 +5+:367Loss from operations
(28,943) (47, 868 H8%426-) Other income fexpense)-, net 207-Loss before income taxes ( 28, 270) (47, 582 H8%-633-) Provision for income taxes ¢653H-34-Net loss and
comprel lcnsl\c loss (28, 322) ( 47 647 (-8-7—Loss attrlbutable to noncontrollmg mterest 6 6679—828 13, 790 Net loss attributable to Zevia H-C-priorto-the Reorganization
e b via-PBC $ (21, 494) $( 33,857 )—$—(4§—98-6—) Net loss per share
R o

----------- A 6 anetal-Sta ) The tollmxmg ub]c presents selected mm\ in our consolidated statements of operations and
LO]TlpthLn\l\L loss asa pc1ccnla;c of net sales for the respective periods presented. Percentages may not sum due to rounding: Year Ended December 31, Net sales % % Cost of
goods sold % % Gross profit % % Operating expenses Selling and marketing % % General and administrative % % Equity- based cnmpensdtmn % % Depreciation and
um()rtizution % % Total ()perutm(v expenses % % Loss from operations ( 17) % (29 ¥%63-) % Other income texpense)-, net % % Loss before i income taxes ( 17) % (29 Y%
£63-) % Provision for income taxes @)%&)—Net—loss—&nd—eompfeheﬂsive—less—(%%%{rééﬁ-m Net loss and comprehensive loss (17)

ReerganizationTransaetions-% (29) % Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest % % Net loss attributable to Zevia PBC (13) % (21 3%-33-) % Year Ended December 31,
2622-2023 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 20242022 Year Ended December 31, Change (in thousands) Amount Pu’ccnlagc Net sales $ 166,424 $ 163, 181 $ 4383,
243 2 +72-$-25:-00948-. -0 % Net sales were $ 463-166 . 2-4 million for the year ended Dcccmbu 31, 20222023 as compared to $ +38-163 . 2 million for the year ended
December 31, 26242022 . Equivalized cases sold were 43-12 . 6-7 million for the year ended Decembe1 31, 2622-2023 as compared to +2-13 . 3-6 million for the year ended
December 31, 20242022 . Net sales growth was primarily driven by pricing the+6-—7Y%-inerease-increases of$ 11 5 mllllon, partlally offset by a decrease in the numbex of
equivalized cases sold that resulted in sineluding-organie-growthof-S +4-8 . 3 million lower net sales , new-d A
4—5-millien-which was mainly caused by short- term supply chain logistics challenges hindering fulfillment dlscussed in the Key Events Durlng 2023 sectlon above \\ e
define an equivalized case as a 288 fluid ounce case. Year Ended December 31, Change (in thousands) Amount Percentage Cost of goods sold $ 91, 666 $ 93, 160 $ 74-(1, 494)
(123+$18;92925-. 5-6) % Cost of goods sold was $93-91 . 2-7 million for the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 as compared to$ -74—93 2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024-2022 . The inerease-decrease of $ 48-1 . 9-5 million, or 25-1 . 5-6 %, was primarily due toa 6.9 %, or high
$ -l-l—6 4 million decrease in the shipment of equivalized cases and $ 0 . 4 million lower #-highercost of goods sold as s-and-a H%—mefeae&m—bhe—shnpmeﬂt—ef

-- result #n-of product mix and manufacturing costs, partially offset by higher inventory losses of $ 7-5 . 9-3 million in-higher-eests-generally
related to raw materials as a result of geeds-seld-the brand refresh rollout timing, discontinuation of certain SKUs as a result of portfolio management optimization,
and the procurement change with our contract manufacturers discussed in the Key Events During 2023 section above . Gross Profit and Gross Margin Year Ended
December 31, Change (in thousands) Amount Percentage Gross profit $ 74, 758 $ 70, 021 $ 63-4 , 737 94+-$-6 7-080-9-. 5-8 % Gross margin 42-44 . 9 % 4642 . 3-9 % 2. 0 Gross
profit was $ 78-74 . -8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 as compared to $ 6370 . 9-0 million for the year ended December 31, 20242022 . The increase in
gross profit of $ 4. 7 million, or 6. 8 +mithen-er9-5-%, was primarily driven by pricing increases taken in 2022 and 2023, partially offset by lower volumes and higher net
sates-inventory losses. Gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2023 improved to 44. 9 % from 42. 9 % in the prior- year period. The improvement was
primarily due to pricing increases taken in 2022 and 2023 , partially offset by higher inventory losses eest-ofgoodsseld-. Gross-margin-Year Ended December 31, Change
(in thousands) Amount Percentage Selllng and marketmg expenses $ 62 3128 52 869 $ 9 443 17 9 % Selling and marketing expenses were $ 62. 3 million for the year

ended Decembel 31, %922—2023 h as— as comparedp&nﬂaﬁly&&ue—toﬂae—mpﬁet—e#mﬂ&&eﬂaﬁﬂﬁeﬁt&es

$ 52. 9 million for the yuu ended December 31, 2022 4 . The increase
of $ 79 . F4 million , or 17. 49 %, was fargety-primarily due to $ 3-6 . 0 million a-of higher trcwht transfer costs relate to short- term supply cham loglstlcs challenges
hindering fulfillment discussed in the Key Events During 2023 section above, and $ 5. 3 million higher warchousing costs as-atesuitresulting of from mefeases-mcreased
level of handllng m—eqaﬁahzed-eases-}mdﬂeedﬁmd seld—storage costs which were driven by higher levels repaeking-fees-of inventory production $-2-—7mittion-,
were-partially offsct by a decrease in freight out of $ 1. 3 million that resulted from lower
shlpments of equ1vallzed cases and a uduumn ol non- wor kmg marketing costs offset by higher spend related to the brand- refresh rollout of $ +-0 . 5-6 million. General
and Administrative Expenses Year Ended December 31, Change (in thousands) Amount Percentage General and administrative expenses $ 31,495 $ 36, 793 $ 27-(5 , 298) (14
5165927733~ 74) % General and administrative expenses were $ 36-31 . 8-5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 as compared to $ 27-36 . 5-8 million for the
year ended December 31,2024+2022 . The mereas&decrease of $9-5 . 3 million, or 33-14 . 4 %, was pnmanly driven bv a$2. 6 mllhon decrease in employee related costs,

nrelated to outstdndm" equity- based awards being
1cmunuul over lhc remaining service periods of the awards. The decrease of §$ 18. 6 mllllon was prlmarlly drlven by $ 11. 2 million of lower Equity-equity - based
compensation expense was-due to the acceleration of vesting of RSU awards upon retirement of senior management employees during 2022, $ 77-5. 9 million of expense
related to the accelerated method of expense recognition on certain equity awards issued in tion with the Comp y’ s IPOin 2021, and $ 2 . 7 million related to

RSU awards-and restricted phantom stock awards that generatty-vested over six months following the IPO in the prior year,
partially offset by $ 1. 2 mllhon of equlty- based compensation expense related to new equity awards granted . Scasonality Generally, we experience greater demand for
our products during the second and third fiscal quarters, which correspond to the warmer months of the year in our major markets. As our business continues to grow, we expect
to see continued seasonality effects, with net sales tending to be greater in the second and third quarters of the year. Liquidity and Capital Resources As of December 31, 2022



2023, we had $ 4732 . 4-0 million in cash and cash equivalents. We believe that our cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2622-2023 , together with our operating
activities and available borrowings under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit (as defined below) , will provide adequate liquidity for ongoing operations, planned capital
expenditures and other investments beyond the next 12 months. Our principal sources of liquidity are our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash generated from sales of our
products, and borrowing capacity currently available under our Secured Revolving Line of Credit. Our primary cash needs are for operating expenses, working capital , and
capital expenditures to support the growth in our business. Future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our rate of revenue growth, gross margin and the
level of expenditures in all areas of the Company. In future years, we may experience an increase in operating and capital expenditures from time to time, as needed, as we
expand business activitics and-nerease-headeount-to-promete-growth- To the extent that existing capital resources and sales growth are not sufficient to fund future activities, we
may seek alternative financing through additional equity or debt financing transactions. Additional funds may not be available on terms favorable to us or at all. Also, we will
continue to assess our liquidity needs in light of current and future global health emergencies, inflationary pressures, relatively high interest rates, volatility in the financial
markets, recession fears, financial institution instability, any potential shutdown of the U. S. government, current and future global hostilitics inrEasternEurepe-, and
political tensions between the U. S. and China that may continue to disrupt and impact the global and national economies and global financial markets. If the-amy disruption
continues into the future, we may not be able to access the financial markets and could experience an inability to access additional capital, which could negatively affect our
operations in tht. future. Failure to raise additional capltal if and when nccdcd could hau. a matcrlal adverse effect on our financial posmon results of opcratmm and cash
flows. The we-had-finaneed 0 f

v g : he-Company beeame-is a holding company and with-ne-eperations-ofits— is ewn-the sole
managmg member of Zev1a LLC. The Company operates and controls all of the business and affairs of Zevia LLC . Accordingly, the Company is wiltbe-dependent on
distributions from Zevia LLC to pay its taxes, its obligations under the TRA and other expenses. Any future credit facilities may impose limitations on the ability of Zevia LLC
to pay dividends to the Company. In connection with the IPO and the Reorganization Transactions in July 2021 , the Direct Zevia Stockholders and certain continuing members
of Zevia LLC received the right to receive future payments pursuant to the TRA. The amount payable under the TRA will be based on an annual calculation of the reduction in
our U. S. federal, state and local taxes resulting from the utilization of certain pre- IPO tax attributes and tax benefits resulting from sales and exchanges by continuing members
of Zevia LLC. See “ Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions — Tax Receivable Agreement ” included in the prospectus dated July 21, 2021 and filed with the SEC
on July 23, 2021. We expect that the payments that we may be required to make under the TRA may be substantial. Assuming no material changes in the relevant tax law and
that we earn sufficient taxable income to realize all tax benefits that are subject to the TRA, we expect that the reduction in tax payments for us associated with the federal, state
and local tax benefits described above would aggregate to approximately $ 65-66 . 71 million through 2037. Under such scenario we would be required to pay the Direct Zevia
Stockholders and certain continuing members of Zevia LLC 85 % of such amount, or $ 55-56 . -2 million through 2037. The actual amounts may materially differ from these
hypothetical amounts, as potential future reductions in tax payments for us and TRA payments by us will be calculated using prevailing tax rates applicable to us over the life of
the TRA and will be dependent on us generating sufficient future taxable income to realize the benefit. We cannot reasonably estimate future annual payments under the TRA
given the difficulty in determining those estimates as they are dependent on a number of factors, including the extent of exchanges by continuing Zevia LLC unitholders, the
associated fair value of the underlying Zevia LLC units at the time of those exchanges, the tax rates applicable, our future income, and the associated tax benefits that might be
realized that would trigger a TRA payment requirement. However, a significant portion of any potential future payments under the TRA is anticipated to be payable over 15
years, consistent with the period over which the associated tax deductions would be realized by us, assuming Zevia LLC generates sufficient income to utilize the deductions. If
sufficient income is not generated by Zevia LLC, the associated taxable income of Zevia will be impacted and the associated tax benefits to be realized will be limited, thereby
similarly reducing the associated TRA payments to be made. Given the length of time over which payments would be payable, the impact to liquidity in any single year is
greatly reduced. Although the timing and extent of future payments could vary significantly under the TRA for the factors discussed above, we anticipate funding payments from
the TRA from cash flows generated from operations. Credit Facility ABL Credit Facility On February 22, 2022, we obtained a revolving credit facility (the “ Secured Revolving
Line of Credit* ) by entering into a Loan and Security Agreement with Bank of America, N. A (the “ Loan and Security Agreement ) . Under the Secured Revolving Line
of Credit, we may draw funds up to an amount not to exceed the lesser of (i) a $ 20 million revolving commitment and (ii) a borrowing base which is comprised of inventory and
receivables. Up to $ 2 million of the Secured Revolving Line of Credit may be used for letter of credit issuances with the option to increase the commitment under the Secured
Revolving Line of Credit by up to $ 10 million, subject to certain conditions. The Secured Revolving Line of Credit matures on February 22, 2027. Fhere-have-beer-As of
December 31, 2023, no amounts were drawn frem-under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit. The Secured Revolving Line of Credit is secured by a first priority security
interest in substantially all of the Company -” s assets. Loans under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit bear interest based on either, at our option, the Bloomberg Short- Term
Bank Yield Index rate plus an applicable margin between 1. 50 % to 2. 00 % or the Base Rate (customarily defined) plus an applicable margin between 0. 50 % to 1. 00 % with
margin, in each case, determined by the average daily availability under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit. We-arerequired-under-Under the Secured Revolving Line of
Credit , we are required to comply with certain covenants, including, among others, by maintaining Liquidity (as defined therein) of $ 7 million at all times until December 31,
2023. Thereafter, we must satisfy a financial covenant requiring a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1. 00 to 1. 00 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter following the
occurrence of certain events of default that are continuing or any day on which availability under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit is less than the greater of $ 3 million and
17. 5 % of the borrowing base, and must again satisfy such financial covenant as of the last day of each fiscal quarter thereafter until such time as there are no events of default
and availability has been above such threshold for 30 consecutive days. As of December 31, 2022-2023 , the Company was in compliance with its liquidity covenant. Cash Flows
The following table presents the major components of net cash flows from and used in operating, investing and financing activities for the periods indicated. Twelve Months
Ended December 31, (in thousands) Cash (used in) provided by: Operating activities $ (16, 274) $ (20, 778 3$-(37-866-) Investing activities $ $ 27, 407 $33;443)Financing
activities $ §(2, 340) $795423-Net Cash Used in Operating Activities Our cash flows used in operating activities are primarily influenced by working capital requirements. Net
cash used in operating activities of $ 16. 3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 was primarily driven by a net loss of $ 28. 3 million, partially offset by non- cash
expenses of $ 11. 0 million primarily related to equity- based compensation and depreciation and amortization expense and a net increase in cash related to changes in
operating assets and liabilities of $ 1. 0 million. Changes in cash flows related to operating assets and liabilities were primarily due to a net increase of $ 11. 2 million in
accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities due to timing of purchases / payments and increased production of inventory, partially offset by an
increase in inventories of $ 7. 0 million due to increased production of inventory as a result of the supply chain logistics challenges discussed in the Key Events During
2023, and an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of $ 2. 6 million, primarily due to an increase in prepaid deposits related to the sale of raw materials. Net
cash used in operating activities of $ 20. 8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 was primarily driven by a net loss of $ 47. 6 million and by a net decrease in cash
related to changes in operating assets and liabilities of $ 2. 1 million, partially offset by non- cash expenses of $ 28. 9 million primarily related to equity- based compensation and
depreciation and amortization expense. Changes in cash flows related to operating assets and liabilities were primarily due to an increase in accounts receivable of $ 2. 0 million
due to increases in net sales and a decrease in accounts in accounts payable and accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $ 4. 1 million, primarily due to timing of
inventory pulthdbtb partially offset by decrease in inventories of § 3. 9 million due to timing of mwnlory lethdsLb and a$0.8 mllllon doerease in prepaid expenses and other
assets, pnmarlly insurance upcnses asa rusu]l ot buomm ¢ a public wlnpanv Nel eash v year-ended-Deeembe a

ash Provlded by Msedim-Inv eslm" Acuvmus Net eash prowded by investing activities of 82-7'-0 4-8 mllhon for the year
ended December 31, 2023 was due to proceeds from sales of property, equipment, and software of $ 2. 4 million, primarily the sale of our warehouse and related assets
for $ 2. 3 million, partially offset by capital expenditures of $ 1. 6 million for the purchase of marketing fixtures, software applications and computer equipment used
in ongoing operations. Net cash provided by investing activities of $ 27. 4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 was primarity-due to proceeds from maturities of
short- term investments of § 30. 0 million, offset by capital expenditures of $ 2. 6 million for the purchase of marketing fixtures, software applications and computer equipment
used in ongoing operations. Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities Net cash ﬁsed-rn—m#est-mg—prowded by fmancmg aoln mes 01 $ 25 thousand 3—3—1—m1-1-1-teﬁ
(or the year ended Dcccmbcr 31, 292—1—2023 was prnﬂaﬂl-y—duo to proceeds from payi




mithen. Non- GAAP Financial Measures We repoﬁ our ﬁnanc1al results in accordance Wlth U-S—U. S. GAAP However managemem beheves that Adjusted EBITDA a non-
GAAP financial measure, provides investors with additional useful information in evaluating our operating performance. We calculate Adjusted EBITDA as net loss adjusted to
exclude: (1) other income (expense), net, which includes interest (income) expense, foreign currency (gains) losses, and (gains) losses on disposal of fixed assets, (2) provision
(benefit) for income taxes, (3) depreciation and amortization, and (4) equity- based compensation. Alse, Adjusted EBITDA may in the future alse-be adjusted for amounts
impacting net income related to the TRA liability and other infrequent and unusual transactions. Adjusted EBITDA is a financial measure that is not required by, or presented in
accordance with BS-U. S. GAAP. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA, when taken together with our financial results presented in accordance with BS-U. S. GAAP, provides
meaningful supplemental information regarding our operating performance and facilitates internal comparisons of our historical operating performance on a more consistent
basis by excluding certain items that may not be indicative of our business, results of operations or outlook. In particular, we believe that the use of Adjusted EBITDA is helpful
to our investors as it is a measure used by management in assessing the health of our business, determining incentive compensation and evaluating our operating performance, as
well as for internal planning and forecasting purposes. Adjusted EBITDA is presented for supplemental informational purposes only, has limitations as an analytical tool and
should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for financial information presented in accordance with H8-U. S. GAAP. Some of the limitations of Adjusted EBITDA
include that (1) it does not properly reflect capital commitments to be paid in the future, (2) although depreciation and amortization are non- cash charges, the underlying assets
may need to be replaced and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect these capital expenditures, (3) it does not consider the impact of equity- based compensation expense, including
the potential dilutive impact thereof, and (4) it does not reflect other non- operating expenses, including interest (income) expense, foreign currency (gains) / losses and (gains) /
losses on disposal of fixed assets. In addition, our use of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly- titled measures of other companies because they may not
calculate Adjusted EBITDA in the same manner, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure. Because of these limitations, when evaluating our performance, you should
consider Adjusted EBITDA alongside other financial measures, including our net income (loss) and other results stated in accordance with &8-U. S. GAAP. The following table
presents a reconciliation of net loss, the most directly comparable financial measure stated in accordance with 88-U. S. GAAP, to Adjusted EBITDA for the periods presented:
Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) Net loss and comprehensive loss $ ( 28, 322) § (47, 647) $87-667-Other income Yexpense-, net * (673) (286) Provision for income
taxes Depreciation and amortization 1, 615 1, 347 Equity- based compensation 8, 279 26, 880 #5724-Adjusted EBITDA $ (19, 049) $ (19, 641 ¥$8;765-) * Includes interest
(income) expense, foreign currency (gains) losses, and (gains) losses on disposal of fixed assets. Commitments Effective March 2022, the Company entered into an amendment
to the lease for ewrits corporate headquarters offices to extend the lease term through December 31, 2023 and expand the total square footage from 17, 923 square feet to 20,
185 square feet ng-which d on May 1, 2022. In January 2023, the Company further extended the lease term through December 31, 2026. The following
table summarizes our significant contractual obligations as of December 31, 2622-2023 : Payments Due by Period Total Less Than One Year 1- 3 Years 3- 5 Years More Than
Five Years (in thousands) Rent obligations (1) $ 2,187 $ $ —1,485 S — $ — Total $ 2,187 $ $ —1,485 § — $ — (1) Real estate lease payments Our inventory purchase
commitments are generally short- term in nature and have ordinary commercial terms. We did not have any material long- term inventory purchase commitments as of December
31,2622-2023 . Our contract manufacturers are obligated to fulfill against purchase orders that are aligned with our forecast based on terms and conditions of the
contract. Our forecasts provided to our contract manufacturers are short term in nature and at no time extend beyond a year . Our leascs generally consist of long- term
operating leases, which are payable monthly and relate to our office space. For a further discussion on our debt and operating lease commitments as of December 31, 2622-2023 ,
see the sections above as well as Note 7- Debt, and Note 8- Leases, in the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report. We
expect to satisfy these commitments through a combination of cash on hand and cash generated from sales of our products. Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates Our
consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10- K are prepared in accordance with B8-U. S. GAAP. The
preparation of financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, sales, costs and expenses and related
disclosures. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could
differ significantly from our estimates. To the extent that there are differences between our estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected. Critical accounting estimates are those that we consider the most important to the portrayal of our financial
condition and operating results because they require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of
matters that are inherently uncertain. See Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8
of this Annual Report, for information about these policies as well as a description of our other accounting policies. Our critical accounting estimates are described below.
Revenue Recognition We recognize revenue when performance obligations under the terms of a contract with the customer are satisfied. Accruals for customer incentives and
allowances, sales returns and marketing programs are established for the expected payout based on contractual terms, volume- based metrics and / or historical trends. These
incentives and discounts include cash discounts, price allowances, volume- based rebates, product placement fees and certain other financial support for items such as trade
promotions, displays, new products, consumer incentives and advertising assistance. Our customer incentives and allowances contain uncertainties because it requires
management to make assumptions and to apply judgment regarding our contractual terms in order to estimate our customer participation and volume performance levels which
impact the revenue recognition. Our estimates are based primarily on a combination of known or historical transaction experiences. Differences between estimated expenses and
actual costs are normally insignificant and are recognized to earnings in the period differences are determined. Additionally, judgment is required to ensure the classification of
the spend is correctly recorded as either a reduction from gross sales or advertising and marketing expense, which is a component of our selling and marketing expenses. A 10 %
change in the accrual for customer incentives and allowances would have affected our income from operations by $ 0. 64 million and $ 0. 4-6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2024-, respectively. Inventories Inventories consist of raw materials and finished goods. Raw materials include costs for the Company’ s
ingredients and packaging inventories. The costs of finished goods inventories include production fees from third- party manufacturers. Inventories are stated at the lower of
average cost or net realizable value. The Company regularly reviews whether the net realizable value of its inventory is lower than its carrying value. Indicators that could result
in inventory write downs include age of inventory, damaged inventory, slow moving products, and products at the end of their life cycles. These factors are impacted by
market and economic conditions and changes in strategic direction. The calculation of our inventory valuatmn, specnflcally the write- down for excess or obsolete
inventories, requires g t to make ptions and to apply judgment regarding forecasted d that may turn out to be inaccurate. Inventory
net realizable value adjustments, once established, are not reversed until the related inventory has been sold or scrapped. While management believes that inventory is
dpproprldtely stdted at the lower of average cost or net redhzable value, judgment is mvolved in determmmg the net redllzdble value of i 1nvem0ry The lower of dverdge cost or
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b 2022 and202+. Income Taxes The Company
is the managing member onevm LLC dnd as a result, L()llb()llddteb the ﬁndnudl results onevm LLC in the Lonsohddted financial statements. Zevia LLC is a pass- through
entity for U. S. federal and most applicable state and local income tax purposes. As an entity classified as a partnership for tax purposes, Zevia LLC is not subject to U. S. federal
and certain state and local income taxes. Any taxable income or loss generated by Zevia LLC is passed through to its members, including the Company. The Company is taxed
as a C corporation and pays corporate federal, state and local taxes with respect to income allocated from Zevia LLC based on the-Gempany-Zevia PBC’ s cconomic interest in
Zevia LLC, which was 75. 8 % and 68. 7 % and-53—4-%-as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and202+, respectively. Subsequent changes in economic ownership in Zevia LLC
of the Company can occur as Zevia LLC holders may convert their shares of Class B common stock into an equivalent number of shares of Class A common stock with income
(loss) allocated to the Company based on the economic interest applicable during each reporting period. The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability
method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (“ DTAs ” and “ DTLs , ” respectively ) for the expected future tax consequences of
events that have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, we determine DTAs and DTLs on the basis of the differences between the financial statement and
tax bases of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on DTAs and
DTLs is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. We record a valuation allowance to reduce DTAS deferred-tax-assets-to the amount that we believe
is more likely than not to be realized. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we consider all positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of DTLs
deferred-taxtiabilities-, historical levels of income, projections of future income, expectations and risk associated with estimates of future taxable income and ongoing prudent
and practical tax planning strategies. To the extent that we believe it is more likely than not that some portion of our DTASs deferred-tax-assets-will not be realized, we would
increase the valuation allowance against DTASs deferred-tax-—assets-. The determination of recording or releasing a tax valuation allowance is made, in part, pursuant to an
assessment performed by management regarding the likelihood that we will generate sufficient future taxable income against which the benefits of our DTAs deferred-tax-assets
may or may not be realized. This assessment requires management to exercise significant judgment and make estimates with respect to our ability to generate revenue, gross
profits, operating income and taxable income in future periods. Although we believe that the-our judgment sve-used is reasonable, actual results can differ due to a change in
market conditions, changes in tax laws and other factors. As of December 31, 2022-2023 , we have a full valuation allowance against DTAs deferred-tax-assets-totaling $ 72-75 .
75 million. In accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes we perform a comprehensive review of uncertain tax positions regularly. The guidance prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return. We determine the
tax liability for uncertain tax positions based on a two- step process. The first step is to determine whether it is more likely than not based on technical merits that each income
tax position would be sustained upon examination. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that has a greater than 50 % likelihood of being realized
upon ultimate settlement with a tax authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. The assessment of each tax position requires significant judgment and estimates.



All tax positions are periodically analyzed and adjusted as a result of events, such as the resolution of tax audits, issuance of new regulations or new case law, negotiations with
tax authorities, and expiration of statutes of limitations. We did not record any unrecognized tax benefit as of December 31, 2022-2023 . We recognize both accrued interest and
penalties, when appropriate, in income taxes in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company expects to obtain an increase in
its share of tax basis in the net assets of Zevia ;-LLC when Class B units are exchanged by the holders of Class B units for shares of Class A common stock of the Company and
upon certain qualifying transactions. Each change in outstanding shares of Class A common stock of the Company results in a corresponding change in the Company +* s
ownership of Class A units of Zevia-LLC. The Company intends to treat any exchanges of Class B units as direct purchases of LLC interests for U. S. federal income tax
purposes. These increases in tax basis may reduce the amounts that Zevia PBC would otherwise pay in the future to various taxing authorities. They may also decrease gains (or
increase losses) on future dispositions of certain capital assets to the extent tax basis is allocated to those capital assets. In connection with the IPO, the Company entered into a
Tax Receivable Agreement (“ TRA ) with continuing members of Zevia LLC and the shareholders of blocker companies of certain pre- IPO institutional investors (the
Direct Zevia Stockholders ?) . In the event that such parties exchange any or all of their Class B units for Class A common stock, the TRA requires the Company to make
payments to such holders for 85 % of the tax benefits realized, or in some cases deemed to be realized, by the Company by such exchange as a result of (i) certain favorable tax
attributes acquired from the Bleeker-blocker Cempanies panies in the course of Mefgers-mergers related to the IPO (including net operating losses and the Bleeker

block p > allocable share of existing tax basis), (ii) increases in tax basis resulting from Zevia PBC £’ s acquisition of continuing membermembers ’ s
Zevia LLC units in connection with the IPO and in future exchanges and, (iii) tax basis increases attributable to payments made under the TRA (including tax benefits related to
imputed interest). The annual tax benefits are computed by calculating the income taxes due, including such tax benefits, and the income taxes due without such benefits. The
Company expects to benefit from the remaining 15 % of any tax benefits that it may actually realize. The TRA payments are not conditioned upon any continued ownership
interest in Zevia LLC or the Company. To the extent that the Company is unable to timely make payments under the TRA for any reason, such payments generally will be
deferred and will accrue interest until paid. The timing and amount of aggregate payments due under the TRA may vary based on a number of factors, including the amount and
timing of the taxable income the Company generates each year and the tax rate then applicable. The Company calculates the liability under the TRA using a complex TRA
model, which includes an assumption related to the fair market value of assets. Payments are generally due under the TRA within a specified period of time following the filing
of the Company’ s tax return for the taxable year with respect to which the payment obligation arises, although interest on such payments will begin to accrue at a rate of the
Secured Overnight Financing Rate €-SOFR"-plus 300 basis points from the due date (without extensions) of such tax return. The amount of existing tax basis and the
anticipated tax basis adjustments will vary depending upon a number of factors, including our blended federal and state tax rate and the amount and timing of our income, the
increase in the Zevia’ s allocable share of existing tax basis and the tax basis adjustment of the tangible and intangible assets of the Company upon the exchange of Zevia LLC
units for shares of Class A common stock, and our possible utilization of certain tax attributes. As a result, payments that Zevia PBC may make under the TRA could be
substantial. The TRA provides that if (i) certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations, or other changes of control were to occur; (ii) there is a material
uncured breach of any obligations under the TRA; or (iii) the Company elects an early termination of the TRA, then the TRA will terminate and the Company > s obligations, or
the Company - s successor’ s obligations, under the TRA will accelerate and become due and payable, based on certain assumptions, including an assumption that the Company
would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize all potential future tax benefits that are subject to the TRA and that any Class B units that have not been exchanged are
deemed exchanged for the fair market value of the Company &’ s Class A common stock at the time of termination. As of December 31, 26222023 , the Company believes has
eoneluded;-based on applicable accounting standards, that it was more likely than not that its DTAs deferredtax-assets-subject to the TRA would not be realized as of December
31, 2023 ; therefore, the Company has not recorded a liability related to the tax savings it may realize from utilization of such DTAs deferred-tax-assets-. The TRA liability that
would be recognized if the associated tax benefits were determined to be fully realizable totaled $ 56. 2 million and $ 55. 8 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022 ,
respectively. The increase in the TRA liability is primarily related to Class B to Class A exchanges during the year ended December 31, 2023 . If utilization of the DTAs
deferred-tax-asset-subject to the TRA becomes more likely than not in the future, the Company will record a liability related to the TRA , which will be recognized as an expense
within its consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss . Recent Accounting Pronouncements Refer to Note 2- Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in
the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report for a discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted. Emerging
Growth Company Status We are an “ emerging growth company, ” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting
requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not “ emerging growth companies. ” We may take advantage of these exemptions until we are no longer an
emerging growth company. ” Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an *“ emerging growth company ” can take advantage of the extended transition period afforded by the
JOBS Act for the implementation of new or revised accounting standards. We have elected to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting
standards and as a result of this election, our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with public company effective dates. We may take advantage
of these exemptions up until the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the IPO or such earlier time that we are no longer an emerging growth company. We
would cease to be an emerging growth company if any of the following events occur ¢ (i) we have more than § 1. 235 billion in annual revenue, (ii) we have more than $ 700. 0
million in market value of our Class A common stock held by non- affiliates (and we have been a public company for at least 12 months and have filed one annual report on
Form 10- K) or (iii) we issue more than $ 1. 0 billion of non- convertible debt securities over a three- year period. Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk. We are exposed to certain market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily consist of raw material prices, foreign exchange, inflation and
commodities as follows: Raw Material Risk Our profitability is dependent on, among other things, our ability to anticipate and react to raw material costs. Currently, a key
ingredient in our products is stevia extract. We-have-a-tweo—year-agreement-effeetive June1-2021with-Our stevia leaf extract is procured by our contract manufacturers
and sourced from a large multi- national ingredient company fer-the-supply-ofstevia-on-similarterms-as-eurprior-with whom we have a long- standmg relationship through
a two- year agreement with-the-same-ingredienteompany-that was entered into effective October 15 , inetuding-2023 which includes fixed pricing for the duration of the
term. Fhe-During 2023, we also tested and approved the use of another stevia leaf extract supplier, whose stevia leaf is derived from a region different than the above
supplier. We continue to seek to diversity alternative sources of supply to mitigate potential supply disruptions. However, there can be no assurance that we will be
able to secure alternative sources of supply. Additionally, the prices of stevia and other ingredients we use are subject to many factors beyond our control, such as market
conditions, climate change, supply chain challenges, and adverse weather conditions . Our aluminum cans are procured by our contract manufacturers through various
can manufacturers . The price for aluminum cans also fluctuates depending on market conditions. Our contract manufacturers ablhty to continue to procure enough
dlummum cans at reasonable prlces w111 depend on future developments that are hlghly uncertain. ¥e year-ended-Deeembe a eq a3e-0

~ .
ompanes

geeds—se-ld—Wc along w1th our contract manufacturers, are workmg to dwcrsﬁy our sources of supply and mtcnd to enter into addmonal long- term contracts to bcttcr ensure
stability of prices of our raw materials. Foreign Exchange Risk The majority of our sales and costs are denominated in U. S. dollars and are not subject to foreign exchange risk.
As we source some ingredients and packaging materials from international sources, our results of operations could be impacted by changes in exchange rates. We sell and
distribute our products to Canadian customers, who are invoiced and remit payment in Canadian dollars. All Canadian dollar transactions are translated into U. S. dollars using
period- end rates of exchange for assets and liabilities, and average rates of exchange for the period for sales and expenses. To the extent we increase sourcing from outside the
Bnited-States-U. S. or increase net sales outside of the Ynited-States-U. S. that are denominated in currencies other than the U. S. dollar, the impact of changes in exchange rates
on our results of operations would increase. Foreign exchange gains and losses were not material for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2024-. Inflation Risk We
believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. If our costs were to become subject to further and prolonged
significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, results of
operations and financial condition. Commodity Risk We are subject to market risks with respect to commodities because our ability to recover increased costs through higher
pricing may be limited by the competitive environment in which we operate. Our principal commodities risks relate to ew-purchases of aluminum, diesel fuel, cartons and
corrugate. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSReport of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm Consolidated Balance Sheets Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss Consolidated Statements of Changes in Redeemable-Convertible
Preferred-Units-and-Equity (Pefieit)-Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsREPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM To the stoekhetders-Stockholders and the Board of Dlrectors of Zevia PBC : Opinion on the Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets of Zevia PBC and its subsidiary (the ** Company *-” ) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-202+, the related consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss, consolidated statement-statements of changes in redeemable-eonvertible-preferred-units-and-cquity {defieit), and consolidated statement
statements of cash flows +-for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2622-2023 , and the related notes (collectively referred to as the * financial statements *
). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 ard-2021+-, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2622-2023 , in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. Basis for Opinion These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company - s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company - s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the US B—S—federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to



error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. / s / Deloitte & Touche LLP March +6-6 , 2623-2024 We have
served as the Company”’ s auditor since 2020. ZEVIA PBC CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (in thousands, except share and per share amounts) December 31, 2622
2023 December 31, 20242022 ASSETS Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,955 $ 47, 399 $43-110-Short—term-investments—30;-000-Accounts receivable, net
11,119 11, 077 95-64FInventories 34, 550 27, 576 345-564+-Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5, 063 2, 607 3:424-Total current assets 82, 687 88, 659 HFH-079-Property
and equipment, net 2, 109 4, 641 3;-+69-Right- of- use assets under operating leases, net 1, 959 Intangible assets, net 3, 523 4, 385 4;233-Other non- current assets Total assets $
90, 857 $ 98, 932 $424:993- IABILITIES AND EQUITY Current liabilities: Accounts payable $ 21,169 $ 8, 023 $43;492-Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 5,
973 8, 408 6;765-Current portion of operating lease liabilities Total current liabilities 27, 717 17, 146 26;433-Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 1, 373 — Total
liabilities 29, 090 17, 146 26;434-Commitments and contingencies (Note 9) Stockholders > equity Preferred Stock, $ 0. 001 par value. 10, 000, 000 shares authorized, no shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022-2023 and December 31, 26242022 . — — Class A common stock, $ 0. 001 par value. 550, 000, 000 shares authorized, 54, 220,
017 and 47, 774, 046 and-34;463-4F-shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022-2023 and December 31, 20242022 , respectively. Class B common stock, $ 0.
001 par value. 250, 000, 000 shares authorized, 17, 283, 177 and 21, 798, 600 and-36;,H3;1+52-shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022-2023 and December 31,
20242022 , respectively. Additional paid- in capital 191, 144 189, 724 +74:464-Accumulated deficit ( 101, 337) ( 79, 843 H45:-986-) Total Zevia PBC stoekhetder
stockholders ’ Ls-cquity 89, 878 109, 951 428;482-Noncontrolling interests (28, 111) (28, 165 H23:923-) Total equity 61, 767 81, 786 +84:-559-Total liabilities and equity $ 90,
857 $ 98, 932 $424:993-The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except share and per share amounts) Net sales $ 166, 424 $ 163, 181 $1438;472-Cost of goods sold 91, 666
93, 160 #4;:231+-Gross profit 74, 758 70, 021 63;941-Operating expenses: Selling and marketing 62, 312 52, 869 45;:430-General and administrative 31, 495 36, 793 27,516
Equity- based compensation 8, 279 26, 880 7%724-Depreciation and amortization 1, 615 1, 347 Total operating expenses 103, 701 117, 889 +5+-367Loss from operations ( 28,
943) (47, 868 H87F426-) Other income fexpense)-, net 267)-Loss before income taxes (28, 270) (47, 582 H87-633-) Provision for income taxes ¢65)34)-Net loss and
LL)mpl(,hL.ns]\(, loss (28, 322) ( -17 647) éS-’/—Loss attrlbutable to noncontrolhng interest 6 6673—828 13, 790 Net loss attributable to Zevia HEEprier-to-the- Reerganization

- o-in b eviaPBC $ (21,494) $ (33, 857 ¥$45;986-) Net loss per share
1lmbumb e 10 common QlOLk]‘lOlduﬁ Baslt $ (0 41) $ (0 81 )—$—H—3—3-)—€l— Dllulgd $ (() 41) $ (0 \] <)—$-€l—33)—€l—) W uwhlui average common slnrcs oulxmndmg Basu 50 618

Nete—l-é)—(()[\&()LlD/\TtD bT/\Tl:Ml:NTS Oi- (lIA\J(Jl:S I\J REDEEM*BJ:E—G@N%J:E&ZKEFE&KED—HNH:S%hQUITY

Preferred-Units-Class A Common Stock Class B Common Stock Additional (in thousands, except for share amounts) Hnits-AmeuntMembers Pefieit-Shares Amount Shares
Amount Paid inCapital AccumulatedDeficit Noncontrolling interest TotalEquity Balance at Beeember—?—l—.lanuary 1,2626-2022 2634 , 3—2—2—463 893—417 $232-30 , 457113,
152%(—1—96—8—]—2—)—% 174 404%—(45 986) @—(23 923) - —S$5— 596,812 Exereise of contmonthits y..u.t theReor #Fransactions

l()4 539 \/ulm; and m]m% of common stock under u1u11y mcumu p]’ms ml—4 749 (»(u ——(2,136) ——

%4:463—4—1—7—39—1—1—3—]—52—]44—494—(—45—986)—62—3—92—3-)—

(2, 130) Exchange of Class B common stock for Class A common stock ——8, 314, 552 (8, 314, 552) (8) (9, 548) — 9, s ————246, 415
Equity- based compensation —26, 880 26, 880 Net loss —(33. 857) (13, 7‘)()) (47A 647) Balance at December 31,

2022 —§———47, 774,046 $ 21, 798, 600 § $ 189, 724 § (79, 843) $ (28, 165) $ 81, 786 Vesting and release of common stock under equity incentive plans, net 1, 848,

288 — — (1) — — — Exchange of Class B common stock for Class A common stock 4, 454, 900 (4, 454, 900) (5) (6, 883) — 6, 883 — Disposition of cost method

investment in redemption of Class B common stock — — (60, 523) — — — (1) (1) Exercise of stock options 142, 783 — — — — — Equity- based compensation — —

——8,279 — —8,279 Net loss —— — — — (21, 494) (6, 828) (28, 322) Balance at December 31, 2023 54, 220,017 $ 17,283,177 $ $ 191, 144 $ (101, 337) $ (28, 111)

$ 61, 767 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) Operating activities: Net loss $ ( 28, 322) $ (47, 647 ¥$(8%-667)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in ) operating activities: Non- cash lease expense Depreciation and amortization 1, 615 1, 347 Loss {gain)on
sate-disposal of property, cquipment (4)-and software, net Amortization of debt issuance cost Equity- based compensation 8, 279 26, 880 77424-Changes in operating assets
and liabilities: Accounts receivable, net (42) (2, 030) €5-862)-Inventorics (6, 974) 3, 925 H0;70H)-Prepaid expenses and other assets (2, 484573 ) Accounts payable 13, 640 (5,
850) 4;-396-Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (2, 435) 1, 703 4;-960-Operating lease liabilities ( 585) (672 }€624-) Net cash used in operating activities ( 16, 274) (
20, 778 ¥+#-866-) Investing activities: Proceeds from maturities of short- term investments — 30, ()()() Purchases of property, equnpment and software (1 624) (2 593)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 2, 429 aymen h Rinve f
593331443y Net cash provided by fasedHmy-investing activities 27 407 (—3—3—1-43)—l-mdnunu activities: Pfeeeeds—frem—mﬁ%vmg—&neﬁ%efed*ﬂ-)—?‘l—?—l—kkepﬁymeﬁ&ef
fe*e{vmg-}meeﬂered-rt-(-lﬁ—(—ﬂ—?}lﬁ-l’a\mml of debt issuance costs — ( 334)—Mmlmum tax x\nhholdmb p’ud on bghal[ ol meloyus for net sham \ullumnl —(2,130)
—Proceeds from exercise of stock npl]om € erets P S
4 /’? 660N P 4 PF] A YN | 1d 102 IDOY ¢ of 4 di d 1ot 120

Distributiont kol fort: £
Distributton-to-unitholders-tor-tax-payments { YRS A% SO 1SSta 18857 COmMmonR-stoeK-Sora-1 O et ot unaerwrtti; HS-afna 7S 575

Pﬂymen-t—ef—l-P@-eesfs—éS—l—G—l—)-\let u\sh (-used—m)—plowded b\ (used ln) tumnunu activities (2 340) ;’-9—1%3-\let chdnge flom operating, inv estmg and financing activities
(15, 444) 4, 289 28;:+74-Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 47,399 43, 110 +4;936-Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 31,955 $ 47, 399 $-43-446-Non-
cash investing and financing activities Capital expenditures included in accounts payable $ $ Conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock $ 6, 883 $ 9, 548 $
—Operating lease right- of- use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities % ] 818 $ 1, 15() $—Hﬂpﬁd—@9—eﬁfeﬁﬂg—eesfs—$—$r8upp]uncmal Disclosure of Cash Flow
lntommtlon Lash paid for interest $ $ Cash pdld for income taxes % $ rev P an

of-eash-flows—for-the-yearend eemb - NOTFS TO CONSOLIDATFD FINAN( IAL STATFMFI\TS 1. DFS( RIPTION OF BUSINFSSO\gammuon
md operationsZevia PB( (the £ Company -, ” “ we, ” “ us, ” “our ” ), is a growth beverage company that develops, markets, sells, and distributes great tasting, a-wide
vatiety-of zero sugar beverages made with s1mple, plant- based ingredients. We are a Delaware public benefit corporation and have been designated as a “ Certified B
Corporation, ” and are focused on addressing the global health challenges resulting from excess sugar consumption by offering a broad portfolio of zero sugar . zcro
Ld]L)ll(. nen—naturally sweetened beverages All Zevia ® beverages are Non - GMO Project verified, gluten- free, Kosher, vegan r-and zero sodium earbenated-and-non-
re-- and name-that-include a variety bread-assertment-of flavors across Soda, Energy Drinks, Organic Feas— Tea , Mixersr-and

-th-z—Klds drmkﬂ OurZeﬂa-P-BQS-pmducl\ are distributed and sold principally across the United States ef-Ameriea-( = U. S. ) and Canada through a diverse network of
major retailers (both-briek—and—mertar-in the food, drug, warehouse club, mass, natural and ¢- commerce J;-ineluding-channels and in grocery and natural product stores 5
nataral-produetsstores;-warehouse-elubs;and specialty outlets. ZeviaPBE-The Company ° s products are manufactured and gereratby-maintained at third- party beverage
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the (ompam or [manu'll I‘LpOIl]n& purpows The Company is a holdmb company, dnd its solu mdluml asset is its conllollmb cqullv mluusl in Zevia LL ( As lhe 501@
nnnagnw munbu of Zula LLC, 1hg Cmnpanv operates and wnlloh all of lhg business and affairs 01 Zevia LL(

eeﬂife-]-hﬂg—mfefest—Z SL \1\4ARY OF SIGNIFICANT AC( OU\]TING POLI( IF@Basls 0( plugnlallonThg aecompammg COI]\Olld’IILd hnancml smlemun\ have been
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the Baited-States-U. S. (*US- U. S. GAAP ). Principles of ConsolidationThe consolidated
financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiary, Zevia LLC, that it controls due to ownership of a majority veting-equity interest. All intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company owns a majority economic interest in, and operates and controls all of the businesses and affairs
of, Zevia LLC. Auordm"lv lhe C L)mpanv hds prepared these consolidated hndnual statements m aumdancc w 1lh Accounting Sldnddrds (Odlfl(.clll()n ( AS( ’) Ioplc 810,
Consolidation. A A
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7072 -Zeﬂa—P-B@the Company and Zevia LLC cnlued into a service wmemcnl to lmnslu lhc services of all
melox ees ol Zeﬂa—P-B@the Company to Zevia LL( Under lums of the service agreement between the entities, the payroll costs of employees are borne by Zevia LLC while
certain other non- payroll costs, such as those associated with stock compensation arrangements, remain with ZeviaPBE-the Company . In addition, pursuant to the Thirteenth
Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Zevia LLC , dated as of July 21, 2021, Zevia LLC shall reimburse the Company Zevia-PBE;-for certain
expenses for overhead, administrative, and other expenses, at ZeviaPB€-the Company’ s discretion. For the year-years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, it was determined
that the majority of such costs shewtd-will be retained by ZeviaPBE-the Company , with certain costs directly attributable to Zevia LLC being borne by that entity. These costs
1mpaclgd lhc amount ol net loss reported by Ze\la LLC and wnsuqugnlly nnpacled the amount allomlgd to noncmmol]m0 interest. ReelassifieationsCertain-ameuntsfront y“u.

49-Use of e\tlmatesThe pleparanon of the consolidated Tmanual
smtements in accordance with U-S—U. S (JAAP requires manaéement to mdke estlmates and umptl()ns that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, as well as the
reported amount of net sales and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates made by the Company relate to: net
sales and associated cost recognition; the useful lives assigned to and the recoverability of property and equipment; reserves-adjustments recorded for inventory obsolescence
and adjustments made for net realizable value ; the incremental borrowing rate for lease liabilities; allowance for doubtful accounts; the useful lives assigned to and the
recoverability of intangible assets; realization of deferred tax assets; and the determination of the fair value of equity instruments, mcludmgfedeem&b}e-eeﬂ-veft-rb}e-pfefeﬁeé
and-eommen-units;restricted unit awards, and equity- based compensation awards. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates compared to historical experience
and trends, which form the basis for making |udgnents about the carrying 11ue of its assets and lldbllmes At As—ef-Deeembex 31, 2-92%—2023 the (ompdnv s opemtmns
continued to be impacted by higher th pa W b
tegisties;-manufacturing , freight, and labor LO\lS -asa result of the short— term supply chain loglstlcs challenges Bufmg—durlng fhe—year—ended—BeeembeH—!—l‘OQ—Z—ZOB
which the Company experieneed-signifieantinflationary-impaet-does not expect to continue in 2024, as well as increased operating costs as a result of the global economy
and polltlcal and economlc uncertamtles w hich has-ereated—head-wmds—t-hat—rhe Company expects to continue ite-in %62—3—2024 The effeets—e%ﬁae—@@%?-—l-Q—paﬂdeme—afe

€0 he-Company will u)ntmue to monlt()r the sttuath i euvu g any impact from current and

future global events, and {-hethelr eff s and operations ;pa a h a : an
extended-perfed-oftime-. Cash, cash equivalents an(l inv lemunls(ash and cash equiv alcnls include cash and mveslmuu\ in short- term, hxbhl;, llquld \uunlles with ongbmal
maturities of three months or less. Investments with original maturities at the date of acquisition of more than three months are classified as short- term investments or long- term
investments based on the remaining comracmdl mdtunty ot the seeunty at the reportmg date. As of Decemher 31, 2023 and 2022, the ( ompany dld not hold any investments =

- The (ompam maintains cash deposits mlh high credit quality financial institutions. T hu deposits with
these financial institutions may exceed the Iudgml]y insured limits; however, these deposits typically are redeemable upon demand. The Compam has not experienced any loss
because of these deposits and does not expect to incur any losses in the future. 50 Fair value of financial instrumentsFair value is the exchange price that would be received for
an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on
the measurement date. Subsequent changes in fair value of these financial assets and liabilities are recognized in earnings or other comprehensive income when they occur.
When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities which are required to be recorded at fair value, the Company considers the principal or most
advantageous market in which the Company would transact and the market- based risk measurement or assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the assets or
liabilities, such as inherent risk, transfer restrictions, and credit risk. The three- level hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements is as follows: « Level 1. Quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities. ¢ Level 2. Inputs other than Level 1 inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted
prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or market- corroborated inputs. ¢
Level 3. Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. The Company” s material financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, shert—terminvestments;
accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities. The carrying values of the Company” s cash and cash equivalents ;-shert—termt




investments-, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities approximated their fair values at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2024-duc
to the short period of time to maturity or repayment. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2024-, all cash and cash equivalents and-shert—term-investments-were considered
Level 1. 58-As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-202+, the Company did not have any assets or liabilities measured on a recurring basis without observable market values
that would require a high level of judgment to determine fair value (Level 3). The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the
reporting period. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2624-, there were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy. Other comprehensive lossThe
nature of the Company’ s operations does not give rise to consequential other comprehensive loss. Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accountsTrade receivables
are recorded at net realizable value, which includes an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts. Credit is extended to customers based on an evaluation of their financial
condition, credit rating, and trade references. The Company monitors exposure to credit losses and maintains an allowance for anticipated losses based on each customer’ s credit
condition and payment behavior. The Company’ s accounts receivable balance is net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts was not
material at December 31, 2023 and 2022 er-BDeeember3+2021-. Changes in the Allowance for Doubtful Accounts were as follows: Year Ended December 31, Balance,
beginning of the year $ — $ —Prevision-{reeevery-Recovery of Yfor-bad debt — (10) Balance, end of the year $ — $ — InventoriesInventories consist of raw materials and
finished goods. Raw materials include costs for the Company’ s ingredients and packaging inventories. The costs of finished goods inventories include production fees from
third- party manufacturers. Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or net realizable value. The Company regularly reviews whether the net realizable value of its
inventory is lower than its carrying value. Indicators that could result in inventory write downs include age of inventory, damaged inventory, slow moving products, and
products at the end of their life cycles. While management believes that inventory is appropriately stated at the lower of average cost or net realizable value, judgment is
involved in determining the net realizable value of inventory. Javentery-valuation-Prepaid exp Prepaid exp represent amounts paid in advance for products or
reserves-—- services to be delivered in the future and are included within prepaid expenses and other current assets in the panying lidated bal sheets.
Prepaid expenses are expensed as incurred and were $ 6-1 . 48 million and $ 2. 3 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-20621+-, respectively . 51 Property and
equipment, netProperty and equipment are recorded at cost. Additions, replacements, and leasehold improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs that do not
extend the useful life of an asset are expensed as incurred. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight- line method over the shorter of the remaining lease term or
the estimated useful life of the improvement. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts and
any related gain or loss is recognized. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the following estimated useful lives of the assets: Asset Years Leasehold improvements
Shorter of lease term or estimated useful life Computer equipment Furniture and equipment 4- 7 Vehicles Quality control equipment 2- 75 Buildings and improvements 7- 30
The Company periodically reviews long- lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. In
order to assess recoverability, the Company compares the estimated undiscounted future pre- tax cash flows from the use of the group of assets, as defined, to the carrying
amount of such assets. Measurement of an impairment loss is based on the excess of the carrying amount of the group of assets over the long- lived asset’ s fair value. The
Company did not recognize any impairment charges associated with long- lived assets during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2624-. LeasesThe Company
leases office space and-vehieles-underoperatingleases- Right of use (£ ROU ) lease assets represent the Company” s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, and
lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments. Both the ROU lease asset and liability are recognized as of the lease commencement date based on the present
value of the lease payments over the lease term. The Company’ s leases do not provide an implicit borrowing rate that can readily be determined. Therefore, the Company
applies a discount rate based on the incremental borrowing rate, which is determined using the Company’ s synthetic credit rating and other information available as of the lease
commencement date. ROU lease assets also include any lease payments made before their contractual due dates and exclude any lease incentives. The Company’ s lease
agreements may include options to extend the lease term or to terminate the lease early. The Company includes options to extend or terminate leases upon determination of the
ROU lease asset and liability when it is reasonably certain the Company will exercise these options. Operating lease expense attributable to lease payments is recognized on a
straight- line basis over the lease term and is included in general, and administrative expense on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company
has lease arrangements that include lease and non- lease components. The non- lease components in the arrangements are not significant when compared to the lease
components. For all leases, the Company accounts for the lease and non- lease components as a single component. The Company evaluates ROU assets for impairment
consistent under the impairment of long- lived assets policy. 5+The Company had no material finance leases as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 ard-202+-. Intangible assets,
netIntangible assets subject to amortization consist of customer relationships, which were acquired and are amortized over their estimated useful life of 15 years and computer
software costs which are amortized over their estimated useful life of three years. In accordance with Accounting Standard Codification (" ASC") Topic 350, Intangibles —
Goodwill and Other, intangible assets with definite lives are treated as a long- lived asset and are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the asset’ s carrying amount may not be recoverable. If impaired, the asset is written down to its estimated fair market value, which is generally measured by discounting
future cash flows. Non- amortizable intangible assets consist of trademarks which represent the Company”’ s exclusive ownership of the Zevia ® brand used in connection with
the manufacture, marketing, and distribution of its carbonated beverages. The Company also owns several other trademarks in both the Hnited-States-U. S. and in foreign
countries. Intangible assets not subject to amortization are evaluated for impairment annually, or sooner if management believes such assets may be impaired. An impairment
loss is recognized if the asset’ s carrying amount exceeds its estimated fair market value. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-262+, no impairment losses
were recorded. Certain external and internal computer software costs acquired for internal use are capitalized. Training costs and maintenance are expensed as incurred, while
upgrades and enhancements are capitalized if it is probable that such expenditures will result in additional functionality. Capitalized costs are included within intangible assets,
net. 52 Debt issuance costCosts incurred in connection with securing a revolving line of credit agreement are capitalized. These costs are amortized over the term of the credit
agreement. Debt issuance costs are included in Other non- current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Net debt issuance costs totaled $ 0. 2 million and $ 0.
3 million and-$-8-mithien-as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2624-, respectively. Customer incentives and allowancesThe Company offers its customers sales incentives that
are designed to support the distribution of its products to consumers. These incentives and discounts include cash discounts, price allowances, volume- based rebates, product
placement fees and certain other financial support for items such as trade promotions, displays, new products, consumer incentives and advertising assistance. These amounts are
deducted from gross sales and are included under Net sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company maintains an
allowance representing the estimated cost of certain customer incentives incurred but not yet realized as of the end of each respective year, which is recorded as an offset against
customer accounts receivable, and is included under Accounts receivable, net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The customer incentives and allowances were $
4.1 million and $ 5. 6 million and-$3—5-mithen-as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-20624-, respectively. Revenue recognitionThe Company recognizes revenue when
performance obligations under the terms of a contract with the customer are satisfied. Product sales occur once control is transferred either upon shipment or delivery to the
customer. Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for transferring goods, net of accruals for customer incentives and
allowances. The amount of consideration the Company receives and revenue the Company recognizes varies with changes in customer incentives the Company offers to its
customers. Customer incentives and allowances are estimated based on agreed upon terms as well as historical trends and current economic and market conditions, while cash
discounts are based on trade terms and require management judgment with respect to estimating customer participation and performance levels. Differences between such
estimated expenses and actual expenses for promotional and other allowance costs have historically been insignificant and are recognized in earnings in the period such
differences are determined. The Company accounts for costs associated with shipping and handling activities that occur after the transfer of control as a fulfillment activity,
instead of a separate performance obligation. The Company excludes from the transaction price those amounts which relate to sales and other taxes that are assessed by
governmental authorities and that are imposed and concurrent with a specific revenue- producing transaction and collected by the Company from a customer. The Company”’ s
general payment terms are short- term in duration. The Company does not have significant financing components or payment terms. Cost of goods soldCost of goods sold
consists of all costs to acquire and manufacture the Company’ s products including the cost of the various ingredients, packaging, in- bound freight and logistics, and third- party
production fees — which are typlcally incurred at a flat rate per case produced — and all other costs incurred to bring the product to salable condition. The Company’ s cost of
goods sold is generally subject to price fluctuations in the marketplace for aluminum, logistics costs such as fuel, inbound freight ﬁﬂd—wafeheaﬁﬁg—fbﬁew—ma&eﬂa{s— bottling
tolling fees, as well as shifting product mix. Selling and marketing expensesSelling and marketing exp in the panying lidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss include warehousing and distribution costs, shipping and handling costs, advertising, and marketing costs, which generally are expensed as
incurred. Warehousing and distribution costs include storage, transfer, repacking and handling fees, and out- bound freight and delivery charges. The Company has
elected to classify shipping and handling costs for salable product outside of cost of goods sold, in selling and marketing expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements
of operations and comprchcnswc loss Such costs amountud to approxlmatcly $ 14 2 mllllon and $15.4 mrl-l-teﬁ-a-ﬂd—$—l—3—2—mllllon for thc ycars cndcd December 31, 2023 and
2022 and2024-, respectively - a e y e e

n a a g g a h g The Company expenses sales and marketmg costs as
mcurred Advertlsmg dl’ld mdrketmg expenses represent costs dssoudted with the promotlon of the Zevm O brdnd and products as outlined in ASC Topic 730- 25, Other
Expenses — Advertising Costs, such as those for digital and other forms of advertising. Advertising and marketing expenses amounted to approximately $ 10. 5 million and $ 11.
| millien-and-$42-6-million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2024-, respectively. $2-General and administrative expensesGeneral and administrative
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss include personnel- related expenses, including salaries, bonuses, and benefits,
technology expenses, professional fees, facility costs, including insurance, utilities and rent relating to our headquarters, and overhead costs. These costs are expensed as
incurred. 53 Equity- based compensation expenseThe Company records equity- based compensation expense for employees and nonemployees under the provisions of ASC
Topic 718, Compensation — Stock compensation (“ ASC 718 ), using a Black- Scholes- Merton option pricing model to calculate the fair value of stock options by date
granted. The determination of the grant date fair value of stock options issued is affected by a number of variables, including the fair value of the Company’ s common stock,



the expected common stock price volatility over the expected life of the options, the expected term of the stock option, risk- free interest rates, and the expected dividend yield
of the Company” s common stock. The Company derives-derived its expected volatility frem-for grants issued prior to July 21, 2023 (which is the two- year anniversary of
the Company’ s IPO) based on the average historical volatilities of several peer public companies over a period equivalent to the expected term of the awards , and its
expected volatility for grants issued subsequent to July 21, 2023 based on historical volatility of the Company’ s stock . The Company estimates the expected term based
on the simpliﬁcd method prescribed by guidance provided by the Securities and Exchange Commission. This decision was based on the lack of relevant historical data due to the
Company’ s limited experience for the Company” s common stock. The risk- free interest rate is based-an interpolation of yields on the-United-States-U. S. Treasury yield
eurve-in-effeetat-securities with maturities equivalent to thc expected term ﬂme—ef—grant— Expected dividend yield is 0. 0 % as the Company has not paid and does not
anticipate paying dividends on its common stock. The fair value of stock options is recognized as expense on a straight- line basis over the requisite service period, which is
typically four years. Equity- based compensation cost for restricted stock awards is measured based on the fair market value of the Company” s common stock at the date of
grant and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period, which is the vesting period on a straight- line basis. Forfeitures are recognized as incurred. Depreciation and
AmortizationDepreciation is primarily related to building and related improvements, computer equipment, quality control and marketing equipment, and leasehold
improvements. Intangible assets subject to amortization consist of customer relationships and software applications. Non- amortizable intangible assets consist of trademarks,
which represent the Company’ s exclusive ownership of the Zevia ® brand used in connection with the manufacturing, marketing, and distribution of its beverages. The
Company also owns several other trademarks in both the U. S. and in foreign countries. Foreign currency transactionsThe functional currency of the Company is the U. S. Beltar
dollar . The Company sells and distributes its products to Canadian customers, who are invoiced and remit payment in Canadian dollars. All Canadian dollar transactions are
translated into Ynited-States-U. S. dollars using period- end rates of exchange for assets and liabilities, and average rates of exchange for the period for net sales and expenses.
Foreign currency transaction €losses }-gains-for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-262+-amounted to approximately $ 0. 2-0 million and $ 0. -2 million,
respectively, and are included under other income fexpense}-, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Income TaxesThe
Company is the managing member of Zevia LLC and, as a result, consolidates the financial results of Zevia LLC in the consolidated financial statements. Zevia LLC is a pass-
through entity for U. S. federal and most applicable state and local income tax purposes. As an entity classified as a partnership for tax purposes, Zevia LLC is not subject to U.
S. federal and certain state and local income taxes. Any taxable income or loss generated by Zevia LLC is passed through to its members, including the Company. The Company
is taxed as a corporation and pays corporate federal, state and local taxes with respect to income allocated from Zevia LLC based on the Company— s economic interest in Zevia
LLC, which was 75. 8 % and 68. 7 % and-53—4-%-as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2024-, respectively. Subsequent changes in economic ownership in Zevia LLC of the
Company can occur as Zevia LLC holders may convert their shares of Class B common stock into an equivalent number of shares of Class A common stock with income (loss)
allocated to the Company based on the economic interest applicable during each reporting period. The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method,
which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (“ DTAs ” and “ DTLs , ” respectively ) for the expected future tax consequences of events that
have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, we determine DTAs and DTLs on the basis of the differences between the financial statement and tax bases of
assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on DTAs and DTLs is
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. We recognize DTAs to the extent that we believe that these assets are more likely than not to be realized. In
making such a determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future
taxable income, tax- planning strategies, carryback potential if permitted under the tax law, and results of recent operations. If we determine that we would be able to realize our
DTAs in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, we would make an adjustment to the DTA valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes.
The Company records uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes on the basis of a two- step process in which (1) we determine whether it is more likely
than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more- likely- than- not recognition
threshold, we recognize the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority. We recognize
both accrued interest and penalties, when appropriate, in provision for income taxes in the accompanying consolidated statements of operutions‘ and comprehensive loss. Recent
accounting pronouncementsThe Company is an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (** JOBS Act*” ). Under the JOBS Act,
emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until those standards apply to private
companies. The Company has elected to use this extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public
and private companies until the earlier of the date that it (i) is no longer an emerging growth company or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opts out of the extended transition
period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, the consolidated financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with the new or revised accounting
pronouncements as of public company effective dates. 53-54 Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements — Recently AdoptedIn Aprit-June 2624— 2016 , the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (*# FASB £ ) issued Accounting Standards Update (% ASU *-» )Net%‘e&ﬁdepted}n—}&n%é-&le%tssaed*SU-No 2016~ 13,Financial
Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326):Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.This ASU provldcs for a new impairment model that requires measurement
and recognition of expected credit losses for most financial assets held. The ASU is effective for private companies for annual periods,and interim periods within those annual
periods,beginning after December 15,2022. The Company eurrentty-does-adopted ASU No.2016- 13 as of January 1,2023.The adoption of ASU No.2016- 13 did not expeet
this-gaidanee-to-have a significant impact on the Company” s financial statements as-it-dees-nothave-a-history-of material-ereditiosses-. Any-In April 2021, other—- the reeently
FASB issued aeeennting-ASU No. 2021- 04, which included Topic 260, Earnings Per Share and Topic 718, Compensation- Stock Compensation. This guidance clarifies and
reduces diversity in an issuer’ s accounting for modifications or exchanges of freestanding equity- classified written call options due to a lack of explicit guidance in the FASB
Codification. This ASU is effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2021- 04 as of
January 1, 2022. The adoption of ASU 2021- 04 did not have a significant impact on the Company -’ s financial statements as the Company does not have freestanding equity-
classified written call options. In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019- 12, Income Taxes (Topic 740) Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. This ASU
improves areas of B8-U. S. GAAP and reduces cost and complexity while maintaining usefulness. The main provisions remove certain exceptions, including the exception to the
general methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period when a year- to- date loss exceeds the anticipated loss for the year. In addition, the amendments simplify
income tax accounting in the areas such as income based franchise taxes, eliminating the requirements to allocate consolidated current and deferred tax expense in certain
instances and a requirement that an entity reflects the effect of enacted changes in tax laws or rates in the annual effective tax rate computation in the interim period that includes
the enactment date. This ASU is effective for private companies for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2022. The Compdny ddopted ASU 2019 12 as ()f.]d.l’ludry 1,2022. The dd()ptl()ll ofASU 2019-12 dld not have a 51L111ﬂ(,cmt 1mpc\et on the
(ompanv s hnanudl blalgmmls 6 b :
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ASU No. 2023- 07 Segment Reportmg (Toplc 280) Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. This ASU requires entities to disclose mformatlon about their
reportable segments’ significant exp and other seg t items on an interim and annual basis. Public entities with a single reportable segment are required to
apply the disclosure requirements in ASU 2023- 07, as well as all existing segment disclosures and reconciliation requirements in ASC 280 on an interim and annual
basis. ASU 2023- 07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with
early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this guidance. In December 2023 . the FASB issued ASU No. 2646-2023 - 09
Income Taxes 13;FinanetaHnstraments—CreditEosses<( Topic 326-740 ) - Measurement-of-Creditosses-Improvi ts to I Tax Disclosures. The guid requires
disaggregated information about a reporting entity’ s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as information on FinanetaHnstruments-income taxes pald FhisASY
pfeﬁdes—feﬁa—mr—mpaﬁmeﬂt—medel—The guldance is lntended to heneﬁt 1nvestors by providing more detalled income tax disclosures that would be useful in making
capital allocation decision . The ASU is effective for private companies for
annual periods —aﬂd—m&erﬂﬂ-peﬂeds—wn&uﬁ-ﬁhes&&nﬂuﬂl—peﬂeds—bcmnmng 1llcr Dteember IS %622—2025 The guidance will be applied on a prospective basis with the
optlon to apply the standard retrospectlvely Thc ( ompany is currcntly dees—net—e*peet—evaluatmg the lmpact of adopting this guidance while early adoption is permitted
8 y ; . Any other recently issued accounting pmnnuncemems
are nenher relemnt nor expccted to have a material 1mpcu,t on the ( ompany”’ s ﬁndnual statements 3 REVENUESDlsdéLregdtlon of RevenueThe Company - s products are
distributed and sold principally across the U. S. and Canada through a diverse network of major retailers, including: grocery stores, natural products stores, specialty outlets, and
warehouse clubs; and through online / e- commerce channels. The following table disaggregates the Company’ s sales by channel: Year Ended December 31, (in thousands)




Retail sales $ 148,299 $ 145, 041 $3H95-884-Online / e- commerce $-18, 125 18, 140 +8;288-Net sales $ 166, 424 $ 163, 181 $438472-The following table disaggregates the
Company’ s sales by geographic location of the respective customers: Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) Baited-States-U. S. $ 149, 466 $ 145, 180 $125;378-Canada 16,
958 18, 001 +2;794-Net sales $ 166,424 $ 163, 181 $438;372-Contract liabilitiesThe Company did not have any material unsatisfied performance obligations as of December
31, 20222023 and December 31, 26242022 , respectively. 4. INVENTORIESInventories consist of the following as of: (in thousands) December 31, 2622-2023 December 31,
26242022 Raw materials $ 4,714 $ 7, 527 $340;493-Finished goods 29, 836 20, 049 24:368-Inventories $ 34,550 $ 27, 576 $34-504-5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT,
NETProperty and equipment consist of the following as of: (in thousands) December 31, 2622-2023 December 31, 26242022 Land $§ — $ Leasehold improvements 1, 167
Computer equipment and software €--Furniture and equipment Vehicles — Quality control and marketing equipment 1, 782 1, 635 Buildings and improvements — 1, 61045
443-Assets not yet placed in service 1, 128 4, 512 6, 709 4;-662-Less accumulated deprematmn (2 403) (2 068 )—61—4-}3—) Pmperty and equ1pment net ‘B 2 109 $ 4, 641 For $3;
+69-(H-Puring-the year ended December 31,2023 and 2022, depreciation expense the a p softwatre-e erty-an ent-, including
the amortization ﬁet—te—rntﬂ-ng}b{meets—net—leefer—te%te%—S&mm&of leasehold 1mpr0vements, ngmﬁeaﬂh*eeetmfmg—l‘ehetes—foﬁmetﬁﬁs—amounted to
approximately reelass ended-Deeembe 5 -the-Companypurehased-a-warchouse-faetlity-in-Evansvile; Indiana priee-of S 1. 70
million —Fer—ﬂae—yeﬁr—eﬂded—BeeembeH—lﬁQﬂ-E—ﬁnd ”"“l,d.,y. tation-expens: ,' e th amortizath ufl 8 huld inprov : ,u...vuuwd to-approximately-5 0. 7
millienand-$-0-6-million, respectively. These amounts are included under depreciation and amortization in the accomp"mym; consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss. 6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NETThe following table provides information pertaining to the Company’ s intangible assets as of: December 31, 2622-2023
(in thousands) Weighted- Average Remaining Useful Life Gross Carrying Amount Accumulated Amortization Intangible Assets, Net Software 2-1 . 64 $ 2-1 , 277164 $ ( 978
+-429-) § Customer relationships 2-1 . 7 3, 007 (2, 476-670 ) 54 . 284-171 (3, 899-648 ) +:-385-Trademarks N / A 3,000 — 3, 000 Intangible assets, net $ &7 , 284-171 $ (3, 899
648 ) $ 43 , 385523 December 31, 2024-2022 (in thousands) Weighted- Average Remaining Useful Life Gross Carrying Amount Accumulated Amortization Intangible Assets,
Net Software 2.0 $ 2,277 $ (1 351+, 429 446-$(945-) § Customer relationships 3-2. 7 3, 007 (2, 269470 ) 4-5 , 447-284 (3, 244-899 ) 1, 233-385 Trademarks N / A 3, 000 —
3,000 Intangible assets, net $ 78 , 447284 $ (3,244-899 ) § 4, 233-385 For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2624-, total amortization expense amounted to §
0. 46 million and $ 0. 47 million, respectively, including $ 0. 4 million and $ 0. 2-4 million, respectively, of amortization expense related to software. No impairment losses
have been recorded on any of the Company’ s intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2024-. 55-Amortization expense for intangible assets with
definite lives is expected to be as follows: (in thousands) $-Expected amortization expense for intangible assets with definite lives $ ;385-7. DEBTABL Credit FacilityOn
February 22, 2022, Zevia LLC (the % Borrower *-” ) obtained a revolving credit facility (the “ Secured Revolving Line of Credit £ ) by entering into a Loan and Security
Agreement with Bank of America, N. A. (the ** Loan and Security Agreement ™ ). The Borrower may draw funds under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit up to an
amount not to exceed the lesser of (i) a $ 20 million revolving commitment and (ii) a borrowing base which is comprised of inventory and receivables. Up to $ 2 million of the
Secured Revolving Line of Credit may be used for letter of credit issuances and the Borrower has the option to increase the commitment under the Secured Revolving Line of
Credit by up to $ 10 million, subject to certain conditions. The Secured Revolving Line of Credit matures on February 22, 2027. Fhere-have-beerrAs of December 31, 2023, no
amounts were drawn under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit. The Secured Revolving Line of Credit is secured by a first priority security interest in substantially all of the
Company +’ s assets. Loans under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit bear interest based on either, at the Borrower” s option, the Bloomberg Short- Term Bank Yield Index
rate plus an applicable margin between 1. 50 % to 2. 00 % or the Base Rate (customarily defined) plus an applicable margin between 0. 50 % to 1. 00 % with margin, in each
case, determined by the av erage daily av: clllclbllltv under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit. Fhe-Under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit, the Borrower is required

to comply with certain covenants, including, among others, by maintaining Liquidity (as defined therein) of $ 7 million at all times
until December 31, 2023. Thereafter, the Borrower must satisfy a financial covenant requiring a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1. 00 to 1. 00 as of the last day of any
fiscal quarter following the occurrence of certain events of default that are continuing or any day on which availability under the Secured Revolving Line of Credit is less than
the greater of § 3 million and 17. 5 % of the borrowing base, and must again satisfy such financial covenant as of the last day of each fiscal quarter thereafter until such time as
thele are no events of denlult dl’ld av clllclbl]lt\/ has been above sueh threshold for 30 eonseeutne ddys As ofDeLember ?1 %62—2—2023 the Lompdny was m (.Onlplldll(.e with its

i i i ‘ i tvetoss: 8 LI:ASI:SThe Company leases its ofﬁu: space which has a a-nd—veh-te%es—"l:hel-eases
h-welemamm;: lease fems~ term o[ 36 eﬂe—te—lé—momhs In January 9ﬂ—Mafeh—2—5%92—2—2023 the Cump'my uucred into an amendmuu 10 lhe Iuase for its corporate
headquarters offices to extend the term e a

tcrm thmuwh Decembcr 31, 2026 Thc Company s rccognm.d lc“e costs include: Yeat Ended December 31 , (in
thousands) {ﬂeeme—Statemeﬁt-Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss Operating lease cost (1) $ $ (1) Operating lease cost is recorded within general and
administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Year Ended December 31, Weighted- average remaining lease term
(months) 36. 0 12. 0 4-6-Weighted- average discount rate 7. 6 % 7. 6 % The Company’ s variable lease costs and short- term lease costs were not material. $6-The Company is
obligated under vartous-a non- eaneeHable— cancelable |casc agreements— agreement providing for office space and-vehieles-that expire-expires at-various-dates-threugh-on
December 31, 2623-2026 . Maturities of lease payments under the non- eaneeHable— cancelable eases— lease were as follows: (in thousands) December 31, 2022-2023 $ Total
lease payments 2, 187 Less Imputed-imputed Interestinterest ( 36-239 ) Present value of lease liabilities S 1, 948 9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIESPurchase
commitmentsAs of December 31, 20222023 , the Company does not have any material agreements with suppliers for the purchase of raw material with minimum purchase
quantities . Our contract manufacturers are obligated to fulfill against purchase orders that are aligned with our forecast based on terms and conditions of the contract.
Our forecasts provided to our contract manufacturers are short term in nature and at no time extend beyond a year . [.cgal proceedingsThe Company is involved from
time to time in various claims, proceedings, and litigation. The Company establishes reserves for spccmc legﬁ] prmccdmg% w hen it delermmes that lhe llke]]hood of an
unfavorable outcome is ]’)I obable and the amount of loss can be reasombly e@tlmated h a s-ah

€ de M‘mdgement does not bellexe thdt the resolution of these
matters would have a mdtel ial unpact on the Lonsohdated ﬁndmul statements. The Company has not ldentlﬁed any legal matters where it believes a material loss is
reasonably possible. 10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN PEANEmpleyees—--- Employees of the Company may participate in the Zevia LLC 401 (k) Plan (the “ Plan ), a
defined contribution plan which qualifies under Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Participating employees may contribute from 1 % to 90 % of their pre- tax
earnings, up to the statutory limit. Effective January 1, 2020, the Company began offering matching contributions to the Plan of up to 4 % of employee pre- tax earnings. For the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 ard-2024-, the Company incurred contribution expense of $ 0. 5 million and $ 0. 4-5 million, respectively. 11. BALANCE SHEET
COMPONENTSAccrued Expenses and Other Current LiabilitiesAccrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following as of: (in thousands) December 31,
2022-2023 December 31, 20242022 Accrued employee compensation benefits § 3-1 , 469-526 $ 3, 832-409 Accrued direct selling costs 1, 113 1, 593 -84H-Accrued customer
paid bottle duposus 1 734 1, 5 3 Auruud othur 1 600 2 153 -1—8-88-T01al $5, 973 $ 8 408 -$-6—795—l2 FQUITY BASFD (OMPFT\ SATIONIn eenﬂeeﬁeﬂ-w&t-h—t-he—l-PG—t-he

lulv 2()21 prior to the IP() the (c)mpdny ddopted the Ze\ld PB( 2()21 Equity Inceml\e Pldn (the 2()21 Plan ?) under whlch the (,nmpany may grant options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock units (£ RSUs ), restricted stock awards, other equity- based awards and incentive bonuses to employees, officers, non- employee
directors and other service providers of the Company and its affiliates. The number of shares available for issuance under the 2021 Plan is increased on January 1 of each year
beginning in 2022 and ending with a final increase in 2031 in an amount equal to the lesser of: (i) 5 % of the total number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding on the
preceding December 31, and-or (ii) a smaller number of shares determined by the Company > s Board of Directors. In October and November 2021, the Company ’ s Board of
Directors approved an amended-amendment to its equity- based compensation plans for a certain number of employees to allow immediate vesting upon retirement of
all outstanding RSY-RSUs awards-and stock options, and to extend the exerclsablhty of outsmndmg stock optlons he}d-byhup to ﬁve years after retlrement if they meet
certain empleyees-conditions , including i-ea e e 3 a a P
retirementgenerally-ineludes-a resignation after 1he holdu has lLdLhLd 50 years 01 age vulh al least 10 years of service to the (ompany S0 Iong as lh(. huldcr plondes advance
notice of suehretirement—As-his or her resignation to the Company’ s Board of Directors. During the year ended December 31, 2022 , three employees, retired from the
Company and all outstanding awards and related stock compensation expense of $ 8. 2 million, respectively, were accelerated through their retirement dates. As of
December 31, 2023 , the 2021 Plan provides for future grants and / or issuances of up to approximately 2. 5-7 million shares of our common stock. Equity- based awards under
our employee compensation plans are made with newly issued shares reserved for this purpose. Stock OptionsThe Company uses a Black- Scholes valuation model to measure
stock option expense as of each respective grant date. Generally, stock option grants vest ratably over four years, have a ten- year term, and have an exercise price equal to the
fair market value as of the grant date. The fair value of stock options is amortized to expense over the vesting period. 57The fair value of stock option awards granted during the
period was determined on the grant date using the Black- Scholes valuation model based on the following weighted- average assumptions: Year Ended December 31, Stock
price $2.90 $ 3. 40 $3+4-60-Exercise Price 2. 90 3. 93 +4-00-Expected term (years) (1) 6. 25 6. 66-25 Expected volatility (2) 65. 4 % 62. 7 %47-5-% Risk- Free interest rate
(3)3.6 % 2. 7%96-9% Dividend yield (4) 0. 0 % 0. 0 % (1) Expected term represents the estimated period of time until an award is exercised and was determined using the
simplified method. (2) Expected volatility for grants issued prior to July 21, 2023 (which is the two- year anniversary of the Company’ s IPO) is based on the historical
volatility of a selected peer group over a period equivalent to the expected term , and expected volatility for grants issued subsequent to July 21, 2023 is based on historical




volatility of the Company’ s stock . (3) The risk- free interest rate is an interpolation of yields on U. S. Treasury securities with maturities equivalent to the expected term. (4)
We have assumed a dividend yield of zero as swe-have-the Company has no plans to declare dividends in the foreseeable future. The weighted average grant date fair values for
stock options granted for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and262+-was S 1. 81 and $ 1. 97 and-$-6-39-, respectively. 58 The following is a summary of stock
option activity for the year ended December 31 20222023 : Shares Weighted av emge exeluse p1 ice Wethted average 1emdmmg life Imrmsu, xdlue (m thouscmds) Outstdndmg

Balance as of January 1, 2622-2023 14 6938 ante e 4 e and-exp 4 a S e
3120222, 769, 754 $ 3. 36 S-Granted 1, 472 639 $ 2 90 Exercnsed (142 783) $0.19 Forfelted and explred (1 018 707) $4—3 00 Balance as 0f December 31 455—2023
3,080,903 $3.40 7.7 $ 1, 230 Excrcisable at the end of the period 945-1, 796-111, 816 $ 2. 67 5. 6 $ | —40-5-, 230 Vested and expected to vest 3 , 080,903 $ 3 .40 7.7 5

$ 13368054, 455-230 The total intrinsic values of options exercised during the year ended December 31,2022-2023 was $ 0.9

4 million. As of December 31, 5_’-92%-2023 total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options was $ 3. 4-3 million, which is expected to be recognized
over a weighted- average period of 32 . 8 years. Restricted Phantom Units and Restricted Stock UnitsIn July 2021, the Company’ s Board of Directors approved an amendment
to 2, 422, 644 restricted phantom units (the ““ Restricted Phantom Units ) previously granted by Zevia LLC (the *“ Phantom Unit Amendment ). The Phantom Unit Amendment
changed lhc settlement feature of all outstanding Restricted Phantom Units so that following vesting, each award ef Restricted Phantom Units would be settled in shares of Class
A common stock having a fair market value equal to (i) the number of Restricted Phantom Units subject to such award, multiplied by (ii) the difference between the fair market
value of a share of Class A common stock and the grant date price per Restricted Phantom Unit. All other terms related to the Restricted Phantom Units remained unchanged. As
a result of the Phantom Unit Amendment, the estimated fair value of the modified awards was $ 33. 9 million and was recognized as an expense over the vesting period through
January 2022 subsequent to the performance condition being met. In March 2021, the Company +* s Board of Directors also approved an amendment to the RSUs granted by
Zevia LLC in August 2020 (““ the RSU Amendment ). The RSU Amendment ehanges-changed the vesting of such RSUs to occur as follows: (i) in the event of a change of
control, the RSUs shall vest effective as of such change of control or (ii) in the event of an initial public offering as in the case of the IPO, the RSUs shall vest in equal monthly
installments over a 36- month period following the termination of any lockup period and shall be subject to the participant’ s continued employment through such vesting date.
Additionally, settlement shall occur within 30 days following the vesting of the RSUs and the participant shall be entitled to receive one share of Class A common stock for each
vested RSU. All other terms remained unchanged. As a result of the RSU Amendment, the estimated fair value of the modified awards was $ 48. 9 million and are being
recognized as prunsu over 1hu wslmg period \ubsequcnl to 1he perlormﬂmc LOndlllOn bung met. As of Dutembu 31, 262-2-2023 the 1emamm0 service perlod of lhe awards is
25—13 months. I n ans v Wi

11 dineRSU- d ctoel 5 -+ tand (1 bilitv of EH tool

is a summary of RSU aclmly 101 lh(. year ulded I)eecmber 31, %(-)2—2—2023 Shales Wug,htud av uagc grant datu [alr value Aggrcgale Inmnsuc Value (m 1housands) Balanu
unvested shares at January 1, 20222023 72 , 984560 , 444-590 $ 5-3 . 33-90 Granted 1, 424276 , 740-876 $ 3. 4408 Vested (61, 445-103 , 278-160 ) =5 5-3 . 58-92 Forfeited
(97560 , 3+6-253 ) $ 4-2 . 8184 Balance un\/csted at Dccembcr 31, 2-92—2—2023 2, 569—174 599—053 $3. 99—1-9—68 $ 4 4—7—3—370 Expected to vest at Deccmher 31, 2-92—2—2023 2,
566-174 , 596-053 § 3. 96-10-68 $ 4 . 370 G ehudes S ested : 0 hen

years-and-therefore-havenotbeenreleased—As of Deeembel 31 2922—2023 total unrewémzed compensatlon expense reldted to unvs ested RSUs was 5 9—5 8—2 million, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted- average period of 2. 3-2 years. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were 593, 672 and 1, 345, 800, respectively, of RSUs
outstanding whlch vested in 2022 but are suh]ected toa deferred settlement provnsmn over the next tw0 years and therefore have not been released As a resnlt these

as S S v S SI:GMI:N I RI:PORI ING l he Compdny lldb one operdtmb d.l’ld erortmg7 seunentwhieh— and operates as a
producl poniol!o wuh a sm&le busmess plalioum In rcachmv this conclusion, management considered the definition of the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“ CODM ”); how
the business is defined by the CODM; the nature of the information provided to the CODM and how that information is used to make operating decisions; and how resources
and performance are aeeessed-assessed . The Company’ s CODM is the Chief Executive Officer. The results of the operations are provided to and analyzed by the CODM at the
Company & s level and accordingly, key resource decisions and assessment of performance are performed at the Company & s level. The Company has a common management
team across all product lines and does not manage these products as individual businesses and as a result, cash flows are not distinct. +5-14 . MAJOR CUSTOMERS,
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND VENDOR CONCENTRATIONThe table below represents the Company’ s major customers that accounted for more than 10 % of total net
sales for the periods: Year Ended December 31, Customer A % % Customer B % * 59 Sc-Customer-E-*-%-CustomerB-*3¢-The table below represents the Company’ s
customers that accounted for more than 10 % of total accounts receivable, net as of: December 31, 20222023 December 31, 26242022 Customer B % * Customer D * %
Customer B-%4-%-Cuastomer-L Y%-%-Customer+-* % Customer H * % Customer I % * The table below represents raw material vendors that accounted for more than 10 % of
all raw material purchases for the periods: Year Ended December 31, Vendor A % % Vendor B % % Vendor C % % Vendor E % * * Less than 10 % of total net sales,

accounts receivable, net or raw material purchases in the respective periods . +6-15 . LOSS PER SHAREBasic earatags<loss yper share of Class A common stock is computed
by dividing net loss attributable to the Company for the period by the weighted- average number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding during the same period.

Diluted earnings-loss per share of Class A common stock is computed by dividing net loss attributable to the Company by the weighted- average number of shares of Class A
common stock outstandmg adjusted to glve effect to potentmlly dllume securltles and assumed conversion —'Fhere—wereﬂe—shafes—of@l-ass—A—erless B common stock

to-the PO th oTT Larchi inelided : 1 £ Preferred-Uni

7 Fal
to-tRe-1r HeLevia-LrC MemoerSHp-S strueture-tncluded-various ©

. The following table sets forth reconciliations of the numerators dnd denommalors used to computc babl(, 'md dllul(.d earnings pu bhal(, o[ Class A common slock Yuu Ended
Deumber 31, (in lhousands except 10r share and per sham amounts) Net loss per share: Numerator: Net loss and comprehensive loss $ (28, 322) $ (47, 647 3$-(87-667) Less:

net loss attrlbutable to ZeviaLLC-prior-to-the Reer n-Fransaetions—-943-Fess:-netoss-attributablete-non- controlling interests 6, 828 13, 790 39;-768-Add:
adjustment to reallocate net loss to controlling interest (1) (1, 298) (1) —Net loss to Zevia PBC = basic $ ( 20, 694) $ (35, 155 3$-45;986-) Denominator: Weighted- average
shares of Class A common stock outstanding — basic 49, 898, 784 41, 739, 061 34;456;,469-Add: weighted average shares of vested and unreleased RSUs 719, 974 (2) 1, 730,
322 (2) —Weighted- average basic and diluted shares 50, 618, 758 43, 469, 383 34:456;:-409- oss per share of Class A common stock — basic $ (0. 41) $ (0. 81 3$-3313-)
Loss per share of Class A common stock — diluted $ (0. 41) $ (0. 81 }$-3-3333-) (1) The numerator for the basic and diluted loss per share is adjusted for additional losses
being attributed to controlling interest as a result of the impacts of vested but unreleased RSUs being included in the denominator of the basic and diluted loss per share. (2) The
denominator for basic and diluted loss per share includes vested and unreledsed RSUs as there are no conditions Khdt would prex ent these RSUs from bemg issued in the futme
as shares of C lass A common stock exeept for the mere pdssage of tlme pres e ESPer-s a e S

( ommon Umts sloek opllons and RSUs festﬂeted—steeleu-mts—wcru ualualed undcr the 1ruasu!y \lock mclhod 1or potenllal dilutive cl[ects and were determmed to be anti-
dilutive. The following weighted average outstanding shares were excluded from the computation of diluted ret-loss per share available to Class A common stockholders as
they were anti- dilutive : Year Ended December 31, Zevia LLC Class B Common Units exchangeable to shares of Class A common Steek-stock 20, 891, 366 26, 023, 476 305
H3;452-Stock options 3,407, 679 2, 239, 025 ,483;-824-Restricted stock units 2, 647, 975 3. 473, 655 16 7598544417 INCOME TAXES AND TAX RECEIVABLE
AGREEMENTIncome TaxesThe Company is the managing member of Zevia LLC and as a result, consolidates the financial results of Zevia LLC in the consolidated financial
statements of Zevia PBC. Zevia LLC is a pass- through entity for U. S. federal and most applicable state and local income tax purposes following the Reorganization
Transactions effected in connection with the IPO. As an entity classified as a partnership for tax purposes, Zevia LLC is not subject to U. S. federal and certain state and local
income taxes. Any taxable income or loss generated by Zevia LLC is passed through to its members, including the Company. The Company is taxed as a C corporation and pays
corporate federal, state and local taxes with respect to income allocated from Zevia LLC based on Zevia PBC &2 s economic interest in Zevia LLC, which was 75. 8 % and 68. 7
% and-53—4-%-, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2021-, respectively. Income tax expense consists of the following: Year Ended December 31, Current Federal $ — $
State Total Deferred Federal — — State — — Total — — Provision for income taxes $ $ 66-A reconciliation between the Company’ s effective tax rate and the applicable U.
S. federal statutory income tax rate is summarized as follows: Year Ended December 31, Tax computed at federal statutory rate 21. 0 % 21. 0 % State tax, net of federal tax
benefit 1. 0 % 0 . 8 %4F% Permanent items and other (0. 6) % (0. 8) %-6-0-% Non- controlling interests ( 8. 7) % (5. 8 ¥%+0-9-) % Equity- based compensation ( 3.5) % (
9. 2 ¥%3-F) % Valuation allowance ( 9. 5) % (6. 1 3%46(9-6-) % Effective Tax Rate (0. 3) % (0. 1) %6-6-% Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes. The components that comprise the Company +? s net DTAS s deferred-tax
assets-consist of the following: Year Ended December 31, Deferred tax assets Investment in Zevia LLC $ 53, 081 $ 53, 427 $47-955-Net operating loss carryforwards 20, 488
15, 970 4;3+44-Equity- based compensation 1, 795 3, 161 6;-848-Other temporary differences Total deferred tax assets 75, 541 72, 662 58;-946-Valuation allowance for deferred



tax assets (75, 541) ( 72, 662 }58;946-) Net deferred tax assets $ — $ — The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce DTAS deferred-tax-assets-to the amount the
Company believes is more likely than not to be realized. The determination of recording or releasing tax valuation allowances is made, in part, pursuant to an assessment
performed by management regarding the likelihood that the Company will generate sufficient future taxable income against which benefits of the DTAs deferred-tax-assets-may
or may not be realized. This assessment requires management to exercise significant judgment and make estimates with respect to the Company’ s ability to generate revenue,
gross profits, operating income and taxable income in future periods. The Company has recorded a full valuation allowance of $ 75. 5 and $ 72. 7 and-$-58—9-million as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2024-, respectively, as it cannot conclude that it is more likely than not that the DTAs deferred-tax-assets-will be realized primarily due to the
generation of pre- tax book losses from its inception. The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company +” s valuation allowance: Year Ended December 31,
Balance, beginning of the year $ 72, 662 $ 58, 940 $——Increases related to current year positions 2, 879 13, 722 58;-948-Balance, end of the year $ 75,541 $ 72, 662 61 $-58;
940-As of December 31, 2622-2023 , the Company has federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $ €6-83 . 2-7 million and $ 36-55 . 84 million, respectively. The
federal net operating loss can be carried forward indefinitely but are limited to 80 % utilization against future taxable income each year in accordance with the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act of 2017. The state net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2031 unless previously utilized by the Company. The Company recognizes liabilities for uncertain
tax positions based on a two- step process. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more
likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as
the largest amount that is more than 50 % likely of being realized upon settlement. While the Company believes that it has appropriate support for the positions taken on its tax
returns, the Company regularly assesses the potential outcome of examinations by tax authorities in determining the adequacy of its provision for income taxes. As of December
31,2022-2023 , the Company has no uncertain tax positions and does not expect a significant change in unrecognized tax benefits during the next 12 months. The Company is
subject to taxation in the Ynited-States-U. S. and various states . The Company is currently under the audit examinations by Texas for taxable years 2019- 2021. As of
December 31, 2023, the Company believes there will be no change of significance in its recorded tax positions and accordingly, no liability for uncertain tax benefits
has been recorded . The Company is not currently under examination by any other taxing authorities. Due to the carryover of tax attributes, the statute of limitations is
currently open for tax years since inception for Zevia PBC. On March 27, 2020, the Ynited-States-U. S. enacted the CARES Act. The Cares Act is an emergency economic
stimulus package that includes spending and tax breaks to strengthen the Ynited-States-U. S. economy and fund a nationwide effort to curtail the effect of COVID- 19. The
CARES Act provides sweeping tax changes in response to the COVID- 19 pandemic, some of the more significant provisions are amending certain provisions of the previously
enacted Tax Cuts and Jobs Act related to depreciable property and net operating losses, deferral of payroll taxes, and the Paycheck Protection program. At é+-December 31, 2622
2023 the ( ompany has rmt booked any mcome tax prmmmn or benetlt for the 1mpact for the CARES Act due to 1ts recent incor pot atlon and the pa<§ thlough treatment of

sage-ofeo ate+h e-tax-eredits—Fhere-was-no-materialHmpaet-fromthe provistens—e i Augusl]() 2022 tthﬂﬁed—Sfa—tes—USunactgdthglnﬂanon
Rc.ductlon Act 0f2022 (“IRA ™), Wh]Ch mcludw als % book income altcrmtlvc minimum tax on corpnratmm with average applicable financial statement income over § 1
billion for any three year period ending with 2022 or later and a 1 % excise tax on the fair market value of stock that is repurchased by publicly- traded U. S. corporations or
their specified affiliates. The alternative minimum tax and the excise tax are effective in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2022. The IRA also includes provisions
intended to mitigate climate change by, among others, providing tax credit incentives for reductions in greenhouse gas emissions. Fhe-Company-does-This leglslatlon did not
believe-thislegistation-will-have a material impact on enr-the consolidated financial statements. Tax Receivable AgreementThe Company expects to obtain an increase in its
share of tax basis in the net assets of Zevia, LLC when Class B units are exchanged by the holders of Class B units for shares of Class A common stock of the Company and
upon certain qualifying transactions. Each change in outstanding shares of Class A common stock of the Company results in a corresponding change in the Company - s
ownership of Class A units of Zevia, LLC. The Company intends to treat any exchanges of Class B units as direct purchases of LLC interests for U. S. federal income tax
purposes. These increases in tax basis may reduce the amounts that Zevia PBC would otherwise pay in the future to various taxing authorities. They may also decrease gains (or
increase losses) on future dispositions of certain capital assets to the extent tax basis is allocated to those capital assets. In connection with the IPO, the Company entered into a
Tax Receivable Agreement (% TRA *) with continuing members of Zevia LLC and the Direct Zevia Stockholders. In the event that such parties exchange any or all of their
Class B units for Class A common stock, the TRA requires the Company to make payments to such holders for 85 % of the tax benefits realized, or in some cases deemed to be
realized, by the Company by such exchange as a result of (i) certain favorable tax attributes acquired from the Blocker Companies in the Mergers (including net operating losses
and the Blocker Companies’ allocable share of existing tax basis), (ii) increases in tax basis resulting from Zevia PBC - s acquisition of continuing member~’ s Zevia LLC units
in connection with the IPO and in future exchanges and, (iii) tax basis increases attributable to payments made under the TRA (including tax benefits related to imputed interest).
The annual tax benefits are computed by calculating the income taxes due, including such tax benefits, and the income taxes due without such benefits. The Company expects to
benefit from the remaining 15 % of any tax benefits that it may actually realize. The TRA payments are not conditioned upon any continued ownership interest in Zevia, LLC or
the Company. To the extent that the Company is unable to timely make payments under the TRA for any reason, such payments generally will be deferred and will accrue
interest until paid. The timing and amount of aggregate payments due under the TRA may vary based on a number of factors, including the amount and timing of the taxable
income the Company generates each year and the tax rate then applicable. The Company calculates the liability under the TRA using a complex TRA model, which includes an
assumption related to the fair market value of assets. Payments are generally due under the TRA within a specified period of time following the filing of the Company’ s tax
return for the taxable year with respect to which the payment obligation arises, although interest on such payments will begin to accrue at a rate of the SOFR-Secured Overnight
Financing Rate plus 300 basis points from the due date (without extensions) of such tax return. The TRA provides that if (i) certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business
combinations, or other changes of control were to occur; (ii) there is a material uncured breach of any obligations under the TRA; or (iii) the Company elects an early
termination of the TRA, then the TRA will terminate and the Company + s obligations, or the Company +” s successor’ s obligations, under the TRA will accelerate and become
due and payable, based on certain assumptions, including an assumption that the Company would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize all potential future tax benefits
that are subject to the TRA and that any Class B units that have not been exchanged are deemed exchanged for the fair market value of the Company - s Class A common stock
at the time of termination. 62 As of December 31, 20222023 , the Company has concluded, based on applicable accounting standards, that it was more likely than not that its
DTAS deferred-tax-assetssubject to the TRA would not be realized; therefore, the Company has not recorded a liability related to the tax savings it may realize from utilization
of such DTAs deferred-tax-assets- The TRA liability that would be recognized if the associated tax benefits were determined to be fully realizable totaled $ 56. 2 million and $
55. 8 mitenand-$45—6-million at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2021-, respectively. The increase in the TRA liability is primarily related to Class B to Class A exchanges
during the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 . If utilization of the DTAs deferred-tax-asset-subject to the TRA becomes more likely than not in the future, the Company will
record a liability related to the TRA which will be recognized as expense within its consolidated statements of operations. 48-17 . UNAUDITED QUARTERLY
INFORMATIONThe following summarizes selected dited quarterly fi ial data for the year ended December 31, 2023 (amounts may not sum due to rounding):
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter Net sales $ 43, 300 $ 42, 241 $ 43, 089 $ 37, 794
Gross profit 20, 105 19, 692 19, 572 15, 389 (2) Loss from operations (3, 251) (5, 377) (11, 420) (1) (8, 895) (3) Loss before income taxes (2, 911) (4, 974) (11, 255) (1) (9,
130) (3) Net loss and comprehensive loss (2, 912) (5, 009) (11, 250) (1) (9, 151) (3) Net loss attributable to Zevia PBC (2, 091) (3, 931) (8, 217) (7, 255) Basic earnings per
share (0. 03) (0. 08) (0. 16) (0. 14) Diluted earnings per share (0. 04) (0. 08) (0. 16) (0. 14) Weighted- average shares of Class A Common Stock- basic 49, 372, 874 50,
094, 096 50, 754, 470 52, 220, 804 Weighted- average shares of Class A Common Stock- diluted 72, 250, 338 50, 094, 096 50, 754, 470 52, 220, 804 (1) Net loss in the
third quarter of 2023 increased primarily due to short- term supply chain logistics challenges which hindered fulfillment and impacted net sales results and selling and
marketing expenses. (2) Gross profit decreased in the fourth quarter of 2023 primarily due to a decrease in volumes and higher inventory losses as a result of the
brand refresh, SKU optimization, and procurement changes. (3) Net loss in the fourth quarter of 2023 increased primarily due to short- term supply chain logistics
challenges which hindered fulfillment and impacted net sales results and selling and marketing expenses, as well as higher inventory losses as a result of the brand
refresh, SKU optimization, and procurement changes. The following summarizes selected unaudited quarterly financial data for the year ended December 31, 2022 (amounts
may not sum due to rounding): (in thousands, except share and per share amounts) First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter Net sales $ 38, 034 $ 45,542 §
44,239 $ 35,366 Gross profit 15, 879 4519, 321 €5-19, 168 15, 653 Loss from operations (17, 555) (14, 743) (9, 221) (6, 349) Loss before income taxes (17, 473) (14, 787) (9,
195) (6, 127) Net loss and comprehensive loss (17, 485) (14, 796) (9, 196) (6, 170) Net loss attributable to Zevia PBC (10, 898) (11, 090) (7, 484) (4, 385) Basic earnings per
share (0. 28) (2H0. 27) (0. 16 H2) (0. 09) Diluted earnings per share (0. 28) ( 2}0. 77)(29—(—0 16-)-62-) (0 09) Weighted- av LTH&ZL shares of Class A Common Stock-

basic and-duted35, 371, 713(-2-)-47 051, 987 2845, 935, 507(-2-)-47 368, 849 The-foHowing-s izes-seleet dited-quarterly-financial-datafor-the-year ended




]lcm 9. Chanm,s in ﬁnd Dlsaorccmgnts with ALCOU]]IantS on Accountmg and Fmanc1a] Disclosure Item 9A. Controls and

Procedures. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures We maintain “ disclosure controls and procedures, ” as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) under the
Exchange Act that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’ s rules and forms and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management including our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer
and Interim Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2622-2023 . Based on the foregoing evaluation,
management determined that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2022-2023 . Management recognizes
that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily
applies its judgment in evaluating the cost- benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our management is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company, as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f) under the
Exchange Act. Our internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’ s
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U. S. GAAP. As of December 31, 2622-2023 , our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control- Integrated Framework.
Based on this assessment, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2622-2023 . Attestation Report of
Registered Public Accounting Firm This Report does not include an attestation report of our internal controls from our independent registered public accounting firm due to our
status as an “ emerging growth company  as defined in Section 2 (a) of the Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012. Changes in Internal
Control over Financial Reporting. Management determined that as of December 31, 26222023 , no changes in our internal control over financial reporting had occurred during
the fiscal quarter then ended that materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting. Item 9B. Other Information . (b)
None of our directors or executive officers adopted or terminated a Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement or a non- Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement during the quarter
ended December 31, 2023, as such terms are defined under Item 408 (a) of Regulation S- K . Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.
PART III Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under
the captions “ Election of Directors, ” “ Corporate Governance, ” “ Executive Officers, ”” “ Delinquent Section 16 (a) Reports ” (if applicable) and “ Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics ” in the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2023-2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31,
2622-2023 (the “ 2024 Proxy Statement ” . Item 11. Executive Compensation. The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth
under the captions “ Director Compensation ” and “ Executive Compensation ™ in the definitive-2024 Proxy Statement for-eur2023-Annual-Meeting-of Stoekholders;-whieh-wilt
be—ﬁied—wrﬂﬁhe—SEGne&ﬂteﬁhﬂﬂ&%@-éayﬁrﬁe&Beeember%&—Z%%— Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters. The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the capuons Sccurlly mershlp of Ccrtam Bcncllua] Owncrs
and Management ” and “ Equity Compensation Plan Information ” in the definitive-2024 Proxy Statement § v h

. Item 13. Certain Relannmhlps and Related Tr:msactlom and Dlrector Independence The mtormatlon reqmred by this
item is incorporated by reference to the mformdtron set forth under the Ldptmns Celtdm Reldtlonshlps and Reldted Person Transactions ” and *“ Director Independence ” in the
definitive-2024 Proxy Statement A A v . Item 14.
Principal Accountant Fees and SLI‘VICLS The mtormallon ruqulrud by llns 1lum is mcorporalcd by rdcruncc to lhg mtormauon set torlh undcr lhu capllon Prlnupal Accountant
Fees and Services ” in the definitive-2024 Proxy Statement A 3 h d-wwith-th 3 A e
Beeember31-2022-. PART IV Item 15. Exhibits, Financial gtatemem Schedule% The fnllowmg documentﬁ are ﬁled as a part of this Annual Report (a) Fmanc1a1 Statememq
Our Consolidated Financial Statements are listed in the *“ Index to Consolidated Financial Statements ”” under Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report. (b) Financial Statement
Schedules All financial statement schedules are omitted because the information called for is not required or is shown either in the consolidated financial statements or in the
notes thereto. (¢) Exhibits The exhibits listed below are filed as part of this Annual Report, or are incorporated herein by reference, in each case as indicated below. EXHIBIT
INDEX Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit 3. 1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Company’ s Current
Report on Form 8- K filed on July 26, 2021). 3. 2 Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed on July 26, 2021). 4. 1 Description of Securities (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Company +* s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed on March 11,
2022) 10. 1 Thirteenth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Zevia LLC Agreement dated as of July 21, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10. 1 of the Company - s Periodic Report on Form 10- Q filed August 13, 2021). 10. 2 Tax Receivable Agreement dated as of July 21, 2021 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10. 2 of the Company > s Periodic Report on Form 10- Q filed on August 13, 2021). 10. 3 Zevia PBC Eleventh Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement
dated July 21, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 of the Company +* s Periodic Report on Form 10- Q, filed on August 13, 2021). 10. 4 Form of Indemnification
Agreement entered into with Directors and Executive Officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 4 of the Company +* s Registration Statement on Form S- 1/ A filed on
July 12, 2021). 10.8-5 # Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99. 1 to the Company’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 8 filed
on July 26, 2021). 10. 9-6 # Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99. 2 to the Company” s Registration Statement on Form S- 8 filed on July 26, 2021). 10. 468-7 # Form of Nonqualified Stock
Options Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99. 3 to the Company”’ s
Registration Statement on Form S- 8 filed on July 26, 2021). 10. H-8 # Zevia 2020 Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 6 of the Company -
Registration Statement on Form S- 1 filed on June 25, 2021). 10. 42-9 # Form of Zevia LLC Notice of Restricted Class C Common Unit Award and Restricted Class C Common
Unit Agreement (2020) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 7 of the Company +-? s Registration Statement on Form S- 1 filed on June 25, 2021). 10. 43-10 # Form of
Zevia LLC Notice of Restricted Class C Common Unit Award and Restricted Class C Common Unit Agreement (2021) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 8 of the
Company - s Registration Statement on Form S- 1 filed on June 25, 2021). 10. +#4-11 # Form of Zevia LLC First Amendment to Notice of Restricted Class C Common Unit
Award and Restricted Class C Common Unit Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 9 of the Company ~” s Registration Statement on Form S- 1 filed on
June 25, 2021). 10. +5-12 # Form of Zevia LLC Second Amendment to Notice of Restricted Class C Common Unit Award and Restricted Class C Common Unit Agreement
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 15 of Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed on March 11, 2022). 10. +6-13 # Zevia LLC 2011 Unit Incentive Plan, as
amended, and the Form of Unit Option Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 10 of the Company -> s Registration Statement on Form S- 1 filed on June 25,
2021). 10. +#14 # Form of Zevia LLC 2011 Unit Incentive Plan, as amended, Second Amendment to Unit Option Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 17
of Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed on March 11, 2022). 10.48-15 # Form of Zevia LLC 2011 Unit Incentive Plan, as amended, Third Amendment to Unit
Option Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 18 of Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed on March 11, 2022). 10.49-16 # Form of Zevia LLC
Notice of Restricted Phantom Class C Common Unit Award and Restricted Phantom Class C Common Unit Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 11 of
the Company +” s Registration Statement on Form S- 1 filed on June 25, 2021). 10. 26-17 # Form of Zevia LLC First Amendment to Notice of Restricted Phantom Class C
Common Unit Award and Restricted Phantom Class C Common Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 12 of the Company - s Registration Statement on
Form S- 1/ A filed on July 12, 2021). 10. 24-18 Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of February 22, 2022, by and among Zevia LLC, certain of its subsidiaries from time to
time joined hereto as borrowers, the financial institutions party thereto from time to time as Lenders and Bank of America, N. A., a national banking association, as agent for the
Lenders thereto (111(.01 pordted herem by referen(,e to Exhlblt 10 1 ofthe Reglsﬁ'aﬁts-Company s Current Report on Form 8-K ﬁled on Feberry 24 2022) 10. 1925—#—]:e&er

Restdted Offer Letter dated June 15, 2022 between Zevia PBC and Amy Tdylor (mcorporated herem by reference to Exhlblt 10.3 of the Company s Quarterly Report on
Form 10- Q filed on August 11, 2022). 10. 20 # Amended and Restated Severance Agreement dated June 15, 2022, between Zevia PBC and Amy Taylor (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 4 of the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed on August 11, 2022). 10. 21 # Separation Agreement and General Release
of Claims between the Company and Quincy B. Troupe (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 of the Company' s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed on
AugustH-November 7 , 2622-2023 ). 10. 36-22 # Letter Amended-and-Restated-Severanee-Agreement datedJune+5;2022-between ZeviaPBE-the Company and Amy
Faylor-Florence Neubauer (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 4-2 of the Company' s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed on August++-November 7 , 2622-2023
). 10. 3423 # Separation-Severance Agreement and-General-Release-of Claims-dated-May-6;2022-between ZeviaPBE-the Company and Florence Neubauer Witliam-D-
Beeelr(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 43 of the Company' s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed on August3-November 7 , 2022-2023 ). 10. 3224 # *



of Claims-dated-May13;2022-betweenRestricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Standard Terms

and Condltlons under the 7&\ ia PBC 2021 Equlty Incentlve Plan and-William-D-—Beeeh-( ineorporated-herein-byreferenee-to-Exhibit-for U. S. Employee SVP) 10. 25 # * +
Form of Nonqualified Stock Options Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions under the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity

Incentive Plan (for U. S. Employee SVP) 10 —Q-fHed-on-AugusttHs-. 26 # * Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Standard Terms and Conditions

under the ZeVla PBC 20622-2021 Equity Incentive Plan (for Board Director ) —21. | * Subsidiaries of the Company. 23. 1 * Consent of Independent Registered Accounting
Firm 31. 1 * Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a- I-l (a) k\nd 15d- 14 (a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 31. 2 * Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a- 14 (a) and 15d- 14 (a) under the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 32 Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant
to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 97 * Zevia PBC Clawback Policy 101. INS * Inline XBRL Instance
Document 101. SCH * Inline XBRL T: axonomy Extension Schema Wlth Embedded Beﬂﬂﬂeﬁ%}@}—%%e%—?ﬁx@ﬂemy—&tenﬁmr@a}eﬂhﬁeﬁl Iﬂl\bd\(,

Exhibit 101) * Filed herewith. l_llllll\ hed huu\llh # \Ialmwmun contract or Lom}\n\llmx plan or mdn”umnl Item 16. Form 10- K Sumnml} SI(:\ ATURES Pursuant to

the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. Zevia PBC By: /s / Amy E. Taylor Name: Amy E. Taylor Title: President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
Date: March +8-6 , 2623-2024 Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the

Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. By: / s/ Amy E. Taylor By: / s / Girish Satya Penise B—Beeldes-Name: Amy E. Taylor Name: Girish Satya Denise
PBeekdes Title: President and Chief Executive Officer, Director Title: Chief Financial Officer (Principal Executive Officer) (Principal Financial Officer) Date: March +8-6 ,
2623-2024 Date: March +6-6 , 2623-2024 By: / s / Hany Mikhail By: / s / Padraic Spence Name: Hany Mikhail Name: Padraic Spence Title: Chief Accounting Officer Title:
Director and Board Chair (Principal Accounting Officer) Date: March +6-6 , 2023-2024 Date: March +6-6 , 2023-2024 By: / s / Jacqueline J. Hayes By: / s / David J. Lee Name:
Jacqueline J. Hayes Name: David J. Lee Title: Director Title: Director Date: March +6-6 , 2623-2024 Date: March +6-6 , 2623-2024 By: / s / Rosemary L. Ripley By: / s

Andrew Ruben Name: Rosemary L. Ripley Name: Andrew Ruben Title: Director Title: Director Date: March +8-6 , 2623-2024 Date: March +6-6 , 2623-2024 By: / s / Julie G.
Ruehl By: / s/ Justin Shaw Name: Julie G. Ruehl Name: Justin Shaw Title: Director Title: Director Date: March +6-6 , 2023-2024 Date: March 6, 2024 Exhibit 10 ;-. 24Annual
Grant — U. S. Employee Form for SVP 2623-2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN GRANT NOTICE FOR RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD FOR GOOD AND
VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, Zevia PBC (the “ Company ”), hereby grants to the Participant named below the number of Restricted Stock Units (the “ RSUs ”)
specified below (the “ Award ”) under the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “ Plan ). Each RSU represents the right to receive one share of Common Stock,
upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Grant Notice, the Plan and the Standard Terms and Conditions (the “ Standard Terms and Conditions )
promulgated under such Plan and attached hereto as Exhibit A. This Award is granted pursuant to the Plan and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by the
Standard Terms and Conditions. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan. Name of Participant: Grant Date:
Number of RSUs: Vesting Schedule: Subject to the Plan and the Standard Terms and Conditions, the RSUs shall vest in accordance with the following schedule, so
long as the Participant does not incur a Termination of Employment from the Grant Date through each vesting date: By ++s+Philip-H-accepting this Grant Notice, the
Participant acknowledges that the Participant has received and read, and agrees that this Award shall be subject to, the terms of this Grant Notice, the Plan, and the
Standard Terms and Conditions . 9 Brien-By: Name: PhilipH-O'Brien-Titlc: Direeter PARTICIPANT [ Name ] Signature Page to Grant Notice forRestricted Stock
Unit Award EXHIBIT A STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FORRESTRICTED STOCK UNITS These Standard Terms and Conditions apply to the Award
of Restricted Stock Units granted pursuant to the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “ Plan ), which are evidenced by a Grant Notice or an action of the
Committee that specifically refers to these Standard Terms and Conditions. In addition to these Standard Terms and Conditions, the Restricted Stock Units shall be
subject to the terms of the Plan, which are incorporated into these Standard Terms and Conditions by this reference. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein
shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan. 1. TERMS OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS Zevia PBC (the “ Company ”) has granted to the Participant named in
the Grant Notice provided to said Participant herewith (the “ Grant Notice ”) an award of Restricted Stock Units (the “ Award ” or “ RSUs ”) specified in the Grant
Notice, with each Restricted Stock Unit representing the right to receive one share of Common Stock. The Award is subject to the conditions set forth in the Grant
Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan. For purposes of these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Grant Notice, any reference to the
Company shall include a reference to any Subsidiary. 2. VESTING AND SETTLEMENT OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS (a) The Award shall not be vested as of
the Grant Date set forth in the Grant Notice and shall be forfeitable unless and until otherwise vested pursuant to the terms of the Grant Notice and these Standard
Terms and Conditions. After the Grant Date, subject to termination or acceleration as provided in these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan, the Award
shall become vested as described in the Grant Notice with respect to that number of Restricted Stock Units as set forth in the Grant Notice. Restricted Stock Units that
have vested and are no longer subject to forfeiture are referred to herein as “ Vested RSUs. ” Restricted Stock Units awarded hereunder that are not vested and
remain subject to forfeiture are referred to herein as “ Unvested RSUs. ” (b) As soon as administratively practicable following the vesting of the RSUs pursuant to the
Grant Notice and this Section 2, but in no event later than 30 days after each vesting date, the Company shall deliver to the Participant shares of Common Stock equal
to the number of Vested RSUs. (c) If the Participant’ s Termination of Employment is as a result of the Participant’ s death or Disability, all then Unvested RSUs shall
become Vested RSUs effective as of the date of such Termination of Employment. Exhibit AStandard Terms and Conditions forRestricted Stock Units (d) If the
Participant’ s Termination of Employment is as a result of a Qualifying Termination (as defined below), all then Unvested RSUs shall become Vested RSUs effective as
of the date of such Termination of Employment, subject to the Participant’ s execution and non- revocation of a release of claims, in the form provided by the
Company within the time period specified therein. (¢) Upon the Participant’ s Termination of Employment for any other reason not set forth in Section 2 (c) or 2 (d),
any then Unvested RSUs held by the Participant shall be forfeited and canceled, for no consideration as of the date of the Participant’ s Termination of Employment.
(f) As used in this Section 2: (i) “ Good Reason ” has the meaning set forth in the Severance Agreement by and between the Company and the Participant. (ii) “
Qualifying Termination ” means the Participant’ s Termination of Employment by the Company without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reason, in each case,
on or within 18 months following the consummation of a Change in Control. 3. RIGHTS AS STOCKHOLDER; DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS (g) The Participant shall
not be, nor have any of the rights or privileges of, a stockholder of the Company in respect of any RSUs (including any voting rights or rights to dividends or
distributions paid on shares of Common Stock, except as provided in Section 3 (b)) unless and until shares of Common Stock settled for such RSUs shall have been
issued by the Company to the Participant (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company).
(h) Notwithstanding the foregoing, from and after the Grant Date and until the earlier of (i) the Participant’ s receipt of Common Stock upon settlement of RSUs and
(ii) the time when the Participant’ s right to receive Common Stock upon settlement of RSUs is forfeited, on the date that the Company pays a cash dividend (if any) to
holders of Common Stock generally, the Participant shall be entitled, as a Dividend Equivalent, to a number of additional whole RSUs determined by dividing (i) the
product of (A) the dollar amount of such cash dividend paid per share of Common Stock and (B) the total number of outstanding RSUs (including dividend equivalents
paid thereon) held by the Participant on the record date for such dividend, by (ii) the Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock on the date such dividend is paid
to holders of Common Stock generally. Such Dividend Equivalents (if any) shall be subject to the same terms and conditions and shall be settled or forfeited in the
same manner and at the same time as the RSUs to which the Dividend Equivalents were credited. 4. RESTRICTIONS ON RESALES OF SHARES The Company may
impose such restrictions, conditions or limitations as it determines appropriate as to the timing and manner of any resales by the Participant or other subsequent
transfers by the Participant of any shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to Vested RSUs, including (a) restrictions under an insider trading policy, (b) restrictions
designed to delay and / or coordinate the timing and manner of sales by the Participant and other holders and (c) restrictions as to the A- 2 use of a specified brokerage
firm for such resales or other transfers. 5. INCOME TAXES To the extent required by applicable federal, state, local or foreign law, the Participant shall make
arrangements satisfactory to the Company for the satisfaction of any withholding tax obligations that arise by reason of the grant or vesting of the RSUs. The
Company shall not be required to issue shares or to recognize the disposition of such shares until such obligations are satisfied. 6. NON TRANSFERABILITY OF
AWARD Except as permitted by the Committee or as permitted under Section 17 of the Plan, the Award may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise
directly or indirectly encumbered or disposed of other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. 7. OTHER AGREEMENTS SUPERSEDED The Grant
Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan constitute the entire understanding between the Participant and the Company regarding the Award. Any
prior agreements, commitments or negotiations concerning the Award are superseded. 8. LIMITATION OF INTEREST IN SHARES SUBJECT TO RESTRICTED
STOCK UNITS Neither the Participant (individually or as a member of a group) nor any beneficiary or other person claiming under or through the Participant shall
have any right, title, interest, or privilege in or to any shares of Common Stock allocated or reserved for the purpose of the Plan or subject to the Grant Notice or these
Standard Terms and Conditions except as to such shares of Common Stock, if any, as shall have been issued to such person in connection with the Award. Nothing in
the Plan, in the Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions or any other instrument executed pursuant to the Plan shall confer upon the Participant any right
to continue in the Company’ s employ or service nor limit in any way the Company’ s right to terminate the Participant’ s employment at any time for any reason. 9.
NO LIABILITY OF COMPANY The Company and any affiliate which is in existence or hereafter comes into existence shall not be liable to the Participant or any
other person as to: (a) the non issuance or sale of shares of Common Stock as to which the Company has been unable to obtain from any regulatory body having
jurisdiction the authority d d by the Company’ s ¢ 1 to be necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any shares hereunder ; and (b) any tax consequence
expected, but not realized, by the Participant or other person due to the receipt or settlement of the Award. 10. GENERAL (i) In the event that any provision of the




Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions is declared to be illegal, invalid or otherwise unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provision
shall be reformed, if possible, to the extent necessary to render it legal, A- 3 valid and enforceable, or otherwise deleted, and the remainder of the Grant Notice and
these Standard Terms and Conditions shall not be affected except to the extent necessary to reform or delete such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision. (j) The
headings preceding the text of the sections hereof are inserted solely for convenience of reference, and shall not constitute a part of the Grant Notice or these Standard
Terms and Conditions, nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect. Words in the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender, and where
appropriate, the plural shall include the singular and the singular shall include the plural. The use herein of the word “ including ” following any general statement,
term or matter shall not be construed to limit such statement, term or matter to the specific items or matters set forth immediately following such word or to similar
items or matters, whether or not non- limiting language (such as “ without limitation ”, “ but not limited to ”, or words of similar import) is used with reference
thereto, but rather shall be deemed to refer to all other items or matters that could reasonably fall within the broadest possible scope of such general statement, term
or matter. References herein to any agreement, instrument or other document means such agreement, instrument or other document as amended, supplemented and
modified from time to time to the extent permitted by the provisions thereof and not prohibited by the Plan, the Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and
Conditions. Unless the context requires otherwise, all references to laws and regulations refer to such laws and regulations as they may be amended from time to time,
and references to particular provisions of laws or regulations include a reference to the corresponding provisions of any succeeding law or regulation. (k) The Grant
Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective permitted heirs,
beneficiaries, successors and assigns. (I) The Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws
of the State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflicts of law. (m) In the event of any conflict between the Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and
Conditions and the Plan, the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall control. In the event of any conflict between the Grant Notice and these
Standard Terms and Conditions, the Grant Notice shall control. (n) All questions arising under the Plan, the Grant Notice or under these Standard Terms and
Conditions shall be decided by the Commiittee in its total and absolute discretion. 11. CLAWBACK The Restricted Stock Units and any shares of Common Stock
issued pursuant to the Vested RSUs will be subject to recoupment in accordance with any clawback policy adopted by the Company. No recovery of compensation
under such a clawback policy will be an event giving rise to a right to resign for “ good reason ” or “ constructive termination ” (or similar term) under any agreement
with the Company. By accepting the Award, the Participant is agreeing to be bound by any such clawback policy, as in effect or as may be adopted and / or modified
from time to time by the A- 4 Company in its discretion. 12. ELECTRONIC DELIVERY By executing the Grant Notice, the Participant hereby consents to the
delivery of information (including information required to be delivered to the Participant pursuant to applicable securities laws) regarding the Company and the
Subsidiaries, the Plan, and the Restricted Stock Units via Company web site or other electronic delivery. A- 5 Exhibit 10. 25Annual Grant — U. S. Employee Form for
SVP GRANT NOTICE FORNONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTIONS FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, Zevia PBC (the “ Company ”) hereby grants
to the Participant named below the Nonqualified Stock Option (the “ Option ”) to purchase any part or all of the number of shares of Common Stock that are covered
by this Option at the Exercise Price per share, each specified below, and upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Grant Notice, the Zevia PBC
2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “ Plan ”) and the Standard Terms and Conditions (the “ Standard Terms and Conditions ") promulgated under such Plan and
attached hereto as Exhibit A. This Option is granted pursuant to the Plan and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by the Standard Terms and Conditions. This
Option is not intended to qualify as an incentive stock option under Section 422 of the Code. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings
set forth in the Plan. Name of Participant: Grant Date: Mareh-Number of Shares of Common Stock covered by Option: Exercise Price Per Share: Expiration Date:
Vesting Schedule: Subject to the Plan and the Standard Terms and Conditions, the Option shall vest and become exercisable in accordance with the following
schedule, so long as the Participant does not incur a Termination of Employment from the Grant Date through each vesting date: By accepting this Grant Notice, the
Participant acknowledges that the Participant has received and read, and agrees that this Option shall be subject to, the terms of this Grant Notice, the Plan and the
Standard Terms and Conditions. Signature Page toGrant Notice forNonqualified Stock Options STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FORNONQUALIFIED
STOCK OPTIONS These Standard Terms and Conditions apply to the Options granted pursuant to the Zevia PBC 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “ Plan ), which
are identified as nonqualified stock options and are evidenced by a Grant Notice or an action of the Committee that specifically refers to these Standard Terms and
Conditions. In addition to these Standard Terms and Conditions, the Option shall be subject to the terms of the Plan, which are incorporated into these Standard
Terms and Conditions by this reference. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan. 1. Terms of Option Zevia PBC
(the “ Company ) has granted to the Participant named in the Grant Notice provided to said Participant herewith (the “ Grant Notice ”) a Nonqualified Stock Option
(the “ Option ) to purchase up to the number of shares of Common Stock at a per share Exercise Price, each as set forth in the Grant Notice. The Option is subject to
the conditions set forth in the Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions, and the Plan. For purposes of these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Grant
Notice, any reference to the Company shall include a reference to any Subsidiary. 2. Nonqualified Stock Option The Option is not intended to be an incentive stock
option under Section 422 of the Code and will be interpreted accordingly. 3. Exercise of Option (a) The Option shall not be exercisable as of the Grant Date set forth in
the Grant Notice. After the Grant Date, to the extent not previously exercised, and subject to termination or acceleration as provided in these Standard Terms and
Conditions and the Plan, the Option shall be exercisable only to the extent it is or becomes vested, as described in the Grant Notice, to purchase up to that number of
shares of Common Stock as set forth in the Grant Notice; provided, that (except as set forth in Section 4 (a)) the Participant remains employed with the Company and
does not experience a Termination of Employment. The vesting period and / or exercisability of the Option may be adjusted by the Committee to reflect the decreased
level of employment during any period in which the Participant is on an approved leave of absence or is employed on a less than full time basis. (b) To exercise the
Option (or any part thereof), the Participant shall deliver to the Company a “ Notice of Exercise ” in a form specified by the Committee, specifying the number of
whole shares of Common Stock that the Participant wishes to purchase and how the Participant’ s Exhibit AStandard Terms and Conditions forNonqualified Stock
Options shares of Common Stock should be registered (in the Participant’ s name only or in the Participant’ s and the Participant’ s spouse’ s names as community
property or as joint tenants with right of survivorship). (c) The exercise price (the “ Exercise Price ”) of the Option is set forth in the Grant Notice. The Company shall
not be obligated to issue any shares of Common Stock until the Participant shall have paid the total Exercise Price for that number of shares of Common Stock. The
Exercise Price may be paid in Common Stock, cash or a combination thereof, including an irrevocable commitment by a broker to pay over such amount from a sale
of the Common Stock issuable under the Option, the delivery of previously owned Common Stock, withholding of shares of Common Stock otherwise deliverable upon
exercise of the Option (but only to the extent share withholding is made available to the Participant by the Company), or in such other manners as may be permitted by
the Committee. (d) Fractional shares may not be exercised. Shares of Common Stock will be issued as soon as practical after exercise. Notwithstanding the above, the
Company shall not be obligated to deliver any shares of Common Stock during any period when the Company determines that the exercisability of the Option or the
delivery of shares of Common Stock hereunder would violate Company policy or any federal, state or other applicable laws. 4. Expiration of Option;
ACCELERATED VESTING The Option shall expire and cease to be exercisable as of the earlier of (i) the Expiration Date set forth in the Grant Notice or (ii) the date
specified below in connection with the Participant’ s Termination of Employment: (a) If the Participant’ s Termination of Employment is as a result of the Participant’
s death or Disability, (i) the entire Option shall be fully vested and exercisable and (ii) the Participant may exercise any portion of the Option until the date that is 12-
months following the Termination Date. (b) If the Participant’ s Termination of Employment is as a result of a Qualifying Termination (as defined below), (i) subject
to the Participant’ s execution and non- revocation of a release of claims, in a form provided by the Company within the time period specified therein, the entire
Option shall be fully vested and exercisable and (ii) the Participant may exercise any portion of the Option until the date that is 90 days following the Termination
Date. (c) If the Participant’ s Termination of Employment is by the Company for Cause, the entire Option, whether or not then vested and exercisable, shall be
immediately forfeited and canceled, for no consideration, as of Termination Date. (d) If the Participant’ s Termination of Employment is for any reason other than as
set forth in Section 4 (a), 4 (b) or 4 (c), the Participant may exercise any portion of the Option that is vested and exercisable as of the Termination Date until the date
that is 90 days following the Termination Date. (¢) Any portion of the Option that is not vested and exercisable at the time of a Termination of Employment (after
taking into account any accelerated vesting under this Section 4, the Grant Notice, Section 16 of the Plan or any other agreement between the Participant and the
Company) shall be forfeited and canceled, for no consideration, as of the Termination Date. (f) As used in this Section 4: (iii) “ Termination Date ” means the date of
the Participant’ s Termination of Employment. 5. Restrictions on Resales of Shares Acquired Pursuant to Option Exercise The Company may impose such
restrictions, conditions or limitations as it determines appropriate as to the timing and manner of any resales by the Participant or other subsequent transfers by the
Participant of any shares of Common Stock issued as a result of the exercise of the Option, including (a) restrictions under an insider trading policy, (b) restrictions
designed to delay and / or coordinate the timing and manner of sales by the Participant and other optionholders and (c) restrictions as to the use of a specified
brokerage firm for such resales or other transfers. 6. Income Taxes The Company shall not deliver shares of Common Stock in respect of the exercise of any Option
unless and until the Participant has made arrangements satisfactory to the Company to satisfy applicable withholding tax obligations. Unless the Participant pays the
withholding tax obligations to the Company by cash or check in connection with the exercise of the Option (including an irrevocable commitment by a broker to pay
over such amount from a sale of the Common Stock issuable under the Option), withholding may be effected, at the Company’ s election, by withholding Common
Stock issuable in connection with the exercise of the Option (provided that shares of Common Stock may be withheld only to the extent that such withholding will not
result in adverse accounting treatment for the Company). The Participant acknowledges that the Company shall have the right to deduct any taxes required to be
withheld by law in connection with the exercise of the Option from any amounts payable by it to the Participant (including future cash wages). 7. Non Transferability
of Option Except as permitted by the Committee or as permitted under Section 17 of the Plan, the Participant may not assign or transfer the Option to anyone other
than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and the Option shall be exercisable only by the Participant during his or her lifetime. The Company may cancel the




Option if the Participant attempts to assign or transfer it in a manner inconsistent with this Section 7. 8. Other Agreements Superseded The Grant Notice, these
Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan constitute the entire understanding between the Participant and the Company regarding the Option. Any prior
agreements, commitments or negotiations concerning the Option are superseded. 9. Limitation of Interest in Shares Subject to Option Neither the Participant
(individually or as a member of a group) nor any beneficiary or other person claiming under or through the Participant shall have any right, title, interest, or privilege
in or to any shares of Common Stock allocated or reserved for the purpose of the Plan or subject to the Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions except
as to such shares of Common Stock, if any, as shall have been issued to such person upon exercise of the Option or any part of it. Nothing in the Plan, in the Grant
Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions or any other instrument executed pursuant to the Plan shall confer upon the Participant any right to continue in the
Company’ s employ or service nor limit in any way the Company’ s right to terminate the Participant’ s employment at any time for any reason. 10 . No Liability of
Company The Company and any affiliate which is in existence or hereafter comes into existence shall not be liable to the Participant or any other person as to: (a) the
non issuance or sale of shares of Common Stock as to which the Company has been unable to obtain from any regulatory body having jurisdiction the authority
deemed by the Company’ s counsel to be necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any shares hereunder ; and (b) any tax consequence expected , 2623-but not
realized, by the Participant or other person due to the receipt, exercise or settlement of any Option granted hereunder. 11. General (a) In the event that any provision
of the Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions is declared to be illegal, invalid or otherwise unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, such
provision shall be reformed, if possible, to the extent necessary to render it legal, valid and enforceable, or otherwise deleted, and the remainder of the Grant Notice
and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall not be affected except to the extent necessary to reform or delete such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision. (b)
The headings preceding the text of the sections hereof are inserted solely for convenience of reference, and shall not constitute a part of the Grant Notice and these
Standard Terms and Conditions, nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect. Words in the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender, and where
appropriate, the plural shall include the singular and the singular shall include the plural. The use herein of the word “ including ” following any general statement,
term or matter shall not be construed to limit such statement, term or matter to the specific items or matters set forth immediately following such word or to similar
items or matters, whether or not non- limiting language (such as “ without limitation ”, “ but not limited to ”, or words of similar import) is used with reference
thereto, but rather shall be deemed to refer to all other items or matters that could reasonably fall within the broadest possible scope of such general statement, term
or matter. References herein to any agreement, instrument (c) The Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall inure to the benefit of and be binding
upon the parties hereto and their respective permitted heirs, beneficiaries, successors and assigns. (d) The Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions
shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflicts of law. (e) In the event of any conflict
between the Grant Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan, the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall control. In the event
of any conflict between the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions, the Grant Notice shall control. (f) All questions arising under the Plan, the Grant
Notice or under these Standard Terms and Conditions shall be decided by the Committee in its total and absolute discretion. 12. CLAWBACK The Option and any
shares of Common Stock issued upon exercise of the Option will be subject to recoupment in accordance with any clawback policy adopted by the Company. No
recovery of compensation under such a clawback policy will be an event giving rise to a right to resign for “ good reason ” or “ constructive termination > (or similar
term) under any agreement with the Company. By accepting the Option, the Participant is agreeing to be bound by any such clawback policy, as in effect or as may be
adopted and / or modified from time to time by the Company in its discretion. 13. Electronic Delivery By executing the Grant Notice, the Participant hereby consents
to the delivery of information (including information required to be delivered to the Participant pursuant to applicable securities laws) regarding the Company and
the Subsidiaries, the Plan, the Option and the Common Stock via Company web site or other electronic delivery. Exhibit 10. 26Annual Grant — Director Form
(BOARD DIRECTOR) Name of Participant: Grant Date: Number of RSUs: Vesting Schedule: Subject to the Plan and the Standard Terms and Conditions, the RSUs
shall vest on the earlier to occur of (i) the first anniversary of the Grant Date or (ii) the Company’ s next annual meeting of stockholders, in each case, so long as the
Participant does not incur a Termination of Employment from the Grant Date through such vesting date. Signature Page to Grant Notice forRestricted Stock Unit
Award (Board Director) Exhibit AStandard Terms and Conditions forRestricted Stock Units (Board Director) death or Disability, all of the Unvested RSUs shall
become Vested RSUs effective as of the date of such Termination of Employment. (d) In the event of a Change in Control, all then Unvested RSUs shall become Vested
RSUs effective as of immediately prior to the consummation of such Change in Control. (¢) Upon the Participant’ s Termination of Employment for any other reason
not set forth in Section 2 (c), any then Unvested RSUs held by the Participant shall be forfeited and canceled, for no consideration as of the date of the Participant’ s
Termination of Employment. (f) The Participant shall not be, nor have any of the rights or privileges of, a stockholder of the Company in respect of any RSUs
(including any voting rights or rights to dividends or distributions paid on shares of Common Stock, except as provided in Section 3 (b)) unless and until shares of
Common Stock settled for such RSUs shall have been issued by the Company to the Participant (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company
or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company). (g) Notwithstanding the foregoing, from and after the Grant Date and until the earlier of (i) the Participant’ s
receipt of Common Stock upon settlement of RSUs and (ii) the time when the Participant’ s right to receive Common Stock upon settlement of RSUs is forfeited, on the
date that the Company pays a cash dividend (if any) to holders of Common Stock generally, the Participant shall be entitled, as a Dividend Equivalent, to a number of
additional whole RSUs determined by dividing (i) the product of (A) the dollar amount of such cash dividend paid per share of Common Stock and (B) the total
number of outstanding RSUs (including dividend equivalents paid thereon) held by the Participant on the record date for such dividend, by (ii) the Fair Market Value
per share of Common Stock on the date such dividend is paid to holders of Common Stock generally. Such Dividend Equivalents (if any) shall be subject to the same
terms and conditions and shall be settled or forfeited in the same manner and at the same time as the RSUs to which the Dividend Equivalents were credited. The
Company may impose such restrictions, conditions or limitations as it determines appropriate as to the timing and manner of any resales by the Participant or other
subsequent transfers by the Participant of any shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to Vested RSUs, including (a) restrictions under an insider trading policy, (b)
restrictions designed to delay and / or coordinate the timing and manner of sales by the Participant and other holders and (c) restrictions as to the use of a specified
brokerage firm for such resales or other transfers. (h) In the event that any provision of the Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions is declared to be
illegal, invalid or otherwise unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be reformed, if possible, to the extent necessary to render it legal,
valid and enforceable, or otherwise deleted, and the remainder of the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall not be affected except to the extent
necessary to reform or delete such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision. (i) The headings preceding the text of the sections hereof are inserted solely for
convenience of reference, and shall not constitute a part of the Grant Notice or these Standard Terms and Conditions, nor shall they affect its meaning, construction
or effect. Words in the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender, and where appropriate, the plural shall include the singular and the singular shall include
the plural. The use herein of the word (j) The Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties
hereto and their respective permitted heirs, beneficiaries, successors and assigns. (k) The Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall be construed
in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflicts of law. (I) In the event of any conflict between the Grant
Notice, these Standard Terms and Conditions and the Plan, the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions shall control. In the event of any conflict
between the Grant Notice and these Standard Terms and Conditions, the Grant Notice shall control. (m) All questions arising under the Plan, the Grant Notice or
under these Standard Terms and Conditions shall be decided by the Committee in its total and absolute discretion. The Restricted Stock Units and any shares of
Common Stock issued pursuant to the Vested RSUs will be subject to recoupment in accordance with any clawback policy adopted by the Company. No recovery of
compensation under such a clawback policy will be an event giving rise to a right to resign for “ good reason ” or “ constructive termination ” (or similar term) under
any agreement with the Company. By accepting the Award, the Participant is agreeing to be bound by any such clawback policy, as in effect or as may be adopted and

/ or modified from time to time by the Company in its discretion. Fxhibit 21. | Subsidiaries of the RegistrantName of Subsidiary State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation
or OrganizationZevia LLC DelawareExhibit 23. 1| CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM We consent to the incorporation by
reference in Registration Statement Ne-Nos . 333- 258175 and 333- 273798 on Form S- 8 of our report dated March +8-6 , 2023-2024 , relating to the consolidated financial

statements of Zevia PBC and its subsidiary appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 . Exhibit 31. | CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a- 14 (a) AND 15d- 14 (a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE

SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 I, Amy E. Taylor, certify that: 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K of ZEVIA PBC; 2. Based on my knowledge, this
report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information
included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report; 4. The registrant’ s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: (a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant , including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared; (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles; (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the

registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’ s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual



report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting; and5. The registrant’ s other certifying
officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’ s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant” s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and (b)
Any 1}‘;111(1, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting. By: /s
Amy E. TaylorName: Amy E. TaylorTitle: President and Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) Date: March 46-6 , 2023Exhibit-2024Exhibit 31. 2 I, Girish
Satya Denise-D-Beekdes-, certify that: By: / s / Girish SatyaName Denise-D-BeeklesName-: Girish SatyaTltleBemse—D—BeeHes?ﬂe Chief Financial Officer (pnnupa
financial officer) Date: March 46-6 , 2023Exhibit-2024Exhibit 32 In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10- K (the *“ Report ) of Zevia PBC (the “ Company ) for the
year ended December 31, 2622-2023 , as filed with the U. S. Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, Amy E. Taylor, as Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, and Girish SatyaBeﬁ-]se—B—Beekle& as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U. S. C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906
of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that, to each officer” s knowledge: (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities I-.xolnmgc
Act of 1934; and (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. / s/ AMY
E. TAYLORName: Amy E. TaylorTitle: President and Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) Date: March +0-6 , 2023-2024 / s / GIRISH SATYAName DENISE
DB-BECKEESName- Girish SatyaTitle Denise-D-—BeeldesTitle- Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer) Date: March +6-6 , 2623A-2024A signed original of this
certification required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the U. S. Securities and Exchange Commission or
its staff upon request. The foregoing certification is being furnished as an exhibit to the Report pursuant to Item 601 (b) (32) of Regulation S- K and Section 1350 of Title 18 of
the United States Code and, accordingly, is not being filed \xilh the U Securities and Exchange Commission as part of the Report and is not to be incorporated by reference
into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (whether made before or after the date of the Report, irrespective of any
general incorporation language contained in such filing). Exhibit 97 ZEVIA PBC CLAWBACK POLICY v3-22-4CoverPage—USD-( dated October 2 $)-$-inMitions12
MonthsEndedDee—3+2022-Mar—6+-, 2023 Junr) I . STATEMENT OF POLICY The Board of Dlrectors (the “ Board ”) of SG—ZQQQBeeﬂmeﬂfinfbiﬁaﬁon{hme—ltemﬂ
Deeumeﬂtiprﬁer-K—Eﬂt&y—Regis&aﬁ%N&me/u ia PI%( -------- fee D 0 0 0

Pertiens-ofthe Reglsffaﬂ%best lnterests 0f the Company and its stockholders to create and malntaln a culture that emphas1zes 1ntegrlty and acconntablhty and that
remforces the Company s pay v d-16
0 A



















ive

{ Incenti

€0

1S

= .
=
=
2
-
=
=]
=
<.
o
=
<
o
=
5
=
=
2]
<
=

des for the recoupment

which provi

is “ Policy ” )

th

(

icy

Clawback Pol













efined below ) $2(4>-$425

T A. Covered Executlves. ThlS Pollcy applles to any “ executlve officer ” of the Company as deﬁned under Rule equy—meeﬂfwe«p}ans—ﬂef—(-mﬂhafes)«ék















Z¥HA-Covered

Restatement 00-pershare-on

ing

. Account

ives ') . B

Execut

ired

y is requ

Q

ing

count

C

a

nl’epefaﬁé)ﬂs—.emé‘

restatement







: dnethave-a-signifieantimpaeton-the (ump.m\ S tummml ~l.|lumms%nﬁugust—292&due to materlal non- compllance w1th any
ﬁnancnal reportmg requlrement under the FASBfederal securltles laws (including any such correction that is material to the previously issued ASH-Ne—2026-financial
statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period) (a  Restatement
”), the Company will recover on a reasonably prompt basis the amount of any Incentive - 86; Debt—Debt-with-Conversion-and-Based Compensation Received by a
Covered Executive during Other—- the Options{Subtopie470-Recovery Period that exceeds the amount that otherwise would have been Received had it been
determined based on the restated financial statements. C. Incentive - 20y-and-Derivatives-and-Hedging—Contracts-Based Compensation. For purposes of this Policy, «
Incentive- Based Compensation ” means any compensation granted, earned, or vested based in Entity-whole or in part on the Company ° s OwnEequity-attainment of a
financial reporting measure that was Received by a person ( Stubtepie-8+5-i) on or after October 2, 2023 and after the person began service as a Covered Executive,




and (ii) who served as a Covered Executive at any time during the performance period for the Incentive - 46)-Based Compensation . Fhis-ASU-reduees-A financial
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www—xbrl-org— or H@Me#—dﬂeleswekeftotal stockholder return, the Committee w1ll determlne the amount based ona reasonable estlmate of the effect of the
accounting restatement on the relevant stock prlce or total stockholder return In all cases, the calculatlon of the excess amount of Incentlve Based Compensatlon to
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02-Diluted-earnings-pershare-$-0-64+-$-0-0+-$-6-02{34The (mnptm\ will malntaln documentatlon of all determinations and actlons taken in complylng w1th thls Pollcy
Any determinations made by the Committee under this Policy shall be final and binding on all affected individuals. F. Method of R p t. The Company may

effect any recovery pursuant to this Policy by requiring payment of such amount (s) to the Company, by set- off, by reducing future compensation, or by such other
means or combination of means has— as revised-basie-the Committee determines to be appropriate. The Company need not recover the excess amount of Incentive-
Based Compensation if and diluted-earnings-pershare-to the extent that the Committee determines that such recovery is impracticable, subject to and in accordance with
any applicable exceptions under the New York Stock Exchange listing rules, and not required under Rule 10D- 1, including if the Committee determines that the
direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered after making a reasonable attempt to recover such
amounts . The Company is authorized to take appropriate steps to implement this Policy with respect to Incentive- Based Comp tion arrang ts with Covered
Executives. III. NO INDEMNIFICATION The Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executives against the loss of any Incentive- Based Compensation recouped
under this Policy, including by paying or reimbursing the Covered Executives for premiums for any insurance policy covering any potential losses. 2 IV.
ADMINISTRATION INTERPRETATION Thls Pollcy is admmlstered hy the Compensation Committee firstseeond;-and-third-quarters-of 2022-to-tnelude-the Board (
lht [~ Commlttee ), subject to ratification by the independent members of the
paet-of this Pollcy immaterial-correetion-was-10 deerease-both-basie
€ v atmo S edHn-the Company” s Ferm-Chief Executive Officer. This Policy is
1ntended to comply w1th and as appllcable to lJe admlnlstered and lnterpreted cons1stent w1th and subject to the exception set forth in, Listing Standard 303A. 14
adopted by the New York Stock Exchange to implement Rule +6-10D - Q-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (collectively, “ Rule 10D- 1 ). The
Comnmittee is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations necessary, appropriate, or advisable for eaeh-ofthc administration of this
Policy consistent with Rule 10D- 1. Subject to ratification by the independent members of the Board with respeetive—-- respect first-to the application of this Policy to
the Company’ s Chief Executive Officer , seeond-any determinations made by the Committee will be made in its sole discretion and are final . conclusive and binding
on all affected individuals and need not be uniform with respect to all Covered Executives. No recovery of compensation under this Policy will be and- an third-quarters
event giving rise to a right to resign for “ good reason ” or be deemed a “ constructive termination ” (or any similar term) as such terms are used in any agreement
between any Covered Executive and the Company. Headings are given to the sections and subsections of this Policy solely as a convenience to facilitate reference and
shall not be deemed in any way material or relevant to the construction or interpretation of this Policy or any provision thereof. Words in the masculine gender shall
include the feminine gender, and where appropriate, the plural shall include the singular and the singular shall include the plural. The use herein of the word *
including ” following any general statement, term or matter shall not be construed to limit such statement, term or matter to the specific items or matters set forth
immediately following such word or to similar items or matters, whether or not non- limiting language (such as “ without limitation ”, “ but not limited to ”, or words
of similar import) is used with reference thereto, but rather shall be deemed to refer to all other items or matters that could reasonably fall within the broadest
possible scope of such general statement, term or matter. References herein to any agreement, instrument or other document means such agreement, instrument or
other document as amended, supplemented and modified from time to time to the extent permitted by the provisions thereof and not prohibited by this Policy. V.
EFFECTIVE DATE This Policy shall be effective as of October 2, 2023 (the" Effective Date') and shall apply to Incentive Compensation that is approved, awarded or
granted to Covered Executives on or after the Effective Date. As of the Effective Date, this Policy shall supersede and replace that certain Zevia PBC Clawback Policy
dated as of October 6, 2022 2 the “ Prior Policy ). Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Policy shall not affect any remedies or rights of recoupment that may
become available to the Company under the Prior Policy with respect to any incentive compensation (or any portion thereof) that (i) was made, granted or Received
prior to the Effective Date and (ii) is not recoverable under this Policy. 3 VI. AMENDMENT Upon the recommendation of the Committee, the Board may amend or
replace this Policy from time to time in its discretion. VII. OTHER RECOUPMENT RIGHTS The Committee intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest
extent of the law. The Committee may require that any employment agreement, equity award agr t, or similar agr t entered into on or after the Effective
Date shall, as a condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder, require a Covered Executive to agree to abide by the terms of this Policy. Any right of recoupment
under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recoupment that may be available to the Company pursuant to the terms of any
other policy, any employment agreement or plan or award terms, and any other legal remedies available to the Company, including disciplinary action up to and
including termination and institution of civil or criminal proceedings; provided that the Company shall not recoup amounts pursuant to such other policy, terms or
remedies to the extent it is recovered pursuant to this Policy. Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and is not in lieu of, any actions imposed by
law enforcement agencies, regulators, or other authorities. Notwithstanding the generality of the foregoing, to the extent that the requirements under the provisions of
Section 304 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 are broader than the provisions in this Policy, the provisions of such law will apply to the Company’ s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer. VIII. IMPRACTICABILITY The Company shall recover Incentive- Based Compensation in accordance with this Policy unless
such recovery would be 1mpractlcable, as determmed by the Commlttee in accordance wnth Rule IOD- . IX. SUCCESSORS This Policy shall be binding }Represents
Wetg ge standin enforceable agamst all Covered Executlves and their







